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May, 1984

The Honourable K. Walter Davidson
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Mr. Speaker:

I have the honour and duty to submit to you my Annual Report in accordance
with section 30(1) of the Ombudsman Act, R.S.B.C. 1979, c¢.306, This Fifth
Annual Report covers the period of January to December 1983.

Respectfully yours,
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Ombudsman
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® This is the fifth occasion for tabling an annual
report in the Legislative Assembly. The report
deals with the activities of the Ombudsman of-
fice during 1983.

My office received 9,534 new complaints in
1983, an increase of nearly 17 percent over those
received in 1982. This is a slow-down in the size
of the annual increase in complaints received: in
1982 complaints had increased by 66 percent
over 1981 (from 4,935in 1981 t08,179in 1982).
With 9,534 new complaints received in 1983
and 1,333 complaints from previous years still
under investigation on January 1, 1983, my of-
fice handled a total volume of 10,867 active
complaintfilesin 1983. Of that total, 9,762 com-
plaints were investigated or otherwise closed in
1983. A few more files were closed in 1983 than
opened, allowing for a reduction in an in-
creasingly onerous backlog of investigations and
open files.

Of the total of 9,762 closed complaint files,
4,606 or 47.2 percent were directed against au-
thorities within my present jurisdiction (Table 3)
and 5,156 or 52.8 percent were outside my pres-
ent jurisdiction (Tables 4 and 5).

In September 1983 British Columbia hosted the
Annual Conference of Canadian Legislative Om-
budsmen in Vancouver. A short report on the
proceedings of the conference can be found in
Part | of this report.

In my 1982 Annual Report | tried to spell out a
“Code of Administrative Justice”, in an effort to
make explicit those principles and values | use in
judging the fairness and justice of official actions.
The Code met with a great deal of interest, some
skepticism but also a lot of support from my
Canadian Ombudsman colleagues and Om-
budsmen in other countries. | would like to know
in greater detail whether officials and Members
of the Legislative Assembly in British Columbia
find it useful for their interactions with my office.
I plan to work further on this statement of princi-
ples in 1984 and include a revised statement in

my Annual Report for 1984. | welcome any com-
ments, in particular critical comments, from any-
one with an interest in administrative fairness
and justice.

My urgent plea for action to eliminate unrea-
sonable delays in Boards of Review hearings
against Workers’ Compensation decisions went
unheeded. Instead of getting better, the situation
has become worse in 1983. (See comments in
Part | — B.2.a).) The new Chairman of the Boards
of Review is unhappy about my comments con-
cerning the Boards of Review. He wants a hearing
from the Legislative Assembly. 1 would support
his request.

| want to express my appreciation for the many
very helpful, courteous and service-oriented of-
ficials | and my staff have encountered last year.
Complainants and my office tend to notice more
frequently the official who is a little less than
perfect on account of the fact that he is unusual.
We find many more officials who go out of their
way to resolve problems. Without the ready help
of those officials we could not cope with the
increased volume of complaints, and my thanks
are due to them.

| have presented in Part V comments from corre-
spondence of complainants about their encoun-
ters with red tape, and their reaction to the serv-
ice provided by the Ombudsman and staff. It is
gratifying to see our hard work and effort recog-
nized by the public we serve. We receive many
more comments by phone and in person. | also
include critical comments if they find their way
into my correspondence.

In 1982 the B.C. Court of Appeal ruled that the
actions of the B.C. Development Corporation are
subject to investigation by the Ombudsman (Spe-
cial Report No. 6). B.C.D.C. and the Attorney
General sought leave to appeal to the Supreme
Court of Canada, and that Court heard argument
on January 30, 1984. Judgment was reserved.

® Adrian Raeside’s cartoons are back by popular

demand.



PART 1

GENERAL
COMMENTS

Every year Canadian Ombudsmen meet to discuss
issues of mutual interest, to exchange information
and to share experience in our common pursuit of
administrative justice. In 1983 I was privileged to
host the conference in Vancouver. Intended as a
national conference of Canadian Ombudsmen, the
event took on an international flavour with the at-
tendance of the Australian Commonwealth Om-
budsman, the Ombudsmen for Jamaica and the
Netherlands, five Ombudsmen from jurisdictions
in the United States and the former Chief Om-
budsman for Sweden. Several former provincial
Ombudsmen were also in attendance to reflect on
their experience in office.

The conference was open to Members of the Legis-
lative Assemblies. Members and staff of the Ontario
Provincial Parliament’s Select Committee on the
Ombudsman and several members of the Alberta
Legislative Assembly’s Committee on Legislative
Offices were present and contributed to the discus-
sion. The Speaker of the British Columbia Legis-
fative Assembly sponsored a lunch for the con-
ference and the Honourable Garde Gardom,
Minister of Intergovernmental Relations, addressed
the delegates on that occasion, bringing greetings
to the conference from the Government of British
Columbia. Mrs. Eileen Dailly, M.L.A., brought
greetings from the Official Opposition. His Wor-
ship, Mayor Michael Harcourt, welcomed the dele-
gates in the name of the City of Vancouver,

The conference spent a great deal of time discussing
the principles of administrative fairness and justice.

Ombudsman legislation in the nine provinces is
very similar, providing a common basis for shared
concepts of administrative justice. In the rest of this
inevitably brief summary | will concentrate on a few
conference subjects that might be of interest to
Members of the Legislative Assembly.

The Need for a Federal Ombudsman

Every year, provincial Ombudsmen receive scores
of complaints about federal administrative deci-
sions. But Canada has not seen fit to establish a
general federal Ombudsman. There are now four
specialist Ombudsmen at the federal level, who, of
course, are regularly part of this conference: the
Commissioner of Official Languages, the Correc-
tional Investigator, the Privacy Commissioner and
since July 1983, the Information Commissioner. In
1977 and 1978 the federal government announced
commitments in the Throne Speech to establish a
federal Ombudsman but the promise has not been
implemented as yet. Provincial Ombudsmen have
repeatedly over the years expressed to the govern-
ment and the parties represented in the House of
Commons their sentiments about the urgent need
for a federal Ombudsman. At the conference sev-
eral speakers presented arguments in favour of hav-
ing a federal Ombudsman.

Arthur Maloney, Q.C., a former Ombudsman for
Ontario, recalled that Canada was one of the most
receptive countries to the Ombudsman idea, yet
had failed at the federal level to be consistent with
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its belief in caring for the citizen. He then pointed
out a few specific areas in which there was a des-
perate need for the scrutiny and ameliorating influ-
ence of an Ombudsman.

Professor Sandra McCallum, of the University of
Victoria Law Faculty, felt it was time to revamp the
arguments in favour of a general federal Om-
budsman for Canada as opposed to setting up more
and more specialist Ombudsmen. Australia had
placed great emphasis on the need for uniformity
and consistency in decision-making, which could
only be assured with one general Ombudsman.

Professor McCallum also felt the time was right for a
federal Ombudsman because the government had
established and proclaimed the freedom of infor-
mation legislation and human rights [egislation, the
report of the Federal Law Reform Commission on
administrative law reform is close at hand, and the
Minister of Justice released a white paper on re-
forms to the Federal Court Act. If you look at the
creation of Ombudsman legislation in the context
of a package for administrative reform, it is now
time for a federal Ombudsman in Canada. She
concluded that Canada can look to Australia for
some useful examples of why a Federal Om-
budsman in Canada would be of great benefit not
only to the federal government but also to the
provinces.

Professor Jack Richardson, the Australian Com-
monwealth Ombudsman, explained the events that
led to the emergence of a dominant Common-
wealth in Australia. At the federal level there has
been an enormous growth of power, with very little
accountability to the public. Because of a decline
in ministerial responsibility, the need for a central
authority to review the actions of federal bu-
reaucrats became apparent, hence the establish-
ment of a Federal Ombudsman in Australia.

Dr. Richardson summarized a number of recent
administrative law reforms at the federal level in
Australia which are not matched in other parts of
the world. He pointed out the similarities between
the functions of the Canadian provincial Om-
budsmen and state Ombudsmen in Australia and
elaborated on the independence of his operation at
the federal level and the excellent cooperation be-
tween federal and state Ombudsmen.

He then explained the Ombudsman Act of Australia
and matched it up with federal powers. The Com-
monwealth Constitution vests in the Australian Par-
liament enumerated legislative powers. A com-
parison of these with the federal powers listed in
Section 91 of the Canadian Constitution would re-
veal common features, i.e., the regulation of trade
and commerce, the power of taxation, the conduct
of the postal service, defence and immigration; and
these are the areas of government about which his
office receives most complaints.
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Dr. Richardson described the operation of his of-
fice. He stated that like Canadian Ombudsmen and
the New Zealand Ombudsman, he can only make
recommendations to government departments and
statutory authorities, and he cannot compel the
acceptance of a recommendation. He is not pre-
pared to accept the rejection of a recommendation
and has to consider the alternative courses available
to him. His first recourse is to go to the Prime
Minister. He advised that if Canada ever has a
federal Ombudsman, there are very great advan-
tages in having the Prime Minister and not some
lesser minister responsible politically for the ad-
ministration of the Ombudsman Act. He has found
that having the support of the Prime Minister makes
government departments think carefully before
they challenge him. The final recourse available to
him is to table a special report in the Common-
wealth Parliament.

Institutions

It has long been my view that the Ombudsman has a
special role to play with respect to residents in
institutions that are managed by the government.
The lives of residents in these institutions are more
directly affected by official policy and procedures
and the personal conduct of officials than any other
segment of the population. Mrs. Rella Foley, the
Ombudsman for King County, Washington,
U.S.A., Dr. Randall Ivany, Ombudsman for Alberta
and Mr. Brent Parfitt, my solicitor, detailed their
experiences in dealing with institutions and the
special role the Ombudsman should play. The
panel suggested that the Ombudsman can play the
role of a “safety valve” to allow residents to vent
their problems before they are manifest in other
ways, e.g. prison riots. For those who cannot ex-
press themselves, the Ombudsman can audit and
inspect the records of residents and facilities in
which they live.

Because the staff in institutions use a ‘hands-on’
approach, they understandably will be concerned
about an outside agency auditing their perfor-
mance. It is important for the Ombudsman and his
staff to explain the role of the office as an impartial
finder of fact and an advocate of natural justice and
administrative fairness. The Ombudsman has to
assure the residents that there will be no retribution
as a result of their complaining to the Ombudsman.
They must be asked to inform the Ombudsman
immediately if they experience retribution.

Ombudsmen and their staff must become very
knowledgeable about the life and functions of these
institutions and the concerns of the residents. What
may appear as a trivial complaint to an outsider
could be a major issue to residents. The type,
quality and quantity of food and clothing generate
many complaints in institutions and should be
viewed seriously by Ombudsmen. Investigators



need to develop special skills so that they can com-
municate with the mentally ill and developmentally
and physically disabled residents in institutions.
Greater vigilance must be exercised by the Om-
budsman on behalf of those confined involuntarily.
It is up to the Ombudsman in large measure to
watch that they are treated humanely and in ac-
cordance with the legislation. The residents have to
know that it is all right for them to complain and
how to complain.

The Ombudsman must be concerned about the
quality of information he receives in investigations.
Staff networks may influence or colour evidence in
support of colleagues.

The Ombudsman must ensure that as much as pos-
sible the institution responds to individual needs.
Investigations of assault should be commenced im-
mediately so that physical evidence does not disap-
pear. The Ombudsman must also watch that the
facility and programs are of an acceptable quality.

Privacy and Open Government

Ombudsmen everywhere must face the difficult
issues raised by competing or conflicting social
values. In a democratic society openness of govern-
ment is essential. At the same time we also feel
strongly about our privacy. Ombudsmen are some-
times called upon to balance these competing val-
ues in individual complaint investigations. Govern-
ments and legislators face the even greater dilemma
of developing general policies and standards for the
protection of both personal privacy and openness in
government. Technological developments in the
communications field have quickly created consid-
erable risks to privacy concerns both in the public
and private sector.

Professor David Flaherty, a privacy expert from the
University of Western Ontario, delivered a thought-
provoking paper to the conference entitled “After
1984: Protecting Privacy in an Information So-
ciety”. He stated that we must recognize that we live
in a world in which spy satellites, intercepted tele-
communications, wiretapping, polygraphs, infor-
mation systems and massive networks of computers
are commonplace. We are only beginning to see
the various effects of a world increasingly depen-
dent upon computers. Learning how to protect
one’s own privacy is already one of the most critical
issues of our emerging information society.

Professor Flaherty asked the delegates to consider
the meaning of the term, privacy. He stated that the
two principal premises of his presentation are that
privacy is not an absolute value — it is in competi-
tion with other individual and collective values in
Canadian society — and, secondly, that an individ-
ual in the late twentieth century can no longer
adequately protect his or her own privacy without

the assistance of regulatory authorities, especially
with respect to the information-handling activities
of the public sector. We are, effectively, in a situa-
tion of increasing concerns about the build-up of
large personal information systems.

Professor Flaherty concluded by stressing the need
in Canada at the provincial level for data protection
laws that incorporate a standard code of fair infor-
mation practices and a small agency to oversee and
monitor implementation.

Judge Lundvik, former Chief Ombudsman of Swe-
den, pointed out that Sweden has a long tradition of
openness in government administration insofar as
the public has, in principle, free access to all of-
ficial documents. With the advent of electronic
information storage, the public on one hand will
run into difficulties when they want access to data
and on the other hand those persons who can use it
will have unlimited access to information which
could be devastating to the privacy of individuals
whose data are stored in government information
banks.

Judge Lundvik then outlined three enactments of
the Swedish Parliament: The Freedom of the Press
Act, The Secrecy Act and the Data Act.

The method of storing information in computers
makes it difficult for the general public to gain
access to that information, thus eroding the princi-
ple of public access to official documents. There is
also the fear that the use of electronic data process-
ing will encroach upon the privacy of the individ-
ual. People resent that authorities should know so
much about them, and that the information is too
readily accessible.

In Sweden, to set up and keep a personal file con-
taining sensitive information, you must have the
permission of the Data Inspection Board. To link
one computer to another with a view of matching
their contents you must have the consent of the
Board. The Board has been very restrictive in its
decisions but its decisions can be appealed to the
Cabinet.

Charter of Rights and Freedoms

Canadian Ombudsmen must become aware of the
effect of the new Charter of Rights and Freedoms
when they examine administrative actions of the
bureaucracy. It has been argued that the Charter
guarantees administrative fairness and natural jus-
tice as a right of all Canadian citizens.

Mr. Gordon Fairweather, Chief Commissioner, Ca-
nadian Human Rights Commission, stressed that
the Charter and its meaning will be what the judges
say it will be. To June 1983 he counted 240 court
cases that have Charter implications.

The principle of interpretation that has been ac-
cepted for the Charter is that the rights preserved in

5



a constitutional document are not to be interpreted
too narrowly. The Charter does not intend the trans-
formation of our legal system or the paralysis of [aw
enforcement, but calls for a generous interpreta-
tion, avoiding what has been called by Mr. Justice
Jules Deschenes of the Quebec Court of Appeal,
“the austerity of tabulated legalism”.

Dr. R.A.H. Robson, President of the B.C. Civil Lib-
erties Association, offered the following sobering
comments with respect to the Charter of Rights and
Freedoms:

“While we are fully in support of an entrenched
Bill we do recognize the severe limitations of its
effect on the ordinary Canadian citizen in pro-
tecting his or her or her and his civil liberties and
human rights. The battle is not won, it's hardly
even enjoined, | would suggest. We have a great
deal further to go than we have accomplished at
the moment and | want to suggest a few reasons
why that’s the case. There’s no doubt, as Gordon
Fairweather suggests, that the courts are going,
in the next half century or so, to make decisions
which are based on the Charter of Rights and
some of those decisions will have some favoura-
ble impact on the life of some Canadian
citizens.

“I would suggest to you that the greatest impact
of the Charter of Rights is an educational one. It’s
not the cases that are decided by the Supreme
Court of Canada so much as it is the education
that that Charter will have on citizens, par-
ticularly young citizens because presumably it
will be dealt with in the school curricula. From
now on people in Canada will come to realize
the importance of civil rights and civil liberties
and human rights much more than they have in
the past.

“It does seem to me though that one difference
that | noticed in the United States was the much
more frequent reference to the Bill of Rights than
one found in Canada and to the content of the
Bill of Rights. It was a matter of public knowl-
edge, it was taught in the schools and most peo-
ple knew the basic outline of the Bill of Rights
and supported those rights. In Canada, . . . it
seems to me that one important change that will
occur in the future over the long, long pull, is that
people in Canada will now realize the impor-
tance of civil liberties, that they will not be seen
to be luxuries in a sense, but basic necessities.
And that hopefully will encourage people, for
example, to work for the protection of their
rights, that they will not meekly accept abridge-
ment of their rights but will more frequently want
to challenge those abridgements and to secure
some kind of remedy. | suggest then that the
immediate impact of the Charter of Rights on
Ombudsmen and on citizens generally is going
to be very minimal, is going to be very, very

patchy, and that it’s only the long-term effects of
the education that will result from the Charter
that will really have any significant con-
sequences for most Canadians.

“One other limitation | want to point
to . . . and that is, there are still enormous
groups of people who in spite of all of the fabric
and machinery we have constructed to protect
people’s rights are largely unprotected. Con-
sider, for example, prison inmates, consider the
very poor, consider the native Indian, consider
people whose first language is not English or
French, consider the uneducated. Most of these
groups of people whose rights are abridged, and
they tend to be, of course, the groups most sus-
ceptible to invasions of civil liberties and human
rights, do not know often that they have rights
that have been abridged. They do not know what
remedies are available to them. Often if they do
know the remedy they haven’t the resources,
either intellectual or financial, to take advantage
of the remedies that are available. Even if they
have all of that they are most frequently afraid of
retaliation from those against whom they lay
complaints. Itis precisely those classes of people
who do not have access to Ombudsmen, to civil
liberties associations, like ours, and to other
community groups which may be available to
protect their rights. And it is precisely those
groups which need protection and need our help
and there is very little in the Charter that will help
them protect them from abridgements of their
civil liberties and human rights. | think, there-
fore, that while there are possible advances in
the distant future through the Charter of Rights
and the judicial system, that that leaves an enor-
mous area of work to be done by Ombudsmen
and by community organizations like ours.”

When Ombudsmen Receive Allegations of
Criminality

This topic was dealt with in camera because of the
confidentiality of some of the information shared
between the offices. It is not unusual for complai-
nants to state that they suspect criminal wrongdoing
in the course of making a complaint to an Om-
budsman. In those instances, complainants are re-
ferred to the Police or Crown Counsel. If matters of
administration are raised in addition, Ombudsmen
reserve the right to investigate those concerns after
the criminal investigation has concluded. However,
in some instances, the issue of criminality only
raises its head after an investigation has been com-
menced, and in a few cases it might appear that a
complainant is in some way implicated. This puts
the Ombudsman office in a difficult legal predica-
ment. Ombudsmen advise complainants (after ob-
taining their own legal advice), to discuss the matter
with the Police or Crown Counsel. Otherwise it



would be incumbent on Ombudsmen to refer the
matter to the Criminal Division of the Attorney
General’s Ministry. However, the legislation under
which Ombudsmen act protects the confidentiality
of information given to Ombudsmen even if the
courts may wish to have access. It is debatable
whether the confidentiality protection in Om-
budsman legislation is strong enough to prevent a
criminal court from gaining access to information
that, in all other circumstances, would be consid-
ered confidential. It was this issue that was the focus
of the panel discussion.

A representative of the Criminal Justice Division of
the British Columbia Ministry of Attorney General,
aregional Crown Counsel, aformer Superintendent
of the R.C.M.P. and my solicitor addressed the
conference on the topic. It is clear that in areas of
federal legislation (e.g. criminal law) the con-
fidentiality protection afforded by Ombudsman
legislation may not be adequate. Ombudsmen can
react in two ways: (1) advise the complainant that
the confidentiality provisions under the Om-
budsman Act are limited and (2) attempt, with the
consent of the provincial government, to secure the
necessary protections from the federal government
and Parliament for information given to Om-
budsmen in confidence.

Police Complaints

The complaints procedure under the Police Act of
British Columbia continues to be a source of con-
cern for me. | have reported in my 1981 Annual
Report (pp. 17-18) some of my concerns.

| was gratified to learn, some time ago, of a suc-
cessful experiment in Toronto that set up a police
complaint and investigation mechanism second to
none. | invited Sidney Linden, Esq., the Public
Complaints Commissioner for Metropolitan
Toronto, to explain to the conference how the sys-
tem works, its problems and advantages. Mr.
Linden presented the topic and Mr. Malcolm Math-
eson, Chairman of the B.C. Police Commission,
responded.

Mr. Linden referred to the preamble to the legisla-
tion which established a new and experimental
police complaints system for Metropolitan Toronto
which reads as follows:

“An Act for the establishment and conduct of a
project in the Municipality of Metropolitan
Toronto to improve methods of processing com-
plaints by members of the public against police
officers on the Metropolitan Police Force”.

The project, which is confined to Metropolitan
Toronto, commenced on December 21, 1981 and
continues until December 20, 1984. At that time a
report evaluating the effectiveness of the system
during the three years of its operation will be pre-

pared and submitted to the Provincial Parliament
for evaluation.

Mr. Linden stated that his office is in many ways a
model for others and introduces some rather dra-
matic innovations with respect to civilian review of
policing. He then outlined how his office operates.
Dr. Matheson, responding to Mr. Linden’s address,
made this comment:

"

. . ldidn’t want to leave without saying that
I'm very impressed indeed with the experiment
in Toronto and | can see, Mr. Linden, that we're
going to be watching it very carefully here in
B.C. and hope to learn a great deal from your
experiences . . . “.

How the Ombudsman and the Legislature Relate to
Each Other
In all provinces the Ombudsman is an officer of the
Legislative Assembly, reports to the Assembly an-
nually and is generally accountable to the Assem-
bly for his stewardship of the Ombudsman office.
Successive Ombudsman conferences have grap-
pled with the issue of the proper relationship be-
tween the Ombudsman and the Legislative Assem-
bly. The presence of M.L.A.s from Alberta and
Ontario offered the chance for a fruitful dialogue.
Dr. Robert Elliot, M.L.A., Chairman of the Select
Committee on Legislative Offices of the Alberta
Legislature, offered, among others, the following
comments:
“The Committee, among its various functions,
annually reviews the budgetary estimates, and
the reports issued by the Ombudsman and re-
views the salary paid to the Ombudsman. All of
the reports are tabled in the Assembly by the
Chairman of the Committee. Should questions
later be raised in the Assembly about any of these
matters, the Chairman of the Select Committee is
therefore in a position to advise the elected
members. In addition to the Chairman, our Se-
lect Standing Committee in Alberta is made up of
eight members, six from the government side
and two from the opposition.

“It's the opinion that the existence of this Com-
mittee and its make-up and the present form in
which it conducts its activities greatly enhance
the understanding and the positive relationship
between the Ombudsman’s office and the elec-
ted Members in Alberta. The Ombudsman’s
position on the topic is that the relationship be-
tween the elected Members and the Om-
budsman has resulted in the office of Om-
budsman for Alberta being able to provide much
more redress to citizens than would be the case if
there were an adversarial relationship. As far as
dealing with investigations of complaints, it is
understood that our Ombudsman will receive
any complaints which come his way. It is also
understood that he will turn overto the M.L.A. in
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the constituency those that properly belong with
the M.L.A. Our Ombudsman receives many
complaints through referrals from M.L.A.s and
indeed Ministers. | feel that we have a fairly
healthy respect for each other and in short | can
say that the cooperation exists primarily because
the Ombudsman and the elected Members have
a respect for the role of each in ensuring the
protection of the citizen.”

Mr. R.W. Runciman, M.P.P., Chairman, Ontario
Select Committee on the Ombudsman stated:

“To me the Ombudsman’s position as Officer of
the Assembly has three elements: first the Om-
budsman works on behalf of the Assembly doing
things that individual members cannot do them-
selves and doing them in ways prescribed by the
Legislature.

“The second consequence of the Ombudsman’s
position as servant of the Legislature is that the
frequently repeated assurances the Ombudsman
is responsible to or accountable to the Legis-
lature must mean something. And unless some
mechanism exists such as our Select Committee,
the Ombudsman’s accountability to the elected
Members can be little more than a meaningless
platitude. If you truly believe that you work on
behalf of the Legislature, which | think you
should, then there must be some method of re-
ceiving, discussing and answering Members’
criticism and advice.

“To me the Select Committee must serve as a
communication link between the Ombudsman
and the Legislature. The Legislature has created
the Ombudsman and expects him to do a job and
must assist in whatever way it can. In part this is
rendered by having an all-party Committee au-
thorize the Ombudsman’s budget rather than
leaving it to the government. Principally,
however, it means having some method of fol-
lowing through on those cases on which the
Ombudsman has seen fit to report to the House
and on which the government refused to accept
the Ombudsman’s recommendation. Once the
Ombudsman has taken the case as far as he can
and reported to the Legislature, the Legislature
must not permit it to end at that point. | think it
would be enormously frustrating for an Om-
budsman to see his report tabled in the House
knowing that the unresolved cases contained in
it and the recommendations would sink from
public sight within days with no hope of action
by the Legislature other than perhaps the oppor-
tunity for questions from the opposition. Again,
the only practical vehicle for the Legislature to
pursue the recommendations denied cases is the
Legislative Committee.

“We examine, not re-investigate, the Om-
budsman’s recommendation denied cases care-
fully taking evidence from both the Ombudsman

and the government and evaluate each on its
merits. During both majority and minority gov-
ernments the great proportion of the Commit-
tee’s recommendations have supported the Om-
budsman’s position against the government.
We're not always successful in convincing the
government of our views but | have absolutely no
doubt that the weight of the Select Committee
both in the cases of reviews and in the govern-
ment’s participation of it reviewing a case has
added very substantially to the effectiveness of
the Ombudsman. The corollary of the Om-
budsman’s genuine accountability to the Legis-
lature through the Committee seems to me to be
the Legislature’s active support of the Om-
budsman in his recommendations through the
Committee. So my basic message is that Mem-
bers of the Legislature and the Ombudsman can
and should be alties and sources of mutual sup-
port. And | don’t want to pretend for a moment
that there’s not going to be frictions and some-
times rather significant frictions, but as long as
we all recognize our responsibility to the public
through the fight against injustice we can profit
from a closer relationship.”

Other Topics

The conference dealt with several other subjects. A
short glance at the titles will have to suffice. A more
detailed record of the conference proceedings is
being prepared and will be available later in 1984.

The recently appointed Information Commissioner
of Canada, Inger Hansen, explained her new role
under the federal Access to Information Act.

Dr. Laura Nader of the University of California,
Berkeley, discussed the importance a society must
attach to correcting “little injustices”.

Professor Kenneth Wiltshire, Australia, offered
some international comparisons on the subject of
the Ombudsman’s independence from the
executive.

Professor Larry Hill, University of Oklahoma, Pro-
fessor Sandra McCallum, University of Victoria,
and Professor Patrick Smith, Simon Fraser Univer-
sity, offered comments on the political and legal
significance of the policy-administration
dichotomy.

Keith Spicer, columnist and former Commissioner
of Official Languages, as well as Professor Wiltshire
played the role of critics of Ombudsmen in a panel
discussion entitled “Watching the Watchdogs”.

M. Joseph Berube, the New Brunswick Om-
budsman, offered his thoughts on “The Appropri-
ateness of Remedies Proposed for Injustices ldenti-
fied by Ombudsmen”.



Linda Bohnen, Director of Investigations in the On- panel concerned itself with the standard of proof
tario Ombudsman office, examined the Om- appropriate for Ombudsmen and other civil
bydsman’s role in relation to quasi-judicial investigations.

tribunals.

Professor Hill used the Hawaii Ombudsman to take Last but not least, Jack Webster entertained the
a close look at how agencies implement Om- conference over lunch with his own explanation of
budsman-initiated administrative reforms. And one B.C. politics.

The present report for the year 1983 covers the vestigations. There is just | me for each com-
fourth full year of operation of the Ombudsman plainant. My staff and | try to do the best we can
institution in British Columbia. It was a very difficult under extremely trying circumstances and hope
year for my office in that we faced a high and still that these measures will not discredit this office in
increasing load of complaints while the govern- the eyes of complainants and the public.

ment imposed staff and budget cuts on my office. |

had no choice but to cut service to the public. The In times of restraint complaints increase. There is a
government’s funding priorities with respect to this greater need for the service provided by my office,
office inevitably led to greater superficiality in in- not a decreased need. Government officials make
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In another case (CS 82-194) | questioned 1.C.B.C.s
respect for the rights of children. Along with the
circular, 1.C.B.C. provided copies of internal Cor-
poration bulletins providing information on proper
procedures for interviewing minors, and giving in-
structions to private investigators regarding the
Credit Reporting Act.

| believe that I.C.B.C.s response to the problems |
identified shows the Corporation’s concern for
dealing fairly with the public. The information cir-
culated by I.C.B.C. should prevent the recurrence
of such problems. Both cases referred to above are
on page 123 of my 1982 Annual Report.

d) Litigation

In my 1982 Annual Report | stated that the Om-
budsman Act of British Columbia will be the first
Ombudsman statute to be tested in the Supreme
Court of Canada. The complaint that gave rise to
this case concerned the conduct of the British Co-
lumbia Development Corporation in refusing to re-
new a lease to King Neptune Restaurant in New
Westminster.

The Corporation successfully argued in the Su-
preme Court of British Columbia that the complaint
involved a business decision and did not relate to “a
matter of administration “ and that | did not have
jurisdiction to investigate.

The British Columbia Court of Appeal overturned
the Supreme Court ruling and accepted my argu-
ment that “a matter of administration” referred to
any act of the executive branch of government,
whether or not it involved a business decision. The
Court of Appeal judgment was placed before the
Assembly in my Special Report No. 6.

The Corporation obtained leave in September 1982
to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada. The
Attorney General of British Columbia intervened at
that stage of the proceedings, supporting the Corpo-
ration’s position that an appeal be allowed. In addi-
tion the Ombudsmen of Ontario, Quebec and
Saskatchewan, were granted permission by the
Court to intervene in the case.

Arguments were heard on January 30, 1984 and
judgment was reserved. | anxiously await the deci-
sion of the Supreme Court of Canada, as do the
other provinces and countries which have similar
provisions in their Ombudsman legislation. | will
report the outcome of the case to the Legislative
Assembly.

2. CONTINUING PROBLEMS

a) The Boards of Review

The Boards of Review hear appeals against deci-
sions made by officers of the Workers’ Compensa-

tion Board affecting injured workers. The Boards of
Review are independent of the Workers’ Compen-
sation Board. Each of these appeal tribunals con-
sists of a chairman, usually a lawyer, a represen-
tative of management and a representative of
labour. In my 1982 Annual Report (on pages 20-22)
| highlighted the Boards of Review as an area of
bureaucracy clearly in distress, dismally bogged
down in delay that had direct repercussions on the
well-being of many persons forced to go the appeal
route. At that time | was dismayed about the perfor-
mance of the Boards of Review. A year later dismay
has turned to despair.

The problem of delay at the Boards of Review re-
mains entrenched. And the trench gets deeper and
longer by the day. A year ago | reported with disap-
proval that a claimant could expect to wait up to 12
months for his appeal to be heard. Now the waiting
time is 15 months or longer. Further delay occurs
between the time the hearing has finally taken place
and the time the Board of Review gives its decision.
| have had complaints that this latter step has taken
an additional year after hearing of the appeal by the
Boards of Review. The following case is but one
example.

Excessive Delay

A worker’s lawyer contacted me on behalf of her
client. She complained that since a hearing be-
fore the Boards of Review 11 months earlier, no
decision had been made on her client’s appeal.

She had sent numerous letters to the Boards of
Review, asking for a decision. The only answer
she had received was a letter five months earlier,
advising her that the Boards of Review would try
to reach a decision as soon as possible.

When we inquired, The Boards of Review ad-
vised my investigator that a decision would be
sent out by the end of the month. This commit-
ment was not kept. My investigator contacted the
Boards of Review again and was advised that the
Panel would try to send the decision out to the
complainant that week. Eight days later, my
complainant had still not been informed of the
decision.

| advised the Administrative Chairman of my
preliminary findings that there had been unrea-
sonable delay by the Boards of Review in dealing
with the worker’s appeal. | also provided him
with my tentative recommendation that the
Boards of Review make an immediate decision
on the appeal and apologize to the worker for the
delay, as well as for the fact that a Board mem-
ber’s personal assurances had not been
honoured.

The Administrative Chairman replied that a deci-
sion had now been rendered. He apologized to
the claimant on behalf of the Boards of Review

11



for the failure of a staff member to keep the
promise of an early decision, as well as for the
delay in responding to the claimant’s
correspondence.

The government appointed a new Administrative
Chairman of the Boards of Review in 1983. For the
first six months of his time in office, the new Chair-
man declined to meet with me. This was most
unfortunate since we both ought to share an interest
in eliminating the delays in the appeal system. Shar-
ing our thoughts on the administration of the Boards
of Review, | feel, could lead to improvements in
service to appellants.

Finally, in March 1984, the Administrative Chair-
man indicated that he was prepared to meet with
me. Any hopeful anticipation | entertained was,
however, short-lived, as itquickly became apparent
that it was not over the issue of delay that he pro-
posed to meet. The issue that concerned him was
whether or not the Ombudsman had authority to
investigate complaints against the Boards of
Review.

| first became aware of this objection when | real-
ized that any recommendation | made concerning
the Boards of Review remained completely ineffec-
tive because of the position taken by the new Ad-
ministrative Chairman. Initially, the Administrative
Chairman claimed that the Boards of Review can-
not reconsider a decision, unless directed to do so
by the Commissioners of the Workers’ Compensa-
tion Board in specific cases.

Apart from this one exception he contended that
Boards of Review decisions are final and cannot be
open to reconsideration. He took the position that
there is nothing in the Workers Compensation Act
which would permit the Boards of Review to recon-
sider a decision made.

| maintain that the Workers Compensation Act
clearly gives the Workers’ Compensation Board it-
self the power and exclusive jurisdiction to interpret
the Act; and in a decision made in 1974, the Board
determined that the Boards of Review could indeed
reconsider a decision. Specifically the Board
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“Where an application for reopening of a claim
questions the validity of a previous decision, the
application must be referred to the level of ad-
judication of the decision being questioned . . .
where the application questions a previous deci-
sion of an old Board of Review, or of a new Board
of Review, it will be referred to the new Boards of
Review.”

While | can appreciate that finality is desirable in
decision-making, the need for substantive justice is
much more important. If the wrong decision has
adversely affected a worker’s well being, that deci-
sion must be addressed and the most efficient level
at which to do so is where the decision was orig-
inally made. | pointed out to the Administrative
Chairman:

In a two-tiered system of appeals, the last body
which made a decision should be the one to
reconsider new evidence. Since it is already
familar with the case, it is able to deal with the
new evidence expeditiously. If it changes its de-
cision, a further appeal is unnecessary and the
inconvenience in delay entailed in it is
minimized.

| have now learned that the present Commissioners
of the Board support the Administrative Chairman
in his views. | believe it may be wrong in law; it
certainly cannot be accepted as just. Not only does
it prevent reconsideration at the proper stage,
namely by the Boards of Review, it seriously impairs
the statutory mandate assigned to the Ombudsman
by legislation. | will be studying this position
further.

More recently the Administrative Chairman of the
Boards of Review has broadened the attack on my
authority by claiming to exercise a judicial function
which is outside the boundary of any administrative
review | might perform. In my opinion there are
court decisions which clearly support my authority
to investigate the Boards of Review. Acceptance of
the position of the Administrative Chairman would
remove from me the ability to comment on any
action of the Boards of Review, including such
purely procedural issues as unreasonable delay.
This is a challenge that goes right to the heart of the
authority granted to the Ombudsman by the Legis-
lative Assembly of the Province. It is a challenge |
must address if | am to deal meaningfully with the
complaints the public brings to me about decisions
made by the Boards of Review.

It had occurred to me that perhaps part of the
difficulty in having my recommendations accepted
might have been caused by the Boards of Review
not having enough staff to cope with the demands
placed upon this appeal body. It might be just a hint
of desperation which caused the Administrative
Chairman to write to me in response to a recom-
mendation | had made: “Your office completely

fails to recognize the extent of the workload that the
Chairman and Members of the boards of review
face. . .youaskustodothings which are impossi-
ble” | do not usually accept a lack of staff as justi-
fication for administrative peccadilloes but | may
have to make some concession to the Admin-
istrative Chairman on this score. Simple arithmetic
underlines the desperateness of his situation. When
one considers that six review panels are forced to
deal with up to 400 new appeals each month, one
can understand some of the exasperation at being
asked to eliminate delay. | would hope the govern-
ment would listen to his lament. Surely the answer
is to eliminate the delay and not to silence those
who must point out the unfairness and tragedy of
the delay.

| understand that changes are being considered in
the structure and operation of the Boards of Review.
Such changes, if they come to pass, may be effec-
tive in dealing with the formidable backlog which
now taxes the resources of the Boards of Review.
Last year | pointed out, however, that there were
steps the government and the Boards of Review
could take immediately to alleviate at least a por-
tion of this burden.

The fate of workers is at stake. They are often at the
end of their resources and face the prospect of
losing home, family stability, and self-respect. The
situation for many is desperate.

The steps | indicated last year could and should be
taken immediately. With the concurrence of the
appellants, some of the less serious cases could be
assigned to one-person panels. This could require a
change in legislation. Other measures, such as per-
mitting any member of a panel, not just the Chair-
man, to write the decision, would require no legis-
lative change. | also suggested that the Boards of
Review be allowed to engage retired members of
the Boards of Review to fill temporary vacancies
caused by illness and vacation of the present mem-
bers. This would allow all of the panels to function
full time.

A number of the changes | proposed have also been
suggested by other concerned individuals and or-
ganizations. Some proposals for change were con-
tained in a management consultant’s report pre-
pared for the Boards of Review in June 1981. |
appealed to the Minister of Labour in my 1981
Annual Report to bring about changes to alleviate
the problem. In my 1982 Annual Report | renewed
the challenge in more urgent terms asking the new
Minister of Labour to take immediate steps to allevi-
ate the stress caused by the appeal backlog. Again
the challenge went unheeded. None of the pro-
posed steps were implemented.

The Administrative Chairman of the Boards of Re-
view has taken the position that delays in the Boards
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... 'the Minister, in declining to appoint a board
of inquiry, [was] exercising administrative func-
tions . . . the Minister . . . was exercising an
administrative function in acting on the report or
any other information received.

“While | recognize that the Ontario Code is not
identical to that of British Columbia, the role of
the Minister in both cases is clearly comparable.

“2, The Duty to Act Fairly in Arriving at Your
Decision

“A central aspect of my mandate as Ombudsman
is to promote the concept that administrative
decisions made in the name of the province must
be arrived at fairly. It appears desirable and com-
pelling to me that you act fairly in deciding on
Boards of Inquiry and that you be clearly seen to
be acting fairly.

“In Judicial Review of Administrative Action, de
Smith comments:

‘That the donee of power must ‘act fairly’ is a
long-settled principle governing the exercise of
discretion, though its meaning is inevitably im-
precise. Since 1967, the concept of a duty to act
fairly has often been used by judges to denote an
implied procedural obligation. In general, it
means a duty to observe the rudiments of natural
justice for a limited purpose in the exercise of
functions that are not analytically judicial but
administrative’,

“This approach has been applied by the courts in
various instances. A case on point is the recent
Supreme Court of Canada decision that stands
for the proposition that when a Minister is exer-
cising an administrative power, he must act fairly
(Minister of Manpower and Immigration v. Hard-
ayal [1978] 1 SCR 470).

“3. Fairness Requires That Reasons be Provided

“| realize that the Human Rights Code does not
explicitly require you to provide reasons.
However, | do not consider this an acceptable
explanation for failing to provide reasons. Ex-
plicitly reasoned decisions can prove beneficial
to the complainant, the general public and the
decision-maker.

“As Evans and Janish point out in their Admin-
istrative Law text, for the complainant an expla-
nation of the reasons behind a decision may
satisfy him or her that the case was given the
serious consideration it deserved. Reasons can
serve to satisfy those adversely affected that the
decision was not made arbitrarily and that the
relevant points that may support a contrary view
have not been ignored. Further, the individual
who seeks a judicial review of the decision may
be unable to exercise this right effectively with-

out knowing the grounds upon which the orig-
inal decision rested. Reasons may persuade the
court that the decision was justified in the light of
the true nature of the problems with which you
were dealing. Alternatively, of course, the court
may infer from the reasons that you had in some
important way misunderstood the statutory man-
date, or that the evidential basis for a finding of
fact was quite inadequate.

“I might add also that a complainant may ask me
as Ombudsman to investigate your decision. If |
have your full reasons stated in your decision
letter before me | might be able to decide on the
merits of the complaint immediately without fur-
ther investigation. Such further investigation
could become a time-consuming operation.

“From the public perspective, failure to provide
reasons leaves you open to complaints of ar-
bitrariness, bias and/or political pressures. On
the other hand, providing reasons could en-
hance public acceptance of such decisions. As
Reid and Davis said in Administrative Law and
Practice:

‘The keystone . . . is the neutrality of the judge.
Should even the appearance of it be lost the
usefulness of the court is at an end and the
structure collapses. In a celebrated, if over-
worked, phrase, ‘Justice should not only be
done, but should manifestly and undoubtedly be
seen to be done’. This overriding need for neu-
trality, in appearance as well as in fact dictates a
standard requiring freedom from even the ap-
pearance of bias. Nothing less will do.

“1 find that the public generally has an.interest in
knowing that the powers conferred on public
officials are being exercised in accordance with
the objectives for which these powers were cre-
ated. Knowledge of the rationale used by an
agency/person in arriving at a decision is a prere-
quisite to informed public opinion. Therefore, it
seems to me that the need for secrecy must be
strong and well-articulated before it can override
the public interest in disclosure.

“For you, the process of explaining to others the
bases for your decisions can serve to focus the
issues clearly. Also, the existence on file of ear-
lier reasoned decisions is likely to assist in deci-
sion-making, both for yourself and for future
Ministers, by providing a basis for the develop-
ment of useful criteria and policies that promote
consistency. . . "

In closing | would like to mention another aspect of
this problem which | have not yet investigated.
When a citizen makes a written complaint about a
municipal police officer, the commanding officer is
required under the Police Actto “promptly” investi-
gate the complaint and inform the complainant of
the “results of the investigation.” Following the in-



vestigation, citizens are sent “Form 9,” which is
entitled “COMPLAINTS AGAINST POLICE, NOTI-
FICATION OF RESULTS OF INVESTIGATION. In
most cases, many of the words on the form are
crossed out and the following sentence stands out: “
. . this matter was fully investigated, and a deci-
sion was made to take no further action having
regard to all the circumstances of the case.”

Not only do | doubt whether Form 9 complies with
the statutory requirement that the citizen be in-
formed of the results of the investigation, but the
form most certainly does not provide the com-
manding officer’s reasons for not taking further ac-
tion. If there are valid reasons for a decision, there
is no justification for not explaining those reasons;
decisions which cannot be explained perhaps
ought not to be made in the first place. Form 9 is
both patronizing and insulting, and certainly does
not comply with the requirements of procedural
fairness.

¢) The Child Abuse Registry

Of all the complaints | receive, those involving the
abuse and neglect of children are the most tragic. In
particular, sexual abuse by a parent can leave a
child emotionally damaged for life. | am greatly
concerned that the Ministry of Human Resources,
as the agency primarily responsible for the protec-
tion of children, should take more effective action
to bring this enormously serious problem under
control.

In my 1981 Annual Report (pages 7-8) | first re-
ported on the complaints | had received from par-
ents about the Central Registry of Protection Re-
ports. These parents thought it was unreasonable
for the Ministry to retain their names on the Regis-
try, particularly when the Ministry had investigated
an allegation of child abuse and had determined
that the allegation was unfounded.

The Registry was a central listing of child abuse
allegations, investigative reports, and abusers’
names. This information was cross-referenced with
the children’s and parents’ names.

During my investigation, | found several major
problems with the administration of the Registry. To
recapitulate, these problems were:

a. Information stored on the Registry was often
incomplete. It was also not clear who had access
to the sensitive and confidential information.

b. Some social workers had difficulty classifying
child abuse investigations because the catego-
ries were not adequately defined. This led to
inconsistencies in classifying the investigative
reports about allegations as “substantiated,”
“unsubstantiated with reservations,” and
“unfounded”.

c. Some social workers forwarded to the Registry
information only on the more serious child
abuse complaints. It became clear that the inter-
pretation of administrative procedures varied
among the Ministry’s district offices.

d. There was no administrative procedure to re-
move from the Registry parents’ names, even
after an allegation of child abuse was proven
unfounded. Parents’ names were retained on
the Registry indefinitely, and parents often were
not aware that their names were registered.

After a lengthy investigation, | brought my concerns
about these problems to the Ministry’s attention.
The Deputy Minister agreed to appoint a committee
of administrative and field staff to review the admin-
istrative procedures associated with the Registry.

In January 1983, the Ministry established a new set
of policies and procedures for the Registry. The
Ministry had redefined its categories for classifying
investigations. The definitions were clearer and the
labels were different: “substantiated,” “uncorrobo-
rated,” and “unfounded.”

Social workers were expected to register any inves-
tigation report classified as “uncorroborated” or
“substantiated.” A review mechanism allowed par-
ents/alleged abusers to appeal the Ministry’s classi-
fication of the investigation report. But this review
was only for complaints classified as “uncorrobo-
rated”. The Ministry also introduced a mechanism
which would automatically bring up for review
reports registered as “uncorroborated” after three
years. If the Ministry had not received any further
abuse allegations about the family, the information
on the Registry could be expunged. Likewise, on a
local district level, reports classified as “un-
founded” could be destroyed after two years.

At the time, | did not think the Ministry had done as
good a job as it could in restructuring the Registry’s
policies and procedures (see my 1982 Annual Re-
port, page 14). Moreover, the final policies and
procedures differed significantly from those in the
draft, which | had felt was acceptable. | added to
my list of concerns the following:

a. There was no appeal of investigation reports
classified as “substantiated.”

b. The letter from the Ministry to parents notifying
them that their name was on the Registry did not
give clear information about the Ministry’s ap-
peal procedure.

c. The Ministry needed to add the word “imme-
diately” to its procedures when social workers
were to notify the police of allegation of sexual
abuse or incidents of serious physical abuse. In
the past a delay in reporting this information had
impeded criminal investigations.
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In March 1983, the Ministry went back to the draw-
ing board.

In June 1983 the Deputy Minister notified me that
he was considering a different direction in the cen-
tral recording of protection concerns. In January
1984 | received a final draft of the Ministry’s new
Registry procedures.

The Ministry now proposes to change the Registry
to a Central Index. The difference is that the Central
Index will no longer store information about abuse
allegations, investigation reports or other miscel-
laneous information the Ministry receives regard-
ing child abuse allegations. The Ministry also plans
to index only the abused child’s and parents’
names, along with a note listing the specific district
office which has the file on each case.

A social worker calling the Central Index for infor-
mation about a particular family will learn only that
another district office has a file on the case in ques-
tion. Any further information will have to come
from that district office. The index will no longer
register the names of persons who are alleged to
have abused a child, except when that person is
also the child’s parent.

Investigative reports will no longer be classified. In
the Ministry’s view classifications appeared to
cause problems with parents, often raising more
problems than they resolved. Classifications also
appeared to cause problems for social workers.
Some social workers would substantiate an abuse
allegation if the incident took place. Others would
consider whether the incident took place in the
larger context of an abusive family, before attaching
the label “substantiated.” By eliminating classifica-
tions, the Ministry hopes to avoid these
inconsistencies.

In comparing the concerns | had about the Registry
in 1980, to the concerns | have now, | see that the
Ministry has made the following changes:

a. The information stored on the Central Index will
be simple.

b. Social workers will no longer have to classify
child abuse.

c. Once they have received an allegation of child
abuse, social workers must now refer to the
Index to determine whether the family has an-
other file in another district office. They must
also register with the Central Index a child’s and
the parents’ names, after they have investigated
the allegation and determined that the family
needs a service to protect the child from further
abuse or neglect. When they open a file for the
family, the names will be registered.

d. Because the Ministry no longer classifies abuse
allegations, it feels alleged abusers are no longer
entitled to a review mechanism.

18

e. The letter to parents clearly states what action
the Ministry has taken, why it has taken the
actions, and what information will be entered
into the Central Index. If parents have questions,
they are asked to contact their district office.

f.  Social workers must now “immediately” report
to the police any allegation of sexual abuse or
incident of serious physical abuse.

With these changes, the Ministry will have ad-
dressed my specific concerns about administrative
fairness. Parents will now be better informed about
what is happening as a result of a child abuse
allegation. My one remaining concern is that the
Central Index, as proposed, will not include the
names of all alleged abusers. While registering the
child’s parents’ names will solve this problem in
those cases in which the parents are the alleged
abusers, there are many children abused by per-
sons who are not a parent, but are closely associ-
ated with the family. If such a person may continue
to be associated with the child, | think his or her
name should also be recorded.

The decision not to record the names of all persons
alleged to have abused a child is a matter of social
policy, and not one of administrative fairness. For
that reason, | must accept whatever decision the
Ministry chooses to make. | have, however, re-
cently written to the Deputy Minister and urged him
to consult with both public and private agencies
directly or indirectly involved in the protection of
children before substantial changes are made to the
Registry. | hope that such discussions would assist
the Ministry in developing better mechanisms to
protect our children from abuse.

d) Third-Party Problems

In normal circumstances a complaint investigation
is a relatively simple matter. The complainant is
either right or wrong, and if he is right a suitable
recommendation will restore the balance of justice.
| receive, however, an increasing number of com-
plaints which are complicated by the fact that per-
sons other than the official and the complainant are
affected by my findings and recommendations.

Repercussions from my investigation of a complaint
may not be limited to the authority whose action or
decision the complainant challenges. Often what
the complainant wants will have adverse effects on
someone else. In these cases | must be careful to
protect, not only the rights of the complainant, but
also the rights and interests of innocent third
parties.

The Ombudsman Act deals with this problem. Sec-
tion 14 and Section 16 provide direction and estab-
lish guidelines for procedural fairness in the consid-
eration of complaints that involve third parties.



Those sections require that | notify and listen to
anyone who may be adversely affected by a recom-
mendation | am considering.

Listening to all of the parties who may be affected
by a decision ensures that | have all of the relevant
information upon which to make a fair decision.
However, making a decision in these cases is not
easy and perfect justice is not always possible. Oc-
casionally | am unable to agree that the resolution a
complainant seeks is fair because it would injure
the interests of others, even though my complainant
has a substantiated complaint against a government
authority.

Cases involving third parties perhaps illustrate best
the Ombudsman’s dual function on individual
complaints. Not only must | investigate a complaint
and decide whether the complainant has been
treated fairly by government, but | must also seek a
resolution to a substantiated complaint. When a
third party is potentially affected, my staff must
balance the interests of all parties in order to find a
resolution which satisfies and protects each of those
interests.

A Regional District was the third party affected by a
complaint investigation against the Ministry of
Transportation and Highways. In establishing a gar-
bage disposal site, the Regional District had relied
upon information from Ministry officials that the
road leading to the disposal area was a public road.
My complainant owned land traversed by this road
and objected that the Ministry had informed him,
before he bought his property ten years previously,
that the road was private.

It appeared the Ministry had erred in informing the
Regional District that the road would provide pub-
lic access. The Ministry agreed to re-evaluate its
position and concurred with my view that the road
was not public. Negotiations took place to purchase
the private section of road from the complainant,
thereby satisfying both the complainant and the
Regional District.

Another complaint in which we found an accept-
able compromise involved the Ministry of Lands,
Parks and Housing. This complaint was about an
access route to the complainant’s property, which
had not been properly recorded by the Ministry at
the time the right-of-way was granted to the com-
plainant. The right-of-way crossed land subse-
quently leased by the Ministry to a third party for
agricultural purposes. The agricultural lease stated
that the lessee should not interfere with existing
roads or trails. The complainant’s right-of-way had
not been deleted from the leased property, as was
the Ministry’s usual practice. Later the lessee in-
formed the Ministry of his intention to relocate the
trail which my complainant had constructed on the
right-of-way. He then proceeded to bulldoze the
trail and although the complainant objected to the

Ministry, no action was taken to protect his interests
or to ensure that the trail was re-established.

In discussions with my staff, the complainant insis-
ted that he wanted the original trail restored.
However, he was unable to provide reasons why an
alternate location, agreeable to the lessee, would
not be satisfactory. | proposed a compromise reso-
lution, which was ultimately agreed to by all par-
ties: the Ministry would require the lessee to estab-
lish an alternate north access for the complainant.

Sometimes we simply cannot find a solution which
would protect everyone’s interests and someone
must accept a loss. My approach in these cases is to
lean in favour of that resolution which will result in
the least loss to anyone.

In one case, the Ministry of Transportation and
Highways had closed part of a public road, but had
in error closed too much of the road and one of my
complainant’s properties was left without any ac-
cess. The error was not discovered until some years
later. In the meantime a neighbour had built an
expensive house very close to that part of the road
which had been closed in error. To reopen the road
at this point would have substantially devalued the
neighbour’s house.

The only other alternative was to create an access
road to my complainant’s property from another
angle. This meant he would lose some of his prop-
erty. If the Ministry paid for the land required for the
road my complainant would at least not suffer a
monetary loss. | decided in favour of that alter-
native. My complainant was not very happy with
my decision. | believed that reopening the road
which had been closed in error would have resulted
in an even greater loss for the neighbour.

As in the above cases, complaints involving third
parties frequently arise out of an error on the part of
an authority. Usually this presents no problem; we
simply ask the authority to correct the error.
However, sometimes rectifying the error would ad-
versely affect someone else. In some cases, | con-
clude that such action would be unfair to the third
party and must refuse to take further action on
behalf of the complainant.

In a complaint against the Ministry of Transporta-
tion and Highways, | declined to accede to a com-
plainant’s request that a right-of-way be expropri-
ated over private land, in order to give the
complainant legal access to his land. The complai-
nant suggested expropriation as a resolution to his
complaint. The Ministry of Transportation and
Highways had wrongly assured him, prior to his
purchase of the property, that the existing access to
the land was a public road. Prior to my involve-
ment, a dispute with his neighbour led to litigation.
In 1977, the British Columbia Court of Appeal de-
cided the road was private, leaving the complainant
without legal access.
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Although | sympathized with my complainant, |
was satisfied that the Ministry of Transportation and
Highways had done everything possible to establish
public access, short of expropriation. | declined to
recommend expropriation in this case. In my view
taking private land by force of law is a power that
should be exercised only for the greater public
good, and not for the benefit of one individual, or to
protect the government from the possibility of legal
action. (My Special Report No. 5 to the Legislative
Assembly on the Reid case involved the application
of the same principle, and is an example of a situa-
tion in which an authority used its expropriation
powers to benefit one private party at the expense of
another.)

In these cases little can be done to help a complai-
nant because helping him would violate the rights
of athird party. There is sometimes a positive aspect
to such disputes. We review the source of the orig-
inal error and are occasionally able to suggest pro-
cedural changes to prevent such errors in the fu-
ture. Although this type of procedural review may
be of little benefit to the complainant, it can help
others.

In one complaint | declined to pursue the resolution
requested by the complainant. My investigation,
however, brought to light an oversight in the admin-
istration of placer mining leases by the Ministry of
Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources. A gold
commissioner, following official policy, extended
the complainant’s placer mining lease after the exp-
iry of the lease. The complainant’s former partner,
with whom a dispute had arisen, learned that such
extensions were not permitted by the law. The com-
plainant’s partner brought this information to the
attention of the new Chief Gold Commissioner,
who agreed that there was no'legal authority for the
renewal. The complainant’s partner then applied
for and received a new lease over the area. My
complainant objected that he had been wrongly led
to believe by a government office that his lease was
valid.
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This complaint was further complicated by a
number of legal and contractual disputes between
the former partners. Because the parties had al-
ready initiated legal action and because | believed
the matter might best be settled by the courts, |
declined further investigation. However, it became
apparent during my investigation that other miners
might face similar problems. l initiated an investiga-
tion of the Ministry’s practice which allowed this
complaint to arise. (See CS 83-045 for details.)

Many administrative requirements are set up for
protecting the rights of other parties; in such situa-
tions | ordinarily defend the government’s position if
| am satisfied that the requirement is necessary and
reasonable. In one case, involving the Ministry of
Environment, my complainant owned land tra-
versed by a creek. He believed the creek in its
present condition damaged his property. The com-
plainant sought to improve the condition of his
property by deepening and widening the creek.
The complainant’s plan, however, included adja-
cent property, owned by a neighbour with whom
the complainant was not on good terms.

The complainant’s original application to the
Comptroller of Water Rights, for permission to un-
dertake work on the creek, was denied. He suc-
cessfully appealed to the Environmental Appeal
Board, but objected to a condition attached by the
Board, which required him to engage a profes-
sional engineer for the work and to provide reports
to the Ministry of Environment. | investigated
whether this condition was unduly restrictive and
discriminatory. After a full investigation, including
a review of all relevant documentation and discus-
sions with the complainant’s neighbours, | con-
cluded that the condition was justified.

No doubt my office will continue to be called upon
to investigate complaints involving conflicting in-
terests. Justice in these disputes is always tailor-
made. Third party complaints continue to demand
resourcefulness and imagination, both from my
staff and from Ministry officials, in order to find fair
and satisfactory resolutions.






1983 Complaint Load

1979-1982 complaints carried into 1983.. 1,333
New complaints received in 1983 .............. 9,534
Total active complaints in 1983 ... 10,867
Complaints closed in 1983......cmiiiciii 9,762
Complaints still under investigation at year

end (December 31, 1983)...cccccucniccvvvccnnnn. 1,187*

*As explained in previous Annual Reports the
figures for “files opened” and “files closed” will
vary slightly. A complainant will normally have one
complaint file opened when he first contacts my
office. In the course of the investigation a second
complaint file may become necessary. Occasion-
ally it also becomes necessary, in the interest of
describing the results of the investigations correctly,
to report a second disposition, if e.g. one complaint

of the same complainant is substantiated while his
other complaint is not substantiated. There were
about 82 such files closed in 1983, thus explaining
the discrepancy between intake, closed and open
complaint files.

In this reporting year 4,606 complaints (47.2 per-
cent of all cases closed) were directed against au-
thorities within my present jurisdiction. A total of
5,156 of all cases (52.8 percent) were non-
jurisdictional.

As in the past, my staff attempted to assess the extent
of service provided to complainants with non-juris-
dictional complaints; the results are presented in
Tables 4 and 5. The figures show that my office
provided roughly the same level of service in these
non-jurisdictional complaints as in past years, ex-
cept that there were just more complaints (1,305
more non-jurisdictional complaints in 1983 over
1982, or an increase of 34 percent).

When a complaint file is closed, the statistics re-
ported reflect in broad categories the final disposi-
tion of the complaint. Details are contained in Table
3 of Part VI. | commented in last year’s annual report
that four Ministries/Agencies (Human Resources,
I.C.B.C., the Workers’ Compensation Board and
the Attorney General) had been consistently the
four offices attracting the highest number of com-
plaints. This was also true in 1983. Human Re-
sources, however, jumped ahead of I.C.B.C. with a
sizeable increase in complaints: 64 percent. The
other three just named authorities had only minor
increases in complaints (2 to 7 percent), less than
the average across all agencies (12 percent).

| also stated in last year's report that four other
Ministries had consistently occupied positions 5 to
8 in terms of total complaints closed (Consumer and
Corporate Affairs; Transportation and Highways;
Health; Lands, Parks and Housing). This also holds
true in 1983, although Consumer and Corporate
Affairs was the only major authority with a signifi-
cant reduction in complaints, a drop of 38 percent
in 1983 from 1982. This must, no doubt, be at-
tributed to the diminishing role of the Rentalsman
and consumer protection in that Ministry. The other
three Ministries just named had complaint in-
creases from 20 to 28 percent.

| can state, as last year, that 1 do not think any
significance should be attributed to the frequency
of complaints against particular Ministries or
Boards. | believe the frequency of complaints is

22

simply the consequence of frequent and/or inten-
sive contact between a Ministry and the public,
rather than a reflection of the quality of service or
administration. The increase in Human Resources
complaints and the decrease in Consumer and Cor-
porate Affairs complaints tends to confirm my be-
lief. The increase corresponds with a sizeable in-
crease in the clientele of Human Resources, while
the decrease in Consumer and Corporate Affairs
complaints corresponds with the Ministry’s cut in
services to the public.

Table 3 in Part VI shows the disposition of all juris-
dictional complaints closed in 1983 according to
Ministry/authority and five broad disposition
categories.

1. The first column (“Discontinued” for short) con-
tains all those complaints that were closed in
1983 and not investigated or not fully investi-
gated. A total of 1,907 complaints, or 41 percent
of all closed jurisdictional complaints, fall into
this category for a great variety of reasons. Table
6 offers a breakdown of reasons for decisions to
refuse investigations or to terminate investiga-
tions before completion. (About 30 percent of
all “discontinued” complaints are actively or
passively withdrawn by complainants; 14 per-
cent are declined because a statutory appeal is
available; most of the remainder, some 54 per-
cent, are declined or discontinued for a variety
of discretionary reasons contained in Section 13
of the Ombudsman Act.)



2. Returning now to Table 3, the second column
contains all those jurisdictional complaints that
were “Resolved” by the respective authorities to
my own and the complainant’s satisfaction, i.e.
in the complainant’s favour. A resolution may be
found at any time in the course of an investiga-
tion, at the beginning or near the end of an
investigation, and an injustice is corrected in all
these cases before | feel called upon to make a
formal finding and recommendation under Sec-
tions 16 and 22 of the Ombudsman Act. A “reso-
lution” of a complaint is thus defined as a
change in the official disposition of the admin-
istrative decision complained of, in favour of the
complainant, but with the full agreement of the
authority and without formal findings under
Section 22 of the Ombudsman Act. As Table 3
indicates in 1,417 complaints, or 31 percent of
all jurisdictional complaints closed in 1983, an
injustice was thus corrected, in favour of com-
plainants, and with the full co-operation of ad-
ministrative authorities.

3. Thethird column (“Rectified” for short) contains
all those cases in which I found a complaint fully

substantiated, but could convince the respec-
tive authorities to accept my recommendation
only after making formal findings under Sections
16 and 22 of the Ombudsman Act. These cases
frequently reflect initially substantial disagree-
ments between my office and the respective
authorities over facts, laws and justice and fair-
ness issues which were, however, overcome in
the end by the authority agreeing to my rec-
ommendations or modified recommendations.
Table 3 shows that 139 complaints (3 percent of
all jurisdictional cases) were “rectified” in 1983.

. Column four contains 20 complaints (half a per-

cent of all closed jurisdictional cases in 1983) in
which | found the complaint substantiated after
full investigation. My formal recommendations
under Section 22 of the Ombudsman Act, were,
however, not accepted by authorities. For a vari-
ety of reasons | nevertheless decided to close
these 20 cases, without having achieved rec-
tification for the injustice identified. | do not
close these cases lightly but taking into account
all the circumstances, the importance of a case
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and the general significance of the issue in con-
tention, it is sometimes unavoidable. Occasion-
ally a remedy is just not available even though it
has been accepted by all sides that an injustice
has occurred.

5. Thefinal column contains 1,123 complaints (24
percent of all jurisdictional complaints closed in
1983) that have been fully investigated and
found “not substantiated”. In all “not substanti-
ated” complaints a full investigation has taken
place, and full reasons for my decision not to
substantiate a complaint are provided to the
complainant and the authority. In these cases
the administrative actions of the respective au-
thorities stand up to close scrutiny and no rec-
ommendations for change are warranted. There
have been variations over the last four years in
the disposition of jurisdictional complaints. The
numbers of complaints considered have, of
course, increased. The relative distribution of
complaints in the four or five major disposition
categories have, however, remained on a re-
markably stable pattern, as shown by the tabula-
tions below.

Disposition of Jurisdictional Complaints
1979-1983 — Numbers of Complaints

79/80 1981 1982 1983
864 1,220 1,926 1,907

Discontinued ...

Resolved............cc........ 506 601 1,169 1,417
Rectified ..., 59 180 135 139
Not rectified............. 0 74 18 20
Not substantiated...... 459 682 880 1,123
Totals ..ooovvoeeee, 1,888 2,757 4,128 4,606

Disposition of Jurisdictional Complaints
1979-1983 — Percentages

79/80 1981 1982 1983

Discontinued ............. 46 44 47 41
Resolved ... 27 22 28 31
Rectified .......... 3 7 3 3
Not rectified 0 3 1 1
Not Substantiated..... 24 25 21 24
Totals® ..o, 100 101 100 100

* Totals may be more or less than 100% because of rounding.

In my 1982 Annual Report | outlined very infor-
mally my office’s investigation goals and strategies.
There is no point in repeating that exposition even
though those goals and strategies were as valid and
important in the present reporting year. As in the
past my staff and [ emphasized, and sought changes
in procedures, practices and regulations, when
they fell short of fairness requirements. This empha-
sis is oriented towards prevention of administrative
injustice before it occurs. We use existing com-
plaints to identify unfair practices, seek changes in
procedures and regulations, thus bringing about a
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fairer and more tolerable system of public admin-
istration in British Columbia. Part IV of this report
summarizes a selection of such changes accepted
in 1983 by authorities within my jurisdiction.

Table 7 in Part VI provides an assessment of the
overall number of cases in which a change affected
more than an individual complainant and led to
some change in practices or procedures. In some
219 cases my staff identified some general change
that came about as a result of our investigations and
recommendations.
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HES LISTEN TO THIS....
SOME CUd LOST HIS
SHOES IN THE COURT
SYSTEM..
GEEL..WHAT NEXT!

ATIORNES GENERAL
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Court “loses” shoes

One of the more unusual complaints involved a
man who had his shoes taken away by the courts
and, no matter how hard he tried, he could not
get them back.

He had been arrested and charged with breaking
and entering in the summer of 1982. The shoes
he wore at the time, and another pair, had been
introduced as exhibits at the trial. For some rea-
son, the ownership of the shoes was not estab-
lished at the trial, and when the judge dismissed
the charge, he did not specify to whom the ex-
hibits should be returned. A year and three
months later, the man asked for our help in his
quest to retrieve his shoes.

Two phone calls later, we found the shoes and
had them sent back to our complainant. Why
had he been unable to locate the shoes? The
courthouse where he was tried was scheduled to
close down, and all exhibits had been sent to
another court. The clerk holding “possession” of
exhibits was also transferred but to a different

place. When the courthouse stayed open after
all, but without its former exhibits, the confusion
was complete. (CS 83-004)

Ministry must pay interest

When a couple in the province’s interior sepa-
rated, some of their joint property was sold and
the money paid into court because no one knew
the whereabouts of the wife.

For six years, the money was held “in court,”
meaning it was administered by the Ministry of
Finance. The wife then got back in touch with
the family and she and her husband hired a
lawyer who had no problem getting the money
but without interest. The husband then asked us
to help him get the interest, an estimated
$13,000, he felt the court or the Ministry of
Finance owed him.

During the investigation of this case, | learned
that the Supreme Court Rules divide payments
into “funds” which earn interest, and “monies”
which do not. Which of the two it is, depends on
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the reason or ‘style of action’ for the original
deposit. In this case, it worked out well. The
Registrar, who could have simply asked the cou-
ple to appear before a judge to determine
whether or not their money was “funds,” agreed
to review the matter. He eventually sent a revised
certificate to the Ministry of Finance, ordering
the interest paid.

The problem was solved in this case but | was
concerned that the province can hold $15,000
for six years, use the money for whatever pur-
pose and not have to pay interest on it. | am,
therefore, happy to hear that this rule is now
under review. (CS 83-005)

Now you tell me

A woman was ordered by the courts to prepare
social assessments required in custody cases but
before she could bill the Ministry for her work,
the government decided to discontinue paying
for such services.

From now on, the lawyers and persons involved
will have to arrange payment. Nobody, however,
had told the woman of this change and the Min-
istry simply refused to pay the bills she submit-
ted. After some discussion, the Ministry agreed
that the new policy should not have applied the
outstanding bills. The bills were paid with inter-
est on the outstanding balance. (CS 83-006)

The problem with boundaries

A young couple complained about the Ministry’s
unwillingness to deal with a problem of uncer-
tain boundaries affecting a lot they had pur-
chased in the Okanagan in 1979.

Their surveyor disagreed with the surveys al-
ready on file and suggested that about 20 other
lots, many of which were still vacant, would be
similarly affected. The couple hired a lawyer
who discussed the problem with the Land Titles
Office, the surveyors, and the Office of the Sur-
veyor General, all to no avail. A year later, the
Ministry was still ignoring the surveyor’s recom-
mendation that a Special Survey be ordered. The
couple’s lawyer then raised the issue with my
office, complaining that nobody appeared will-
ing to provide a solution to his clients’ problem.
We asked the Director of Land Titles to resolve
the bureaucratic impasse and to investigate pos-
sible resolutions to the problem. Even though the
couple did not get a special survey, the Attorney
General finally broke the deadlock. He agreed to
underwrite the cost of hiring a surveyor to report
to the government on the discrepancies between
existing surveys, and to determine whether a
special survey was needed. (CS 83-007)

Abuse of power

A man and his girlfriend complained that a sher-
iff was not only rude and intimidating when he
enforced a writ to satisfy a debt to his former wife
but actually seized a car which did not belong to
my complainant.

The car belonged to the man’s girlfriend and was
registered in her name. She had bought it from
my complainant who produced receipts proving
that he paid out his bank loan when he sold the
car to her. The couple told my investigator that
the sheriff arrived at their home at 11 p.m. to
seize the car. When they said they wanted to call
the police, the sheriff told them not to bother,
because the car would be gone before the police
could get there.

After seven months of arguing, the Ministry of-
fered the couple $600 as compensation for the
“inconvenience” and conceded that the sheriff
had not followed “policy” when he seized the
car. Wanting to put an end to the months of
frustration, the couple decided to accept the
money and | agreed to close the case on that
basis.

I was convinced that the seizure was wrong and |
regarded the offer of payment as confirmation
that the Ministry shared my belief. | also regard
the sheriff’s actions as both high-handed and
discourteous. Although | have not pursued this
issue, | am concerned that the Ministry chose to
ignore the strong suggestion that an employee
abused the power of his position in dealing with
the public.

Three months after | had closed my investiga-
tion, the complainants called my office again:
they had not received the money. When my
investigator called the Ministry she discovered
that two different Branches of the Ministry were



involved. One Branch had recommended pay-
ment, the other had to approve. This second
Branch was not sure the payment was based on a
legal claim, and in any event was trying to get it
paid by the solicitor for the judgement creditor
who had originally ordered the car seized. This
lawyer had “indemnified” the sheriff in writing,
prior to the seizure.

For two months my staff tried to resolve this
bureaucratic impasse, arguing that my complai-
nants’ payment should not have to await possible
recovery from the lawyer. When all this failed |
wrote directly to the Attorney General, outlining
the problem and asking for his personal interven-
tion. That worked, and finally, six months after
compensation was offered, the cheque was on its
way. (CS 83-008)

Swap on the way to jail

A man was arrested, and held in police cells.
From there the sheriffs escorted him to appear in
court, and then to the Regional Correctional
Centre. When the sheriff picked him up, they
noted his possessions as $77.80, belt, lighter and
papers. When the jail received him they noted
$17.80, a watch and a ring! He did not consider
this to be a fair “swap” and complained to my
office.

The reason for the error was hard to find, be-
cause this jail did not sign the sheriffs’ receipt if
the escort was local. Such receipts for goods,
signed at both ends of the escort by both prisoner
and staff, are normal for all lengthy journeys.

The Ministry agreed with my recommendation
to use the receipt method for all escorts in future.
It took a lot longer to get a decision on my
recommendation that the Ministry pay compen-
sation for the missing money ($60) and papers.
In fact my complainant was back in the com-
munity before a decision was made. Finally,
however, the Ministry did agree, and paid com-
pensation of $97.80. (CS 83-009)

Flagrant bureaucratic indifference

A man complained that after nearly a year, there
had been no decision on a request he had made.
He had asked that the Attorney General use his
power under the Police Act to compensate him
for the wrongdoing of an RCMP constable. Let
me make it very clear that the wrongdoing had
been admitted, and that my complainant was not
upset that his claim had been refused. He simply
wanted an answer; any answer; yes or no.

Our complainant was very patient. He had bat-
tled for a year on his own, and waited patiently
for the fifteen months it took my office. The
paper work and time involved in this case

stretched the imagination. My staff had to argue
everything, from the relevance of a Federal-
Provincial memorandum of agreement, on
down to whether or not the complainant had
phrased his claim in the proper words.

The decision, yes or no, was never made, but in
the end the Attorney General’s Ministry got the
R.C.M.P. to compensate my complainant. Why
did it take two years? | still don’t know but | am
sure that stalling tactics, evident from my inves-
tigation of this case, constitute one of the most
flagrant examples of bureaucratic indifference.
(CS 83-010)

Cheque went to wrong ex-wife

A woman was receiving maintenance payments
for her children from her ex-husband. For several
years, and with no problems, this money had
been paid into the Court, which noted the pay-
ment and then forwarded the cheque to the
mother.

The fun started when during building renova-
tions, the court temporarily amalgamated with a
neighbouring court. The woman, whose name is
unusual, had the misfortune that another couple
of the same name were also making payments
through that court. For three months the mainte-
nance cheques were sent to the wrong ex-wife,
who cashed them!

After patiently waiting for several months, the
complainant went to the court, was informed of
the error and was told the court would “try” to
get her money back. She contacted my office to
see if we could speed up the process. Part of the
problem had been that the Court Administrator
was away and no one had made a decision in his
absence to correct this problem. We pointed out
to the Court Administrator that “try” was not
good enough, that as far as | was concerned it
was her money, and the problem of recapturing
the wrongly cashed money was theirs and was an
entirely separate process.

The Court Administrator agreed. The money
with interest, was paid within a few days, and
apologies were offered to both my complainant
and her former husband. (CS 83-011)

And the good news is . . .

A Vancouver man phoned our office in a panic.
He and his wife had sold a house, and the trans-
fer was to be effective within 15 days. His wife
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| was concerned about the incident for several
reasons. | did not think that betting with a resi-
dent for monetary or tangible rewards was an
appropriate way of dealing with young people n
confinement. | also did not think it was appropri-
ate to make bets that involve conseguences nor-
mally imposed on residents for bad behawou.r.
Andfinally | believed thatan institution responsi-
ble for young people in its care should dis-
courage a habit, such as smoking, not encourage
it.

But a bet is a bet. The youngster got his package
of cigarettes and the staff member a memo with
instructions to refrain from any future betting.
(CS 83-026)

A fitting resolution

Several female residents complained about the
clothing provided by the centre. The jeans, they
said, were made for boys and did not fit them.

The complainants said the jeans were usually
too big and uncomfortable to wear. Comfort may
not have been the only motive for this complaint
but | pointed out that residents should be al-
lowed to wear their own clothing if the Centre
could not provide clothing of a reasonable fit.
The Director agreed and promised to relax the
clothing rule. (CS 83-27)

Have a seat

Several female residents complained that the toi-
lets in their wing had no seats, whereas the
toilets in the boys’ wing had seats.

To solve the problem without major cash outlay, |
suggested that some of the toilets be switched to
give each wing toilets with and without seats. In
the end, the British Columbia Buildings Corpo-
ration fitted all existing toilets with seats. (CS 83-
028)

MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND CORPORATE AFFAIRS

Tenant caught in dilemma

The owner of a mobile home complained to me
that the Rentalsman refused to resolve a dispute
with his landlord. The complainant wished to
sell his mobile home but his landlord would not
let him assign the trailer pad to a new owner.
Without the pad, the complainant could not sell
his home. He believed that the landlord’s refusal
was unreasonable.

According to the Residential Tenancy Act
(1979), a tenant must obtain the landlord’s per-
mission before assigning a tenancy agreement.
The Act also stipulates that the landlord’s consent
“shall not be arbitrarily or unreasonably with-
held.” A landlord commits an offence under the
Act if he improperly refuses permission for a
tenant to assign the Tenancy Agreement.

When the landlord refused permission to assign
the pad, my complainant asked the Rentalsman
for a ruling on the reasonableness of the land-
lord’s refusal. The Rentalsman declined to act,
claiming that he only had jurisdiction to decide
the matter if the landlord attempted to evict the
tenant for assigning the pad without permission.
Clearly my complainant was caught in a “Catch
22" situation: he could not sell the trailer unless
he could assign the pad but the Rentalsman
would or could not rule on the assignment unless
he sold the trailer.

| noted during my investigation that the Residen-
tial Tenancy Act empowered the Rentalsman to
make an order prohibiting a landlord or tenant
from contravening the Act. The landlord com-
mitted an offence under the Act if he arbitrarily
or unreasonably refused permission to assign the
pad. | argued that the Act gave the Rentalsman
the authority to determine if the landlord was
improperly refusing his assent for an assignment
and to make an order in the tenant’s favour'if he
found that the landlord had committed the
offence.

The Rentalsman accepted my argument and
agreed to adjudicate the dispute. (CS 83-029)



Landlords need Rentalsman too

In November 1981, a landlord applied to the
Rentalsman for a rent increase in excess of the 10
percent hike allowed by the rent control regula-
tions in order to meet increased mortgage costs.

The tenant agreed to pay the new rent in March
1982, the effective date of the rent increase ap-
plication. The Rentalsman, however, did not rule
on the application until October 1982, at which
time he allowed the increase but made the effec-
tive date November 1982. This decision left the
landlord liable for reimbursing the tenant for the
rent increase he had paid between March and
November 1982.

The landlord complained to me after the
Rentalsman told him that the decision regarding
the effective date of the increase was final. The
landlord had asked the Rentalsman to change
the date of the increase because he could not
afford to reimburse the tenant and the tenant did
not object to paying the increased rent from
March 1982. | advised the landlord that the Resi-
dential Tenancy Act (1979) allowed the
Rentalsman to vary his orders and that he should
apply in writing to the Rentalsman for such a
variation.

The Rentalsman acknowledged the landlord’s re-
quest for reconsideration in February 1983 and
asked the tenant to comment. In March, the
Rentalsman declined to vary his original order
because the tenant had not commented on the
landlord’s request to vary the effective date and
because the landlord had not presented any new
evidence that was not available at the time the
original order was made.

| pointed out to the Rentalsman that the tenant’s
failure to comment could reflect acquiescence
in, rather than disagreement with the variation of
the rent increase order. | also suggested that the
Rentalsman was not aware that the tenant had
been paying the increased rent since March and
that such information constituted new evidence.

The Rentalsman agreed to reconsider. When the
tenant raised no objections, the Rentalsman var-
ied the date of the rent increase to March 1982.
(CS 83-030)

Allegations of bias withdrawn

The tenant of a mobile home park who had
appeared before the Rentalsman on a number of
previous disputes with his landlord, complained
that a particular Rentalsman Officer who had
been assigned to hear a new dispute was biased.
The tenant claimed that, at a previous hearing,
the officer made comments which the tenant
interpreted as pressure to accept a resolution

which would have been against his interests and
he feared that this same officer would not be able
to conduct an impartial hearing on the current
matter.

In view of the complexity and seriousness of the
allegations, my investigator arranged for a joint,
face-to-face discussion between the complai-
nant and the Rentalsman Officer to determine
more accurately who said what to whom. As a
result of this process, the complainant acknowl-
edged that he had misinterpreted certain state-
ments of the Rentalsman Officer and came to the
conclusion that the Rentalsman Officer had actu-
ally been trying his best to resolve the dispute.
Both parties appeared to be satisfied with the
outcome of the discussion and the tenant with-
drew his complaint. (CS 83-031)

Files get lost in the shuffle

A businessman who believed that a credit report-
ing agency had issued an incorrect report about
his company brought the problem to the atten-
tion of the office of the Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affairs.

When the Minister’s office not only failed to
respond to his complaint but also lost a number
of documents that were difficult to replace, he
turned to us for help. As itturned out, there was a
change of ministers shortly after the man took his
problem to the Minister’s office and his problem
was lost in the shuffle. The former Minister's
executive assistant and secretary, both now in
different positions, recalled my complainant’s
name, but did not know what happened to the
documents.

We asked the Director of Consumer Credit and
Debtor Assistance whose office deals with com-
plaints against credit reporting agencies to
search for the lost documents in his files, but he
could not find anything.

The Director’s office offered to apologize to the
complainant for the loss of the documents, as-
sured us that it would assist him in recreating
some of the lost information and said it would
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| asked my solicitor for an opionion and was
advised the the words “Association of B.C.” can-
not be claimed since most societies in B.C. use
them at the end of their names. That left the
words “Ocean Kayaking” versus “Sea Kayak,”
which appeared to be legitimate alternate de-
scriptions of the same activity.

A quick check with the Concise Oxford Diction-
ary (COD) showed that “ocean” is: “1. Great
body of water surrounding the land of the globe;
...2.Thesea..”

“Sea” was described as: “1. Expanse of salt water
that covers most of the earth’s surface and en-
closes its continents and island, the ocean, any
part of this as opposed to dry land or fresh water

So, while ocean and sea are synonyms, the
words themselves are different from each other.

Both societies derive their transportation idea
from the Inuit word “kayak” which my trusty
COD described as “Eskimo one-man canoe of
light wooden framework covered with seal-

skins.” There can obviously be no trade mark-
like claim on that word either.

| know that ocean or sea kayaking is a sport or
recreation activity distinctive from fresh water
kayaking — even though | own a kayak which
refuses to take sides, alternating instead between
fresh and salt water.

| found that the Registrar had exercised his dicre-
tion and come to the conclusion that the second
name was sufficiently different from the first.
Further distinction could, of course, be achieved
by voluntary means. The societies could decide
to moderate their geographical ambitions by
using the designation "Association of Vancouver
Island,” or “Association of Vancouver,” rather
than “Association of B.C”

As a final suggestion to settle the dispute, | of-
fered my services as a referee in a kayak race
from Victoria to Vancouver. The winner could
oblige the loser to change its name to “Saltchuk
Sealskin Covered Canoe Association of B.C.” So
far, | might add, | have not been taken up on my
offer. (CS 83-036)
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my investigation. These files would have to be
perused, and a file of relevant material would be
assembled, but this would take time.

Then my investigator was advised that the At-
torney General’s Ministry had just initiated a
study on the legal ownership of the documents |
had requested, and this would take more time to
complete. Depending on the outcome of this
study, | might still eventually be refused access to
the papers. At long last, | was provided with
certain documents, from which | concluded that
the solicitor had actually taken only about two
months to respond to the request for a
procedure.

To summarize the time frames involved, at the

time (May 1979) the Ministry of Energy, Mines

and Petroleum Resources asked its solicitor for
recommendations on procedures to follow dur-
ing a hearing:

— twenty-one months had passed since the
Mineral Act had received assent, that s to say,
the final version of the Act, including the
appeal provisions, were known for at least
this length of time;

— seventeen months had gone since the Act was
proclaimed effective;

— six months had elapsed since the Ministry
was aware that an appeal had been made
under section 50 of the Act.

Furthermore, even after the solicitor had
provided the Ministry in July 1979 with the sug-
gested procedures (together with a recommen-
dation that hearings “proceed forthwith”), a fur-
ther seven months elapsed before a hearing was
actually held and a decision given. Apart from
one memo written by an Assistant Deputy Minis-
terin April 1979 (“. . . decisions are overdue. . .
the two disputes should be resolved as soon as
possible . . ") | found little evidence of any
sense of urgency.

Most government agencies suffer from delays at
one time or another. In retrospect, my office
could have pursued this complaint with a little
more alacrity and | am certainly aware of how
delays occur when demands on a system exceed
the resources available. However, when a delay
is clearly identified, | believe it is incumbent on
the agency responsible to rectify the matter to
the best of its ability.

I concluded that the complaint of unreasonable
delay was certainly substantiated. | could not
accept the excuses offered by the Ministry. Of-
ficials had, in my opinion, clearly shown poor
judgment and no anticipation with regard to the
new provisions of the Mineral Act, and their
treatment of my complainant showed little con-

cern for the problems and needs of the industry
and the public they purported to serve.

Despite my exchanging several letters with the
Deputy Minister, he rejected my recommenda-
tion that the complainant be reimbursed at least
for his legal expenses relating to the period of
delay. His final word on the matter:

“, .. of course, both of us have our duties to
fulfill. One of mine is to shepherd my Ministry’s
portion of the public purse. Therefore, | cannot
take the unprecedented step that you suggest in
the penultimate paragraph of your letter to me

The concept of paying the costs incurred by
others as a result of one’s errors or negligence
may indeed be unprecedented in this Ministry.
However, it has been accepted by other au-
thorities here in B.C., as well as in other
provinces or countries where Ombudsmen have
made such recommendations. Regrettably, | had
to close the complaint as substantiated, but not
rectified. (CS 83-044)

Former partners fight over claim

A woman complained that the Chief Gold Com-
missioner had unfairly cancelled her husband’s
placer lease and awarded it to his partner. Her
husband’s application to extend the lease was
made after the term of the lease had expired and,
therefore, under Section 8 of the Mining (Placer)
Act, the lease had legally expired. The former
Chief Gold Commissioner, however, usually did
not enforce this section of the Act and “ex-
tended” the lease. Unfortunately, an expired
lease cannot legally be extended under the Act
and the former partner who realized that the
extension was improper applied for and was
granted a new lease for the area.

The issue was further complicated by a number
of legal and contractual disputes between these
former partners. Because the private disputes
could best be settled through available legal re-
medies, | declined further investigation of the
complaint.

Still, 1 was concerned that the Ministry had lulled
these people into a false sense of security by
apparently extending their lease. During the
course of the investigation it also became appar-
ent that some other miners may not hold valid
leases because of the Ministry’s inconsistant ad-
ministration of Section 8 of the Mining (Placer)
Act.

As a result, | have opened an Ombudsman initi-
ated investigation against the Ministry on Section
8 of the Act. (CS 83-045)
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with, the Okanagan River. The soil in this area is
very porous, and when the river level is high,
during the spring freshet for instance, the lake
rises, fed by underground seepage, resulting in
the occasional flooding of lakefront properties.

About nine or ten years ago, staff of what is now
the Water Management Branch in the Environ-
ment Ministry persuaded the residents of the
area that it would be advantageous for them to
form an improvement district. The district would
be responsible for the operation of a pumping
station to prevent flooding, by pumping excess
lake water back into the nearby river. The Minis-
try would share the capital costs, but the operat-
ing costs would be covered by the improvement
district, which would levy taxes on members,
estimated at $10 or $15 a year for a small
property.

The usual procedure in forming an improvement
district was to circulate a petition amongst the
potential members, so that people could indicate
their support for, or rejection of, the proposal. If a
substantial majority was in favour, the petition
would be sent to Cabinet via the Ministry of-
ficials, and the necessary Order in Council
would be passed, to form the district and to
establish its boundaries. The procedure was
used in this case, and the new improvement
district was created.

Shortly before this, the owner of a parcel of land,
not bordering on the lake, had subdivided the
property to create three small residential lots for
members of his family, and had sold the rest.
Due to an oversight, the petition did not take into
account this subdivision. The new owner had
signed the petition as though he owned the en-
tire original parcel. He was in favour of forming
the improvement district but the family members
owning the three small lots were not aware of the
petition, and did not sign it. If they had, they say
they would have opposed the plan because they
felt the improvement district would not have
benefitted them in any way; and since their prop-
erties were along the outer boundary of the pro-
posed district, a slight adjustment on the map
would have left them out of it. In fact, they were
included in the new district, though they did not
know it.

The events of the next seven years are hard to
explain. To put it briefly, a major dispute soon
arose between the trustees of the new improve-
ment district and the Ministry’s staff. Because of
this, the trustees did not claim the Ministry’s
promised share of the capital costs, but took
other steps which resulted in a rapidly-escalating
debt. Neither did they pass by-laws enabling the
district to tax members, and therefore no repay-
ments of the debt were ever made. Despite many
irregularities, it was not until 1982 that the gov-

ernment placed the improvement district in re-
ceivership. (By then, responsibility for monitor-
ing improvement districts had been transferred
to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs.)

It was only after about six years that the three
families on the subdivided lots discovered that
they were in the improvement district. They had
never been notified originally of their mem-
bership, nor had they ever received a tax notice
since none had ever been sent out. In 1981 they
contacted the trustees, who told them that a
boundary adjustment to exclude them could be
arranged. After receivership was imposed,
however, the receiver advised all members of the
serious financial situation, and drew up a plan
for retiring the debt. Even small properties would
share in the heavy tax load, and “resignations”
from the improvement district could not be con-
sidered. The three families complained to me
about the way they had been unknowingly hono-
ured with unwanted membership!

As the facts emerged, it became clear that al-
though the way my complainants had been in-
cluded in the district was not contrary to law, it
was highly unusual. | felt it was simply wrong
and unfair that a citizen could unwittingly and
entirely without notice become a member of an
improvement district and could remain so for
years without his knowledge, consent, or an
opportunity to object to the situation. My inves-
tigation revealed an extremely complex and tan-
gled situation, which was eventually resolved by
a general agreement between all parties
involved.

For my complainants, the Ministry of Municipal
Affairs agreed that the improvement district
would be terminated as soon as a suitable alter-
native arrangement could be negotiated with ei-
ther the local regional district or irrigation dis-
trict; and the complainants would be excluded
from the taxation area allotted to the new oper-
ator of the pumping facility. The complainants
were satisfied with this solution. For the two
authorities (Ministries) involved, | think the
moral of this story is that where a legal require-
ment exists for the supervision of improvement
districts, water utilities, etc., that duty must be
discharged from the start. Allowing an un-
satisfactory or illegal situation to continue for a
number of years, merely lays the beginnings of
what may later develop into a Gordian Knot.
(CS 83-047)
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tion, for rejecting this request. | advised the com-
plainant that | could not substantiate his com-
plaint. (CS 83-049)

Ministry not negligent

A man living in the south-east corner of British
Columbia suffered from various allergies and
respiratory problems. He was upset when a large
coal firm near his residence emitted for several
days what he described as a “huge dust storm” of
coal dust.

He was more than upset when he discovered that
the firm was not only exceeding the emission
limits specified on its waste management permit,
but that Ministry officials were apparently toler-
ating this. He complained to me that the Ministry
was not doing its job, and was causing health
problems for him and many others.

| found that the firm had applied for a variance
from the terms of its permit, and that the Minister,
after consulting with the local labour union and
the municipal authorities, had issued a variance
order. The firm was now allowed to emit consid-
erably more particulate matter than had been
allowed in its original permit, and the variance
order was effective from February 1983 to De-
cember 1985, unless amended further by the
Minister. The issuing of such orders at the Minis-
ter’s discretion is authorized by section 13 of the
Waste Management Act. It was therefore clear
that the Ministry’s staff was not being negligent
by tolerating the higher dust levels emanating
from the firm's premises.

| advised the complainant that 1 could not sub-
stantiate his complaint, but pointed out that the
Minister still retained the discretion to cancel or
change the original variance order. If he felt that
there were good reasons why the order should
be changed, he should send his arguments to the
Minister for consideration. (CS 83-050)

How is the ozone out there?

One complainant had a deep concern for space-
ship earth. He wanted to discard an old re-
frigerator at the municipal dump, but he realized
that when the refrigerant pipes eventually rusted
away, several litres of freon would be released
into the atmosphere.

He was aware of the international concern that
had been voiced in recent years that freons were
reacting with and depleting the ozone layer
around the earth, and that this might have serious
climatic and health effects. He knew that several
national governments, including ours, had re-
stricted the use of freons as propellants in aerosol
products. And he wanted to avoid contributing
to the problem, by having the freon removed

from his refrigerator before he dumped it. When
the Waste Management Branch of the Ministry
could offer no advice or assistance, he com-
plained to me.

My investigator, a former chemist, was as sur-
prised as the complainant when, after contacting
both federal and provincial environment of-
ficials and SPEC in Vancouver, he found that this
particular disposal problem apparently had not
been addressed either by government authorities
or by the environmental societies.

The authorities pointed out that, despite con-
cerns for earth’s ozone layer, the freons were
relatively inert, non-toxic substances, not re-
garded as being in the same undesirable class as
carbon monoxide or sulphur dioxide. The laws
did not specify emission limits for freons. Fur-
ther, refrigerator repairmen working on cooling
units often fill and empty the pipes several times,
releasing unwanted freon to the atmosphere
each time. One more “shot” as the machine
decayed in the dump was therefore not regarded
as significant.

Since freon evaporates almost instantly at nor-
mal temperature and pressure, recovery from
old units would require the use of high-pressure
pumps and containers. With only a few litres
involved in each unit, and a lack of public
awareness or commitment to a recovery pro-
gram, the officials felt such an effort was not
practical.

| therefore found the complaint not substanti-
ated, and referred the complainant to his M.P.
and M.L.A. if he felt that the governments should
develop legislation or programs to deal with this
concern. (CS 83-051)

Discrimination charge not substantiated

A native Indian complained to me that his son
had been refused a sustenance permit by the
Ministry’s Prince George regional office. He at-
tributed the refusal to racial discrimination.

Sustenance permits are special hunting permits
which authorize the holder to hunt the named
species of animal after the end of the usual hunt-
ing season. In each region, only a strictly limited
number of these permits were issued, based on
the Ministry’s estimate of species population in
that area. They are issued only to people judged
to be in need, but because of the high unemploy-
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Disaster victims need more consideration

On February 11, 1983, an avalanche of mud
poured down a creek, running through the vil-
lage of Lions Bay, off Highway 99, between
North Vancouver and Squamish.

The torrent of debris claimed two lives and de-
stroyed the homes and properties of four fam-
ilies. Insurance for natural disasters of this type is
very difficult to obtain and none of the affected
parties had coverage for what were in some
cases enormous losses.

Not long after the disaster, we received com-
plaints from four families in the Lions Bay area,
including three of the residents whose property
had been severely damaged or destroyed by the
debris torrent. Some of the complaints involved
the Village of Lions Bay and were not within my
jurisdiction. Other questions required legal
advice.

Several of the complainants, however, told us
that the provincial government had refused them
access to certain reports and documentation re-
garding the geological hazards associated with
Alberta Creek. The property owners were anx-
ious to get this information before August 7,
1983, the deadline by which they had to decide
whether or not to accept relief money offered
them by Cabinet order under the provisions of
the Flood Relief Act. The complainants felt
somewhat uneasy because attached to the gov-
ernment’s offer was a condition that they would
forego any right to sue the Crown, should they
believe that negligence on the part of provincial
government agencies contributed to their losses.

Of primary importance to the complainants was
a geological engineering study prepared for the
Ministry. Several Cabinet Ministers visited Lions
Bay shortly after the disaster and the complai-
nants were initially assured that this report,
known as the Thurber Report, would be made
available to them by mid-March, 1983. In late
July, however, a senior official of the Ministry of
Transportation and Highways informed my in-
vestigator that the report would not be released.
On July 27, 1983, | wrote to the Minister of
Transportation and Highways requesting that he
confirm this information and asking that he rec-
onsider his decision to provide reasons for the
government’s refusal to release the report.

| expressed my concern about ongoing delay and
stated my view that any expert information bear-
ing on the geological hazard should be made
available to the people most closely affected and
as soon as possible. | noted that the Thurber
Report was financed with public funds and that
public commitments had been made for its
release.

1 did not receive a reply to this letter, but subse-
quent inquiries by my assistant to a senior official
of the Ministry of Transportation and Highways
revealed that the Thurber Report had been com-
pleted and was made available to the public on
August 8, 1983.

Payments under the Flood Relief Act had been
authorized on July 4, 1983 and were being ad-
ministered by the Provincial Emergency Program
of the Ministry of Environment. | proposed to the
Deputy Minister of Environment that his Ministry
extend the deadline for acceptance of the offers
until the Thurber Report was released and the
families had had a chance to review it.

The Deputy Minister did not agree with my rec-
ommendation but extended the settlement date
by several weeks to August 30, 1983. After a
meeting with the Minister of Environment, the
Honourable A. Brummet, the deadline for ac-
ceptance of the Ministry’s offer was again ex-
tended, until October 24, 1983.

Some of the property owners had already ac-
cepted the government’s offer but two others
were reluctant because they would have re-
covered only a portion of their enormous losses.
They were also worried that they might not be
able to rebuild on their land because it was not
clear whether the Ministry of Transportation and
Highways would build a catchment basin on
Alberta Creek to protect Highway 99, or whether
the Ministry of Environment would complete the
work it had under consideration for the protec-
tion of properties adjacent to the Creek.

They also worried about a 1973 municipal bylaw
which now prohibited construction of homes
within 100 feet of the creek banks. This bylaw
was passed in 1973, after the complainants had
built their homes. If enforced, it meant that they
could not rebuild their homes, even if the safety
concerns did not exist. However, a report com-
missioned by area residents indicated that the
area was not safe to rebuild on under present
circumstances. With all these uncertainties
hanging over their heads, and still unable to
assess the true magnitude of their losses, the two
property owners felt they could not properly de-
cide whether to accept the Ministry’s grant offer
or pursue legal action against the provincial
government.
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Under the provisions of the Social Service Tax
Act, however, the vendor is not required to also
be the owner of the premises. The complainant
and her partner had signed the vendor registra-
tion form, indicating that they were responsible
for the operation of the business from July 1980,
to December 1980. The complainant had signed
the registration form as president of the com-
pany, thus assuming responsibility for the opera-
tion of the business from December, 1980 to
August, 1981,

The complainant and her partner had collected
the taxes and were responsible for remitting
them to the Ministry. Since her partner had de-
clared bankruptcy the Ministry was unable to
collect any part of the debt from him and she
became responsible for all the debts incurred by
the partnership.

Although this resulted in an extremely difficult
situation for the complainant who had very lim-
ited financial resources, | could not substantiate
her complaint that the Ministry had acted un-
fairly in requiring her to repay the money. In-
stead, | referred her to the Debtors’ Assistance
Branch of the Ministry of Consumer and Corpo-
rate Affairs, hoping that an orderly payment of
debts might be arranged for her. (CS 83-063)

Ministry accepts fair offer

When a man got into trouble with the Ministry of
Finance because his former wife had not paid
any Social Service Tax for a business in which he
was still legally a partner, he came to us for help.

In October 1977, the complainant and his wife
registered in partnership as vendors with the
Consumer Taxation Branch. They operated a
small shop together, and documents on Ministry
files indicate that they paid Social Service Tax on
afairly regular basis until March 1979. From that
date on until the shop closed in February or
March 1981, no tax was remitted.

By June of 1979, the marriage between the com-
plainant and his wife had broken up and the
complainant moved out to live elsewhere. He
stated that he was not involved in the operation
of the shop since 1978, operating his own store
instead. In June 1981, a demand notice was
served against his store as a result of the non-
payment of the Social Service Tax by his wife’s
shop. The complainant was advised that the shop
owed a total of $5,800, the Ministry’s estimate of
the taxes that were collected but not remitted by
the shop between 1978 and 1981.

By the time the complainant brought the matter
to my attention, the amount owed had increased
to more than $8,000 with penalties and interest.
The complainant considered the Ministry’s at-
tempts to collect the full amount from him unfair.

From a legal point of view the complainant
could be held responsible for all of the debts. He
had signed the application for registration and he
did not advise the Ministry that the partnership
had been terminated. They were both jointly and
individually responsible for the debts of the part-
nership and the Ministry had the right to collect
the whole amount from either the complainant
or from his former wife,

The Ministry had made little effort to collect any
of the money from his former wife, apparently
because she was not working and there ap-
peared to be little chance of getting any money
from her. Instead the Ministry had concentrated
its collection efforts on the complainant and his
store. The complainant, however, was also in a
difficult financial position. Because of the gen-
eral economic climate, the store was not doing
well.

He had offered to pay the Ministry $3,000 as his
share of the debt. He saw this as approximately
one-half of the debt which the partnership had
incurred. In view of the fact that the man’s former
wife had been responsible for the operation of
the shop during the period in question, | consid-
ered his offer a fair one and recommended that
the Ministry accept it. The Ministry agreed with
my recommendation and advised the man ac-
cordingly. (CS 83-064)

Government Agent acted properly

When a building inspector threatened to close
down a small body shop because it violated
zoning regulations, the owners complained to
us, blaming the local Government Agent for not
having informed them of the zoning
requirements.

The zoning irregularity had come to the building
inspector’s attention when the complainants ap-
plied for a building permit to construct a shelter
for their own car. He said a neighbour had com-
plained and he had no choice but to close down
the operation.

This put them in a very difficult position because
they had taken out a loan to set up their business
and had no other source of income. They felt that
if the body shop was contrary to the zoning
bylaw, the Government Agent should have ad-
vised them of this and should not have issued
them a business licence for the operation.
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Fortunately for the complainants, the Ministry
decided not to proceed with plans for fencing the
range unit. The 1983 permits were made con-
ditional on the complainants’ satisfactory use of
riding and salting to avoid overgrazing of the
range; and weather conditions had resulted in an
abundance of forage which made it likely that
they could meet the permit requirements.
(CS 83-066)

Cattle arrested, owner charged

A man who leased privately owned land in the
middle of a Crown range unit was charged with
trespassing and had his cattle seized because the
animals had repeatedly strayed onto neighbour-
ing Crown grazing land.

No fence separated the complainant’s land from
the Crown grazing land, the permit for which
had been issued to a different party. It was not
surprising, therefore, that the Crown range cattle
strayed onto the leased land and the complai-
nant’s cattle strayed onto Crown range. After a
number of warnings, the complainant’s cattle
were seized and he was charged with trespassing
on Crown range. He considered the charge un-
fair because the Crown range cattle were also
trespassing on his leased land. He also felt that
the Ministry had acted unfairly in refusing to
grant him an on-and-off permit which would
have allowed him to avoid the trespass charges.

After investigating the case, | could not agree that
the Ministry had acted unfairly or improperly in
either matter. The Trespass Act specifically ex-
empts the Crown from having to fence off Crown
land from private land. At the same time, the
Range Act authorizes the Ministry of Forests to
seize and impound cattle found on a Crown
range unit for which their owner does not have a
permit. The law places the onus on the lessee or
owner of private land to fence his land off from
Crown land to avoid trespass.

An on-and-off permit might have resolved the
trespass problem for the complainant but before
granting such a permit, the Ministry must make
sure that it will not interfere with the rights of the
existing permittee. In this case, the existing per-
mittee and the complainant had different breeds
of cattle and the fact that there was a possibility
of cross-breeding made an on-and-off permit
impracticable.

I concluded that the Ministry had acted correctly
in taking trespass action against the complainant
and that the Ministry’s refusal to grant the com-
plainant an on and off permit was appropriate
under the circumstances. (CS 83-067)

Co-operation benefits everyone

A couple complained to me that the Ministry of
Forests unfairly required them to supply $12,000
in labour for a Crown range fencing project,
claiming that normally the government pays the
total cost of such projects.

The couple had attempted to obtain Crown
range grazing for some time and were granted a
one-year grazing permit on the condition that
they fence the range along the highway before
turnout. At the initiative of the local Stock
Breeders’ Association, an arrangement had been
made whereby the Ministry of Highways would
supply the fencing material and the complai-
nants would supply the labour. The complai-
nants also understood that the Ministry of Forests
had agreed to construct a tote road to assist in the
building of the fence.

The complainants had initially agreed to the ar-
rangement but when it appeared that the Minis-
try of Forests was not living up to its commitment
to construct a tote road, the complainants felt it
was unfair that they should be held to the com-
mitment in order to keep their grazing permit.

My investigation showed that the Ministry of
Highways has a program to install and maintain
fencing along highways such as the road in ques-
tion, but before proceeding, the Ministry asks
the local Stock Breeders’ Association to assign
priorities to proposed fencing projects. Since the
maintenance of fencing along active ranges is
given higher priority than the installation of fenc-
ing for new range areas, the complainants’ pro-
ject would not normally have been given priority
in the near future.

The local Stock Breeder's Association had sug-
gested the agreement as a means by which the
range could be made available for use earlier
than would otherwise have been the case. | also
found that the Ministry of Forests’ understanding
of its role in the arrangement differed from the
understanding held by the complainants. The
Ministry stated that it had made no commitment
to construct a tote road and that, in fact, a tote
road was not necessary, since access to the fenc-
ing area was not a problem. Instead the Ministry
stated that its commitment was to supply up to
two miles of fencing material for another side of
the range.

These details became somewhat irrelevant when
the complainants were unable to supply the ap-
proximately $12,000 in labour required to com-
plete the project. My office contacted the federal
government to determine if funds for the fencing
project could be made available through New
Employment Expansion and Development
(NEED). When the answer was yes, we told the
complainants how to apply for the funds.
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about the gravity of the allegation against her,
she complained to me.

My investigator advised her of her right to appeal
the cancellation of her income assistance. She
did so and her appeal was successful.

My investigator also confirmed that the fraud
inspector had indeed made some offensive re-
marks during a heated discussion with my com-
plainant. Regardless of the circumstances, | con-
sidered the inspector’s conduct inappropriate
and asked the Ministry to apologize to the
woman. The Ministry agreed to do so. (CS 83-
091)

Not told of her rights

A woman who was under investigation for possi-
ble misuse of income assistance benefits raised
two concerns with me, both of a very serious
nature.

The Ministry did not inform my complainant that
she was suspected of misuse of public funds. She
learned about the investigation when the Minis-

try contacted an acquaintance of hers. The
woman felt this was unfair because she had not
been given an opportunity to state her position
and defend herself. When the Ministry finally
confronted her with the allegation she was not
informed of her rights.

Shortly after | voiced my concerns, the Ministry
designed a new set of procedures to prevent the
kind of problems my complainant had experi-
enced. The new procedures include reminders
to investigators not to assume a person’s guilt; to
conduct interviews in a courteous manner; to
inform clients af any allegation as soon as possi-
ble; to give clients an opportunity to respond to

allegations of fraud, and to inform a client of his
nr har riadht +A ramain cilant (CC 22 NAQ2Y

Entitlement does not buy food

A young man complained that the Ministry had
denied him income assistance because he was
eligible for Unemployment Insurance benefits.



He agreed that he was technically eligible but
did not get any money because the Unemploy-
ment Insurance Commission was withholdingall
his cheques to recover a previous overpayment.
And although U.1.C had first agreed to recover
the money by withholding only half his benefits,
each time a cheque was due, he received notice
thatthe full amount had been deducted. Since he
was without any funds, despite his eligibility for
U.1.C. benefits, he felt he was entitled to income
assistance from Human Resources.

The Ministry agreed to meet the man’s emer-
gency needs but refused to grant him regular
assistance, suggesting that the problem be
solved by U.I.C. | agreed with that view and
although | have no jurisdiction to investigate
U.L.C., | asked the Commission why it had not
lived up to the agreement to recover the previous
overpayment by withholding only half the com-
plainant’s benefits.

It turned out that a computer error had caused
the problem. To help the man out of his immedi-
ate financial predicament, U.1.C. issued an ini-
tial cheque for his full entitlement and pro-
grammed its computer to deduct only half his
benefits until the overpayment had been re-
covered. (CS 83-093)

The staff did not know

The 64-year-old mother of a mentally handicap-
ped son who received income assistance for the
mentally handicapped, found herself continu-
ously in dire financial straits because the Minis-
try refused to pay her son a shelter allowance.

We found that the local Human Resources office
had denied him shelter benefits on the assump-
tion that Ministry policy would not allow them to
do so. The shelter benefits were immediately
authorized when we pointed out that the Minis-
try staff had misunderstood the policy.

Normally we would have closed our investiga-
tion at that point but | feared that other ministry
employees might also be unfamiliar with the
policy, a fear which was substantiated when we
polled a number of workers throughout the
province, asking for their response to an identi-
cal situation. A significant number shared the
misunderstanding of the policy.

When | brought my concerns to the Ministry’s
attention, officials assured me that they would
clarify the matter with ministry staff. (CS 83-094)

Family did not have to separate

A single mother who had been raising her son on
her own for several years with the help of income
assistance, came to me for help when a Ministry
rule threatened to break up her family.

The benefits — based on a two-person family
(herself and her son) — enabled her to pay rent
and purchase the bare necessities.

When her son turned 19, the Ministry informed
both mother and son that he was now an adult
and would have to apply for his own income
assistance, even though he was still going to
school. They filled out the forms, convinced that
while the paperwork was necessary it would
have no practical effect on their lives. They were
wrong.

The Ministry cited a “rule” stating that an income
assistance recipient living with a parent was not
eligible for shelter benefits, with the result that
the family’s shelter benefits were immediately
reduced from $340 to $200, the amount for
which the mother was eligible. To the family it
was a crushing blow. The two were no longerin a
position to pay the rent and feared they would be
evicted. When they brought this to the attention
of Ministry officials, the Ministry advised the son
to move out and find his own accommodation.
Neither the mother nor the son considered this
an acceptable solution.

Although the Ministry does have a “no shelter
rule” which applies to adult children boarding
and rooming with their parent, we argued that
the mother and son might better be described as
sharing accommodation, in which case the
“room and board” rule need not apply.

The Ministry agreed that the arrangement could
be looked at in this light and reinstated full shel-
ter benefits, enabling the family to stay together.
(CS 83-095)

Spouse gone and so is the money

A woman who had recently separated from her
spouse complained that the Ministry tried to col-
lect from her a sum of money which her spouse
had spent.

Before their separation, the spouse had been
issued income assistance benefits for both him-
self and his wife. She alleged that the spouse took
the money, all of it, and left the province. Now
single, she went back to Human Resources and
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asked for enough benefits to pay her rent and buy
food. She received a cheque but was told she
would have to repay half the money her spouse
had already received. The woman felt this was
unfair, since she had had no control over her
spouse’s actions. The Ministry insisted that the
initial benefits were issued to both of them and,
therefore, both were responsible for the loss.

| agree that under normal circumstances recip-
ients are equally responsible for benefits
provided in their name, no matter whose name is
on the cheque. In this case, however, the com-
plainant never had an opportunity to exercise
that responsibility. Both the spouse and the
money were gone.

Ministry officials agreed to review the matter
with the spouse who had since returned to Brit-
ish Columbia but was not in contact with the
complainant. He did not refute the complai-
nant’s contention that she had not benefitted
from the first cheque, and the Ministry decided
to recover the money from the spouse, rather
than from her. (CS 83-096)

That’s not income

A woman complained that her income assis-
tance benefits were unfairly terminated when
she received an insurance settlement for fur-
niture destroyed in a house fire.

When the complainant separated from her hus-
band she temporarily stored her household
goods in the basement of his home, planning to
move them when she was settled elsewhere.
Before she had a chance to do so, however, the
contents of the house were destroyed in a fire.
Fortunately, her furniture was insured and she
received a settlement shortly after.

Human Resources said the insurance settlement
constituted “unearned income” which should be
used to meet the complainant’s day-to-day living
expenses, and suspended her income assistance
benefits.

My investigator discussed the case with Ministry
officials, pointing out that the insurance settle-
ment was to enable the complainant to replace
allowable assets, namely the furniture destroyed
in the fire, and could, therefore, not be consid-
ered unearned income.

The Ministry reviewed the case, reversed its ear-
lier decision and reinstated the complainant’s
income assistance benefits. (CS 83-097)

Cash no, ticket yes

A man on income assistance complaind that
Human Resources had threatened to discontinue

his benefits if he accepted money from his father
to take his daughter on a trip to Quebec to visit
the girl’s mother from whom he was separated.

There appears to be a difference between a cash
gift and a gift in kind. The Ministry agreed to our
suggestion that the father give his son, our com-
plainant, a bus or airplane ticket. The son’s in-
come assistance benefits continued, despite the
gift and the girl was able to visit her mother.
(CS 83-098)

Confusion over camp fees

A Ministry worker complained that Human Re-
sources did not allocate the funds it had for
summer camp fees in an equitable manner. Chil-
dren were unable to register for available pro-
grams. Many managers rejected requests for
camp fees on the grounds that the Ministry’s
budget estimates had not been debated in the
Legislature.

We found out from Ministry officials that camp
funds were available and suggested that this in-
formation be immediately relayed to managers
throughout the province. The Ministry agreed to
do so and the misunderstanding was cleared up.

With the immediate problem out of the way, we
pointed out that the Ministry had no criteria for
deciding who was to receive camp fees, nor did
it have a system of informing clients that the
program was available. Thus, clients familiar
with the system had access to a benefit other
clients lost out on by default.

We urged the Ministry to develop a fair and
systematic approach to the disbursement of
camp fees, pointing out that a “first come, first
served “ system can be equitable, provided all
clients are aware of the existence of the program
and the advantage of early application.

The Ministry has since agreed to have the neces-
sary guidelines in place before the 1984 camp
season. (CS 83-099)

The waiting game

A man on income assistance brought to my at-
tention a loophole in the Ministry’s appeal pro-
cedure which had been causing unreasonable
delays.

My complainant pointed out that Ministry pro-
cedures provide for time limits at each stage of
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The health centre could not accept the girl, un-
less she had first been assessed by a psychiatrist
but the girl refused to co-operate with the psychi-
atrist. Meanwhile, the girl was living on the
streets and the mother didn’t know what to do.

As a result of our intervention, the Ministry clar-
ified the woman’s options. She could either ask
the Ministry to apprehend her daughter because
she was at risk, or charge her with theft (she had
stolen money), which would give the police the
authority to arrest her. Once the girl was ap-
prehended by the Ministry or arrested by the
police, she could be admitted to hospital by the
mother for a psychiatric assessment.

The woman decided to charge her daughter with
theft and the police arrested the girl. An assess-
ment was done and the girl was admitted to the
mental health centre the following week.
(CS 83-109)

Mother concerned about son’s welfare

A woman called us, concerned about her son’s
welfare. Her son had serious emotional prob-
lems and had been at the Maples mental health
centre for teenagers for an assessment, as a result
of which some professionals advised against
placing him back in his community.

The family lived in a small town, and some
experts at the mental health centre feared that the
boy would continue to be stigmatized because of
his problems. The woman suspected that Human
Resources was ignoring the advice of the profes-
sionals and intended to place the boy back with
his family. She feared that this would not be in
the boy’s best interest.

In discussions with my investigator the Ministry’s
District Supervisor pointed out that a resident
psychologist at the centre had no objection to
the boy returning to his home but he also ac-
knowledged that other professionals did not
share this opinion.

He said he would try to find a home for the boy in
another town, close to his family. That way, the
boy could live in a differentenvironment and still
maintain contact with his family. He agreed to
prepare a list of options and leave it up to the
woman to make the final choice. If she did not
find any of the options acceptable, she would be
free to reject them and her son would return to
her home.

| believe the Ministry did a good job in recogniz-
ing the two different approaches to assessing

“the best interests of the child,” and suggesting
an effective compromise. (CS 83-110)

Too little

A man complained that the Ministry refused to
apprehend his children, even though they were
atrisk. The children lived with their mother, from
whom he was divorced. He also complained that
it took seven days before the Ministry investi-
gated his protection concern.

After investigating the matter, | realized that the
man’s protection complaints were an expression
of hostility towards his divorced wife. It was
obvious that he continued to disagree with the
way she cared for the children.

| found that the Ministry conducted an investiga-
tion each time the man or a member of his family
had called with a protection complaint con-
cerning his children. A seven-day delay,
however, was too long, in my opionion, even if
the man’s motives for complaining were suspect.

The Ministry acknowledged that a seven-day de-
lay was too long, regardless of the circum-
stances, and the district office changed its ad-
ministrative procedures to enable social workers
to respond to abuse allegations within 24 hours.

| commend the District Supervisor for his
willingness to consider the broader admin-
istrative procedures. (CS 83-111)

Too much

A woman complained that the Ministry was
monitoring her home, even though she consid-
ered it unnecessary. She also complained that
the Ministry would not transfer her family’s file to
another district office closer to her new home.

The Ministry alleged that the woman’s children
were at risk because they had an abusive father,
and that monitoring the family was necessary to
protect the children. And since the woman had
not indicated her objections, the Ministry con-
tinued monitoring her family.

We found that there was no court order compel-
ling the Ministry to monitor the children’s place-
ment in the home, and | concluded that in view
of the woman’s objections the Ministry had no
authority to continue monitoring. | informed the
woman that the Ministry could monitor her fam-



ily only if she either agreed to the visits or if her
children had been apprehended and then placed
back in her care under a court order giving the
Ministry the authority to supervise the children’s
placement. If neither of these conditions existed,
she did not have to continue accepting the Minis-
try’s monitoring service.

| also pointed out that the Ministry usually trans-
fers files without any difficulty, unless the child
or family are in a crisis. In her case the Ministry’s
refusal to transfer the file made no sense. The
children were home and there was no court
decision pending.

Eventually, the Ministry agreed to transfer the
woman’s file and to discontinue monitoring her
familv. (CS 83-112)

Cruel treatment in hospital

One of the most disturbing cases concerned
cruel and insensitive treatment by hospital staff
of a 15-year-old girl who had been sexually
abused.

| first became aware of the case when a woman
phoned my office on behalf of a girl she was
counselling, charging that the girl, who was in
the temporary care of Human Resources, had
been physically assaulted by several male staff of
a hospital where she was placed to overcome the
terrible trauma associated with years of sexual
abuse. The girl had become a temporary ward of
the Ministry when her parents refused to believe
that she was being sexually abused by a family
friend.

The girl had been granted leave from the hospital
to see the Queen during her visit to Victoria last
year and was declared absent without leave
when she failed to return at the designated time.
The hospital’s policy in such cases called for
punishment, followed by a serious discussion of
the problem.

The girl was told she had to change into her
pyjamas before the matter would be discussed.
She refused to comply with the instruction, say-
ing she had done nothing wrong. Trying to ex-
plain why she was late, she said she had waited
in vain for her social worker who was to have met
her at a prearranged place.

Rather than listening to the girl, the staff pro-
ceeded to implement the hospital’s policy, warn-
ing her that if she did not get into her pyjamas,
they would put them on her. When she con-

tinued to refuse, several male staff forcibly re-
strained the girl and began undressing her. Mid-
way through the stripping, she agreed to finish
undressing herself. Incredibly the staff continued
to strip the girl, telling her that she had missed
her chance to undress herself.

Since the girl was a ward of the Ministry, | asked
the Ministry to investigate the complaint. The
hospital eventually revised its policy. Sexually
abused children are now no longer to be forcibly
undressed. Instead, they are to remain in a room
with their pyjamas until they comply.

This policy change is certainly appropriate but it
is hardly sufficient to allay my fears. In my view,
no child should be subjected to physical force as
adisciplinary technique. The only time children
should be physically restrained is when their
behaviour is a danger to themselves or others. To
date, only sexually abused children have the
benefit of this change in policy, but the Ministry
is still considering the issue. (CS 83-113)

Conflict of interest

A ward of the Ministry of Human Resources
complained that the Ministry had apprehended
her baby at birth and that she did not know the
reasons for the action.

She felt she was in a precarious position because
the same Ministry which had parental authority
over her, also took action against her to ap-
prehend her child. She wondered who could
give her legal advice and who would pay for that
advice. At 15 years of age, she was not eligible
for legal aid.

When | raised the matter with Ministry officials,
they understood the conflict of interests and
agreed to obtain legal counsel (separate from the
Superintendent’s legal counsel) for the girl. The
Ministry also assured me that it had not made
any decision about the girl’s ability or inability to
parent her own child. To support this, the Minis-
try pointed out that it had arranged for her to
have easy access to her child on a daily basis so
that she could participate in her baby’s care.
(CS 83-114)

A child in need of care

A family which had applied for the adoption of a
child in special need of care became concerned
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course was to start, the local Branch represen-
tative advised course organizers that funding was
uncertain though he would keep checking.

Four days before the starting date, he recom-
mended that the course be cancelled because he
had been unable to get confirmation of funding.
To make matters worse, the Branch would not
refund the $20 enrollment fee because partici-
pants could actually write the examination with-
out taking the course.

| discovered that the application for funding had
been forwarded to the main office in mid-De-
cember, about five to six weeks before the course
was to get underway. The problem was that too
many people were on holiday and there was a
major reorganization of the Ministry’s Employ-
ment Training Division in progress. Result: no-
body made a decision.

As it turned out there were no funds left in the
budget to finance projects, such as the one our
complainant had proposed. But that still leaves
the question of proper administrative pro-
cedures. The complainant should have had an
answer to his application for funding much ear-
lier. The delay was clearly unreasonable.

| still was concerned over the refusal to refund
the examination fee. The Branch felt that the
Apprenticeship Act gave it the authority to keep
the fee. | disagreed.

In the end the Branch agreed to refund the $20
examination fee to any applicant who requested
reimbursement in writing before taking the ex-
amination, and to apologize to the course
organizers.

The Branch also agreed to participate in the
funding of a heavy duty mechanic upgrading
course at the community college the following
month and to clarify administrative procedures
to ensure quicker decisions in the future.

In addition, the Branch agreed to have a sub-
committee of the provincial Apprenticeship
Board review the pertinent statutory provisions
of the Apprenticeship Act. (CS 83-123)

By the time she arrived in class the instructor had
left. The young woman attempted to press her
claim for course credit with the operator of the
business school but was told that under the cir-
cumstances, no certificate would be issued for
the course. The woman complained to the Trade
Schools Administration Branch which investi-
gated on her behalf, and suggested to the trade
school operator that the complainant be given an
opportunity to write the examination. The oper-
ator of the trade school refused.

The woman then complained to me about the
failure of the Trade Schools Administration
Branch to obtain satisfaction for her. 1 had no
authority over the trade school itself, but consid-
ered the actions of the Branch. I discovered that
although the Trade Schools Administration
Branch has the authority to regulate trade
schools in administrative matters, such as regis-
tration, health requirements, advertising, tuition
fees, etc., ithas no authority to deal with the type
of dispute presented by this student, which was
academic in nature. The Branch’s mandate ap-
pears restricted to offering protection to students
as consumers, not as students.

| did not make a recommendation in this case
because there was no evidence of administrative
wrongdoing. | proposed that the Trade Schools
Administration Branch become an appeal body
to adjudicate disputes between students and
trade schools.

The Ministry of Labour initiated a detailed re-
view of the trade schools legislation and regula-
tions with a view to revising these. The issue |
had raised was to be examined within the con-
text of the overall review. (CS 83-124)

Minister has no comment

The Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local
2278 (Teaching Assistants at the University of
British Columbia), complained that the Minister
of Labour had imposed mediation on them dur-
ing a critical period in their contract negotiations
with the employer.

The Union claimed the action was inappropriate
and designed to prevent a strike or the threat of a.
strike during the Christmas 1981 examination
period, thereby depriving the Union of a right
guaranteed under the B.C. Labour Code.

Section 69(2) of the Labour Code allows the
Minister to appoint a mediation officer to confer
with parties at any time during the course of
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collective bargaining “where he is of the opinion
that the appointment is likely to contribute to
more harmonious industrial relationships be-
tween the parties.” The Union members had ap-
proved strike by vote. The Union was about to
serve strike notice to the employer.

According to Section 81 of the Code, strike ac-
tion was no longer possible until the mediation
officer had completed his work and reported to
the Minister. Mediation sessions were con-
ducted between December 11 and December
23, which coincided roughly with the Christmas
examination period. The Union maintained that
the Minister’s actions had effectively deprived
them of a critical bargaining tool.

An earlier decision of the Labour Relations Board
had dealt with a related issue. In the case of the
College of New Caledonia and the Association
of University and College Employees, Local No.
5 and Faculty Association of the College of New
Caledonia, Decision No. 9/82, Mr. Rod Ger-
maine, Vice Chairman of the Board, pointed out
that Section 69 of the B.C. Labour Code confers a
very broad discretion on the Minister of Labour
concerning the appointment of a mediator. He
went on to say that there is nonetheless a mini-
mal standard of fairness to which the Minister
must adhere.,

In the New Caledonia case, an application for
appointment of a mediator was made by the
employer. The Minister complied with the re-
quest. Mr. Germaine held that in such a situa-
tion, administrative fairness required the Minis-
ter to confer with the other party involved before
appointing a mediator.

It appeared to me that the same reasoning ap-
plied to the case at hand. If the Minister has the
responsibility to confer with the parties when
one side has requested the appointment of a
mediator, that responsibility applies equally or
perhaps more so when neither party has re-
quested a mediator.

As Mr. Germaine suggested in his decision, even
in the face of opposition from either of the par-
ties, the Minister may decide to impose media-
tion. 1 felt that input from the parties could only
help the Minister to reach a more informed deci-
sion. Such consultation would also alleviate the
Union’s perception of the appointment of a me-
diator as a tactic to postpone lawful job action.

| advised the Minister that according to Section
69(2) of the B.C. Labour Code, the failure to
permit the views of the parties to be heard before
the appointment of a mediator, constituted an
unfair procedure.

in accordance with Section 16 of the Om-
budsman Act, | advised the Minister of my inten-
tion to recommend that prior to the imposition of
mediation, pursuant to Section 69(2) of the B.C.
Labour Code, the Minister advise the parties
affected of his intention to impose mediation and
consider their response in making his final
decision.

The Minister acknowledged receipt of my letter
and tersely concluded: “I wish to advise you that
| have no comment.”

The Minister’s response left me no choice but to
proceed to the next step under the Ombudsman
Act—to formally make the above recommenda-
tion to the Minister.

I emphasized that the implementation of this
recommendation would in no way restrict his
authority under Section 69(2) of the Labour
Code. He would not be required to commit him-
self to a particular course of action, nor would |
as Ombudsman review the substance of a deci-
sion made under that Section.

l also stressed that implementation of my recom-
mendation would provide the Minister with
more information on which to base his decision
whether or not to appoint a mediator. | also
stressed that both parties would be more likely to
view the Minister’s decision as fair.

The Minister’s reply was even more terse than the
first, stating only: “Please be advised that | have
no further comment on this matter.”

Pursuant to Section 23 of the Ombudsman Act, |
requested that the Minister state his reasons for
not following my recommendation. The Minister
acknowledged my letter and stated:

“I' wish to advise that | have no further comment.”

| found the complaint of the Teaching Assistants
Union substantiated. The Minister refused to im-
plement my recommendation. The complaint,
therefore, remains not rectified. The Minister
has also refused to comply with the Ombudsman
Actwhich requires that he give reasons when he
refuses a recommendation duly made under
Section 22 of the Ombudsman Act. (CS 83-125)






read the lease document, he would have real-
ized that the option to purchase expired in Sep-
tember of 1981. Unfortunately, the complainant
had been unable to do so, because the third
party had lost her copy of the lease.

Informed of all these details, the Ministry agreed
to have its solicitors review the file. The review
concluded that fault lay with the Ministry, the
third party and with my complainant but the
Ministry agreed that it was unfair to place the
burden of all the errors on the complainant and
allowed him to exercise the option to purchase at
the original price. (CS 83-127)

No door, no john, no option

A man who held a Crown lease with an option to
purchase the land complained that he was de-
nied the opportunity to exercise his option be-
cause the Ministry decided that he had not met
the requirements of the lease agreement.

The key element in the dispute was whether or
not my complainant had constructed a habitable
dwelling on the land, as required by the agree-
ment. It was clear that he had built a dwelling of
some description, but the debate arose over
whether or not it was habitable.

The word habitable is a rather vague adjective,
open to a wide range of interpretations and it
appears that the Ministry had not set any precise
standards for what could be considered habita-
ble. In view of this, | wrote to the Deputy Minis-
ter and suggested that the Ministry take another
look at my complainant’s case. The Ministry re-
plied that the dwelling in question had neither a
door nor a sewage system and could not be
considered habitable by any reasonable person.
In addition, the lease document stated that the
lessee was required to make reasonable and dili-
gent use of the Crown land for residential pur-
poses, and clearly this requirement had not been
met.

It appeared to me that the Ministry had a very
strong case and | decided the complaint was not
substantiated. (CS 83-128)
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She took a chance and won

A woman complained about the high purchase
price of Crown land she leased from the Ministry
of Lands Parks and Housing.

The Ministry’s appeal procedure requires the ap-
pellant to hire a second appraiser to determine
the value of the land, a route my complainant
said she could not afford to take.

Recognizing the time and effort she had put into
developing the piece of property, | proposed that
the Ministry prepare a list of six appraisal firms
from which the complainant would be able to
choose. If the new appraisal of the land was
more than 10 percent below the Ministry’s ap-
praisal, the Ministry would pay for it. If,
however, the new appraisal came in at less than
10 percent below the Ministry’s, the com-
plainant would pay the bill.

The Deputy Minister agreed to my proposal and
had the Regional Director responsible provide
me with a list of appraisal firms. The complai-
nant was quite sure that the new appraisal would
be more than 10 percent below the Ministry
appraisal and readily accepted this suggestion.

Since both the Ministry and the complainant
accepted my proposal, | considered this com-
plaint resolved. Several months later, the com-
plainant informed us that the appraisal had come
in at more than 50 percent below the Ministry’s
original appraisal. (CS 83-129)

Ministry dams export of water

A young entrepreneur, who had developed a
proposal to export fresh water from British Co-
lumbia to countries with a great need for this
commodity, came to us when he felt his am-
bitious plans were threatened by red tape.

To proceed with this enterprise, the complainant
required a foreshore lease. The Ministry rejected
his application on the basis that the government
planned to establish a policy relative to the ex-
port of fresh water from British Columbia. If the
government decided in favour of bulk export of

water, he could again submit an application for a
foreshore lease. The man considered the denial
of his application premature and asked us for
assistance.

The problem was complex and essentially politi-
cal. It is not my role as Ombudsman to decide
what resources the province of British Columbia
should or should not be exporting, or even offer
advice on this matter. Such decisions rest with
Cabinet.

We referred the complainant to the appropriate
Ministers, so that he might present his proposal
for exporting fresh water. And while matters re-
garding foreshore leases are within my jurisdic-
tion, the Ministry has a procedure in place to
handle appeals. | declined further investigation.
(CS 83-130)

Ministry admits delay

During my visit to Fort Nelson in November of
1982, a man registered a number of complaints
against the Ministry of Lands, Parks and Housing
and several other government agencies.

His basic complaint was that the Ministry of
Lands, Parks and Housing had delayed the pro-
cessing of his application to purchase Crown
land, causing him serious financial difficulties
and problems with other government agencies.
His financial problems were substantial and he
presented a detailed plan of compensation to my
office which he believed would provide an ade-
quate remedy for his complaint.

Time was of the essence if his compensation plan
was to succeed. He requested that | provide him
with my findings as quickly as possible, so that
he could avoid bankruptcy.

From my initial investigation of his complaint it
appeared that the processing of his application
might have been delayed by about 18 months.
Although | did not make a formal recommenda-
tion, the Ministry agreed that there was some
delay and offered my complainant the land in
question at a substantially reduced price.

My investigation also revealed that the delay in
processing the application was not responsible
for the majority of the company’s financial prob-
lems. A poor market for the company’s products
had led to massive debts with a number of cred-
itors. Further investigation by my office could not
have helped the complainant with these debts.

The Surveyor General’s Branch is not directly
connected with the Lands and Housing Regional
Offices, but surveying issues often arise in land
complaints. The Branch is frequently asked for
expert advice on surveys and not everyone is
satisfied with the results. (CS 83-131)
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Complainants are not always right

A man complained to me that he was not getting
any co-operation from the Surveyor General
with regard to a number of surveys, the validity
of which he had questioned.

My investigator found that the Surveyor General
had responded to my complainant’s enquiries
and had made a decision on the validity of the
surveys in question. | considered the complaint
not substantiated. (CS 83-132)

The cost must be weighed

A couple registered a complaint against the Min-
istry for unreasonable delay in the processing of
their B.C. Second Mortgage application. The
Home Purchase Assistance Branch received
their application on)une 3, 1982 and sentthem a
letter of intent on June 10. On August 19, the
Branch received the necessary mortgage docu-
ments from the applicants and forwarded them
to the New Westminster Land Title office for
registration on August 30. The Branch contacted
the Land Title office on October 4 and dis-
covered that the application had been lost. An-
other mortgage document was sent from the
Branch with instructions to rush the registration
of the mortgage. The mortgage was registered by
the Land Title office on October 12 and the
applicants received a cheque from the Ministry
of Finance on November 2.

Since it normally takes about two weeks for a
Land Title office to register a B.C. Second Mort-
gage, it appeared that their application had been
delayed by approximately one month. Had they
received the B.C. Second Mortgage at the begin-
ning of October, they would have paid the lower
rate of 15% interest for October instead of the
higher bank rate. Unfortunately, the regulations
of the Financial Administration Act do not aliow
for the payment of interest on money owing by
the Province under the Home Purchase Assis-
tance Act.

Since it seemed that government officials had
made the error which cost my complainants a
higher interest rate, | would ordinarily have rec-
ommended compensation for the difference. But

there was another consideration. The actual loss
came to about $25, whereas it would cost hun-
dreds of dollars for my staff and Ministry staff to
review the matter and for government lawyers to
prepare the necessary documents for an
ex-gratia payment to the complainants.

I concluded that the complaint was substantiated
because the complainants had suffered a loss
through no fault of their own. | brought the error
to the Ministry’s attention but pointed out to the
couple that | could not justify spending hundreds
of dollars worth of staff time to rectify this matter.
| offered to pay personally if the complainants
felt strongly about the issue, but they did not call
on me to pay up. (CS 83-133)

SIN number is voluntary information

A woman complained that the form for a family
First Home Grant asked for the applicant’s social
insurance number. It was her understanding that
this information could only be required by the
federal government.

We discussed the complaint with the Home Pur-
chase Assistance Branch officials who agreed
that she did not have to answer this question.
Like many provincial agencies which provide
grants to individuals, the Home Purchase Assis-
tance Branch considers the social insurance
number useful information and requests it on
application forms. [ recommended that the Min-
istry make it clear to applicants that this informa-
tion is voluntary. (CS 83-134)

Home, sweet home

A man asked us to help him find out as quickly as
possible whether his brother’s application for a
First Home Grant would be approved.

He said it was essential that he get written con-
firmation of the decision immediately to enable
his brother, who lived in a different town, to
complete the house purchase and get all docu-
ments to the bank the next day.

Ministry officials co-operated by quickly pro-
cessing the application. Written confirmation of
approval was provided the same day to our com-
plainant who forwarded the letter to his brother
by courier for immediate presentation to the
bank.

Although initially reluctant, the bank agreed to
accept the official government letter as proof and
covered the difference in funds until the Ministry
had processed payment of the grant. The pur-
chase was concluded and the complainant’s
brother was able to move into his first home.
(CS 83-135)
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Double jeopardy

A homeowner in the Okanagan complained that
in addition to being assessed for domestic water
supply, she was charged an irrigation fee on her
residential property, even though she was not
supplied with irrigation water.

The Ministry said it was looking into the matter.
Negotiations were underway to rectify the situa-
tion and make the system of assessment more
equitable for domestic water users.

Because the Ministry of Municipal Affairs cannot
order an irrigation district to pay back taxes
which might have been unjustly assessed, | con-
cluded that the Ministry did all it could to rectify
the situation. | could not take further action.
(CS 83-137)

It's the fault of the post office

| received several complaints from people who
mailed their property tax payments to the appro-
priate municipality before the due date but were
assessed penalties for late payment because their
cheques did not arrive until after the deadline.

In at least two cases the payment was mailed one
week before the due date, but was not received
until approximately one week after the deadline.

Based on legal opinion, the Ministry has taken
the position that the date of receipt, rather than
the post-marked date, determines timely
payment.

After reviewing this problem, | proposed that the
Ministry consider seeking an amendment to the
Municipal Act which would allow the Ministry
to consider the post mark of the payment as the
payment date. | was concerned that munici-
palities were imposing penalties for delays that
were at least in part the fault of the post office.

The Ministry said it would consider seeking an
amendment to the Act and would inform me of
the results of its review. (CS 83-138)

The back and forth by-law

A resident of a small community complained on
behalf of a Committee fighting a proposed local
development.

The man complained that after deferring ap-
proval of two by-laws which would allow the
proposed development, the Ministry had re-
turned the by-laws to the Regional District Board
with a letter explaining that the Minister was
reluctant to approve the by-laws before the of-
ficial settlement plan of the area was finalized.

According to the complainant, the Ministry in-
structed the Regional District Board a few weeks
after the by-laws were returned to send them
back to Victoria for reconsideration. The Com-
mittee questioned the procedures followed by
the Ministry in recalling the by-laws with no
explanation, particularly in view of the original
decision to await completion of the official set-
tlement plan.

When | informed the Ministry of the Committee’s
concern, | was told that the by-law in question
had, once again, been returned to the Regional
District and that the Ministry was still awaiting
reconsideration by the Regional District of the
by-laws along with the official settlement plan.
This resolved the complaint and | took no further
action. (CS 83-139)

Once is enough

A member of the Greater Vancouver Association
of the Deaf was concerned that some munici-
palities in British Columbia required people with
impaired hearing to obtain new medical certifi-
cates each year when applying for the handicap-
ped portion of the homeowners grant.

The Ministry told my investigator that it had re-
cently addressed the problem in the Home-
owner Grant Guide and Administration Manual
which stated that handicapped persons are not
required to provide new certificates for each tax
year, and that municipalities should retain cer-
tificates on file and re-use them as necessary.

It appeared that an appropriate policy was al-
ready in place and I asked the association to get
in touch with me in case of further problems.
(CS 83-140)

Glaring error rectified

A Community Association complained that the
Ministry took too long to respond to a request for
adjustment of the northern boundary of a bene-
fitting area of the Regional District.

Apparently the by-law which defined the area
had been in error from the start, and the Associa-
tion felt that such a glaring error should have
been corrected immediately.

The Ministry explained that according to its legal
advisors, readjustment of the boundary required
the same procedure that was used to establish it.




For this reason, the Order in Council issuing
Supplementary Letters Patent had been delayed
for some time.

The boundary adjustment was eventually ac-
complished and the complaint was resolved.
(CS 83-141)

A matter for the courts

A man complained that the Inspector of Munici-
palities had incorrectly interpreted legislation
concerning the payment of a sewer levy by bene-
fitting areas within a Regional District.

My complainant alleged that his electoral area
had been illegally charged and had paid for the
sewer function for approximately ten years. The
area, he said, could not be considered a “bene-
fitting area,” particularly since the Regional Dis-
trict had recently decided not to service the area
with a sewer.

My staff reviewed the complex series of Supple-
mentary Letters Patent and by-laws which pur-
ported to authorize the Regional District to col-
lect a sewer levy from the man’s electoral area.
The Inspector of Municipalities explained that,
in his view, the cost-sharing formula provided in
the Supplementary Letters Patent directed pay-
ment of a small levy by areas in the Regional
District not directly served but deemed to benefit
from general environmental enhancement. The
Inspector stated that my complainant’s area was
not a “benefitting area” but was nevertheless
obliged to pay a small levy.

I concluded that the appropriate forum for my
complainant’s objection would be the courts. 1
advised him that | was satisfied with the Inspec-
tor’s explanation, and that he may wish to seek
:egal advice concerning a challenge to the by-
aw.

| also informed the complainant that the Inspec-
tor was willing to discuss the issue with him.
(CS 83-142)

Inspector acted properly

A young man complained that his local Improve-
ment Distsrict refused to provide him with a
water connection and standpipe for his small

cabin, sending a copy of his complaint letter to
the Inspector of Municipalities.

The Inspector wrote back to the property owner,
saying that the Ministry of Municipal Affairs was
not empowered to order the Trustees of the Im-
provement District to provide him with a stand-
pipe. The letter also stated that the District’s ap-
parent reason for denying the connection was
based on a health rule which required a septic
field before any further connections were
allowed.

We contacted the local public health inspector
and learned that the connection of an outdoor
standpipe is a matter solely within the jurisdic-
tion of the Improvement District. The Secretary-
Treasurer of the Improvement District, however,
told us that as far as she knew, a septic field was
reqired by the health inspector for the connec-
tion of a standpipe.

| wrote back to the Inspector of Municipalities
and pointed out that there appeared to be some
confusion over whether or not a septic field was
actually required for the connection of an out-
door standpipe. | also pointed out that Section
849 of the Municipal Act authorizes the Inspec-
tor to hear appeals resulting from an Improve-
ment District’s refusal to supply water to any
person, and allows the Inspector to “make any
order in the matter that he considers just and
reasonable”.

| asked the Inspector to investigate the com-
plaint, clarify the basis for the District’s refusal,
and if the problem could not be resolved infor-
mally, inform the complainant of his right to an
appeal.

The Inspector re-opened his investigation and
issued an order to the Improvement District in
favour of the complainant. The Deputy Inspector
of Municipalities sent a copy of the order to the
complainant and informed him that if the Im-
provement District refused to comply with the
order, he would have to take legal action to have
it enforced.

| was satisfied that the Inspector’s office had
fulfilled its mandate under the Municipal Act to
investigate the complaint and to make an appro-
priate order to the Improvement District and
closed my investigation. (CS 83-143)
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believes such release would be contrary to the
public interest. As soon as this legislative au-
thority is obtained, the Department will develop
and implement a policy to prevent the release of
information for improper purposes. This now
requires the attention of Cabinet and Legislative
Assembly. (CS 83-149)

Complainant keeps on trucking

A complainant who earned his living by driving
heavy commercial vehicles faced a bleak future
when the Motor Vehicle Department revoked his
Class 1 driver’s licence after he suffered an
aneurism in his brain, causing partial paralysis of
his right arm and leg.

The complainant admitted that he could no
longer operate a standard Class 1 vehicle but he
had located a tractor-trailer with a fully auto-
matic transmission which he was capable of op-
erating. The Motor Vehicle Department,
however, told him that he was not eligible for a
Class 1 licence restricted to the use of a vehicle
with fully automatic transmission because his
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loss of strength and movement would render him
incapable of putting chains on the vehicle’s tires
in winter conditions or in an emergency.

This issue appeared to have no relevance to
whether the complainant was “unable or unfit to
drive a motor vehicle or to hold a driver’s licence
of a certain class,” the only criteria to be consid-
ered under these circumstances by the Superin-
tendent of Motor Vehicles, under the Motor Ve-
hicle Act.

When we pointed out that there had been some
improvement in the complainant’s condition,
the Motor Vehicle Department agreed to review
the case and referred him to a senior supervisor
in Burnaby to discuss any change in his medical
condition. At this point, | withdrew from the
case, hoping that a fair resolution would result.

Following the review, however, the complainant
still did not get the licence he needed but he was
told that he could take his case to one of the
Motor Vehicle Department’s Medical Appeal
Boards. | did not consider such an appeal an
appropriate remedy. The only way to test the



complainant’s ability to drive a commercial vehi-
cle with fully automatic transmission was to give
him a road test.

In earlier discussions, the Chief Examiner indi-
cated that he was not aware of any Class 1 vehi-
cle with fully automatic transmission which
would accommodate the complainant’s hand-
icap but that he was willing to take into consid-
eration any information we could provide. We
obtained the necessary documentation through
the complainant’s solicitor and forwarded it to
the Motor Vehicle Department.

After reviewing the correspondence and docu-
mentation, establishing that the vehicle the com-
plainant would operate required no manual gear
selection changes while in motion, the Assistant
Chief Examiner agreed to issue the complainant
an instructional licence and the medical appeal
was put “on hold.” Subsequently, the complai-
nant was given a road test and was successful in
demonstrating his ability to operate the vehicle
safely.

At long last, the complainant received the li-
cence he needed to earn his livelihood. Need-
less to say, he was very happy with the outcome.
(CS 83-150)

Driving school struggles to survive

The owner-operator of a driving school com-
plained that some procedures and practices of
the Motor Vehicle Department with respect to
driver’'s examinations were improperly
discriminatory.

My complainant had several objections. He said
the B.C. Safety Council had been permitted to
display posters at the Motor Vehicle Department,
advertising its services, whereas other driver
training schools were not permitted to do so.
Such posters had indeed been displayed at the
Department but were removed when they were
found to be in contravention of regulations to the
Motor Vehicle Act.

My complainant was proud of his record for
thorough and safe driver training, particularly
with respect to the operation of motorcycles, and
wished to obtain certification from the Motor
Vehicle Department permitting him to issue
motorcycle driver’s licences directly. He said it
was unfair that the B.C. Safety Council, a non-
profit society funded in part by the provincial
government, had the right of motorcycle cer-
tification, while his business which was operat-
ing in competition, did not.

After some discussions with my staff, senior of-
ficials at the Motor Vehicle Department were

satisfied that the complainant’s motorcycle train-
ing and examination service met Department
standards, and granted him motorcycle certifica-
tion. (CS 83-151)

No damaging information

| received a complaint from a driver whose in-
dustrial air ticket had been suspended by the
Motor Vehicle Department, following an acci-
dent, but was returned after he successfully ap-
pealed the suspension. The only condition was
that he enrol in a driver improvement program.

The complainant believed that this result was fair
but objected to procedures he believed were
used by the Department. He was under the im-
pression that the Motor Vehicle Department re-
tained damaging company reports of industrial
road infractions on Ministry files, without giving
notice to the employee. He was concerned that
unsubstantiated and undisclosed management
reports could be used against a driver as evi-
dence of an alleged poor driving record.

The complainant’s suspicions were aroused be-
cause a Motor Vehicle Department inspector
had told him a few days after the accident that he
would probably not lose his “air ticket.” The
subsequent change in the Department’s position
led him to believe that damaging reports had
been submitted to the Department by company
representatives. He thought he had reason to
believe his employer would provide damaging
information, because he had been suspended
from his job after the accident.

| found the complaint not substantiated. No
damaging reports of the nature suggested by the
complainant were included in his driving rec-
ord. Moreover, a special projects officer for the
Ministry, directly responsible for overseeing sus-
pension actions involving industrial roads, was
in the process of drafting a policy memorandum
addressing precisely the concerns my complai-
nant had raised.

The governing premise of the new policy was
that there should be nothing on a person’s indus-
trial road driving record about which he was
unaware, as is the case with ordinary driving
records.

According to this policy an individual would
have access to the report of any accident, com-
piled by an impartial Ministry inspection. The
driver would have the right to appeal the deci-
sion to the Superintendent of Motor Vehicles. If a
company reported an employee’s allegedly poor
driving habits, the draft policy stated that it
would not be included in the Ministry’s files,
unless the company’s report of the incident was
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He had bought the property, a little more than an
acre, in early 1960. His family had grown up
there. More recently his wife had become hand-
icapped and he had made the home accessible
for a wheelchair.

In 1981 the property was assessed at $71,600; in
1982 at $105,200; in 1983 it climbed to
$240,800. The rapid rise in assessments had
resulted in a significant increase in property
taxes as well. After applying the $630 Home
Owner Grant, his 1983 tax bill came to more
than $2,100. He blamed the Assessment Au-
thority for the tax increase because he felt the
assessment of the property was too high.

| found the Assessment Authority had not erred
or acted unfairly in assessing the complainant’s
property. His lot is located in a rapidly develop-
ing area outside Victoria. The zoning of the area
had been changed from residential to commer-
cial a number of years ago and as a result, market
values of the properties in that area increased
significantly. His property was one of several
parcels in a commercial area fronting on a busy
street. He had had several offers on his property,
some as high as the value placed on the property
by the Assessment Authority, but he refused to
sell because he preferred to live in the house.

In my view the assessment placed on his prop-
erty was in line with market values of similar
properties and | was unable to substantiate his
complaint but 1 provided him with information
on the tax deferral program. (CS 83-158)

A rancher is no clairvoyant

A rancher was denied farm classification for
1983 because he had missed the December 31,
1982 application deadline.

The rancher blamed the Assessment Authority,
claiming that he had not received an assessment
notice for the property until after the deadline
and had had no way of knowing that the property
was classified as residential rather than farm.

The property in question was an agricultural
lease which the complainant had obtained in

1981. He received neither assessment notices
nor tax notices for the agricultural lease in 1981
or 1982.

In January 1983, he received an assessment
notice and found that the lease had been classi-
fied as residential. Since the agricultural lease
was being used as part of his ranching opera-
tions, it qualified for farm classification but the
Assessement Authority advised him that it was
too late to apply for farm classification for 1983
because he had missed the December 31, 1982
deadline.

My staff discussed the matter with the Area As-
sessor who agreed that the complainant could
not possibly have known that the property would
be classified as residential and had been unable
to appeal the classification in time. The Area
Assessor authorized a supplementary assess-
ment which changed the classification from resi-
dential to farm use. (CS 83-159)

When is a farm not a farm?

A couple complained to me that the Assessment
Authority had unfairly denied them farm classi-
fication on their property for the year 1982,

When they acquired the property late in 1979,
they also owned a smaller lot on which farm
classification had been granted. Their request
that farm status be extended to the new lotfor the
year 1980 was rejected because the land was not
in farm use at that time. After discussing the
matter with Assessment Authority officials, the
complainants established a development plan
for the new lot and in the fall of 1980 applied for
classification of the new lot as an ‘emerging and
developing’ farm.

This application was approved, and the new lot
was given farm classification for 1981. Late that
year, the Assessment Authority inspected their
new farm operation and on the basis of that
inspection rejected farm classification for 1982.
The complainants felt that this rejection was un-
fair and came to us.

After reviewing the case, | could not agree with
the complainants. The development plan they
had filed in November of 1980 specified a
number of steps they intended to take in 1981
and in each of the succeeding four years to de-
velop the new lot as a farm. Yet the inspection
conducted in the fall of 1981 showed that there
had been no production on and no use made of
the new lot. In my view, since they had not
followed their development plan, the Assess-
ment Authority had acted correctly in rejecting
their application for the following year.
(CS 83-160)




Three years nothing and then, whammo

In 1980, a young woman moved to a new home
and notified the Assessment Authority of her
change of address but she never received her
1980 assessment and tax notices.

Wanting to avoid penalties and interest charges
for late payment of taxes, the woman contacted
local Assessment Authority officials again and
again to remind them of her address change.

For more than three years she kept phoning and
writing, phoning and writing — to no avail. The
Assessment Authority always responded with
polite reassurances but never with delivery of
assessment notices. Finally, in mid-1982, she
discovered that the Assessment Authority still
listed her name under the old address. It was not
until 1983 that she received all her assessment
and tax notices. By this time penalties and inter-
est charges had accumulated and the application
deadline for the home owner grant had expired.
The woman was presented with a bill of more
than $1,000.

To add insult to injury, she also received a for-
feiture notice on the property for failure to pay
taxes. At this point, the woman came to my
office, complaining that the penalty and interest
were unfair and that the home owner grant ap-
plication deadlines should have been extended.

My investigator discussed the matter with the
Assessment Authority, which was immediately
willing to accept responsibility for the error. The
Surveyor of Taxes forgave the penalty and inter-
est charges and extended the application
deadline.

The woman received the homeowner grants and
paid the revised outstanding amount of about
$200. Forfeiture action was withdrawn and the
matter was resolved. The only thing left to say is
that shortly after, the woman courageously
moved once more to a new address. (CS 83-161)

Complainant missed deadline for appeal

| received a complaint from a man who wanted
to appeal both his 1982 and his 1983
assessments.

Just as his 1982 assessment notice arrived, his
son had become seriously ill and required a lot of
attention. Although he felt the assessment was
too high, he missed the appeal deadline because
of the family difficulties. His 1983 assessed val-
ues were similarly high but when he wanted to
appeal both the 1982 and the 1983 assessments,
he was advised that the court of revision would
review only the current year’s assessment.

After a number of discussions with the Area
Assessor we realized that a field card, which
contained the information on his property, had
been missing for some time. It was not clear what
information the Assessment Authority had used
as the basis of its 1982 assessment of his prop-
erty. The Assessment Authority reinspected the
property and found that in 1982, it had been
assessed as if it were a zone-conforming prop-
erty, when in fact, it was non-conforming.

This information was passed on to the taxing
authority in the complainant’s municipality,
which could then consider adjusting his tax ac-
count. (CS 83-162)

Assessment adjusted after home
burned down

A woman whose home was destroyed by fire on
August 4, 1980, complained that the Assessment
Authority had not taken this fact into considera-
tion when it assessed her property.

She brought along copies of her assessment
notices which showed that in 1981, after the
home had been burned, a building was valued at
$24,450.00. On the basis of this assessment, the
municipality had sent her a tax bill for 1981 for
$586.25.

The Area Assessor told us that he had not been
aware of any fire and promised to do what he
could to correct the error, if the complainant
could provide him with a written document
proving that the house had burned down in
1980. The taxing municipality subsequently as-
sured her that the mistake would be corrected
and the tax bill adjusted. (CS 83-163)

No persecution indicated

A complainant who owns some rental property
had received a letter from the Assessment Au-
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in 1979 that his 1974 injury mightever become a
problem again and that, therefore, he had not
falsified his application form and certainly was
not deliberate about it. After all, he had worked
as an oiler trainee and probationary oiler for
about four years without problems. Also, he had
been under the impression that when his Work-
ers’ Compensation benefits ended, the Workers’
Compensation Board considered him fully re-
covered and able to work.

When nobody at the Corporation was willing to
talk to him, he filed a grievance with the union
but got no help. He saw a lawyer and found out
that all he could do was complain to the Labour
Relations Board about the union’s failure to help
him. The lawyer asked him for a $1,000 retainer
to start proceedings but because he was unem-
ployed, he did not have $1,000.

Not until 1982, did the complainant hear that
there is an Ombudsman who can investigate
complaints such as his and in December of that
year, he came to me. | investigated and found the
complaint substantiated.

1 recommended that the Corporaton reinstate the
complainantin his job. After a lot of writing back
and forth, | met with the Chairman of the Board
of the Corporation. He agreed that the the man
should be reinstated and be given three years’
seniority, provided he was medically fit for work
and the union agreed to the reinstatement.

No such luck. Instead of agreeing to the arrange-
ment, the union filed a policy grievance. The
unjon’s rationale was that, if there is a permanent
job available, people already working for B.C.
Ferry should have first crack at it. The union also
did not want the complainant to get seniority.

My staff talked to union officials a number of
times. Earlier on, | had advised the complainant
to also complain to the Labour Relations Board
about the union, and a Labour Relations Board
investigation had, at this point, been in progress
for some time. On withdrawal of the L.R.B. ac-
tion the union finally agreed to the complainant’s
reinstatement, including his seniority. On
November 1, 1983, the complainant went back
to a job with the B.C. Ferry Corporation.
(CS 83-165)

Broken ankle cuts short holiday

The owner of a shop in the Okanagan phoned
my office on behalf of a German couple who
were touring western Canada, using Edmonton
as their base.

They had booked and paid for a ferry trip from
Port Hardy to Prince Rupert. Five days before the

planned trip the husband fell and injured his
ankle. When they told the Edmonton travel agent
that the husband would have to spend two or
three days in hospital and would be in no con-
dition to travel, they were informed that the B.C.
Ferry Corporation would refund only half of the
$185 fare.

The shop owner who had phoned us felt that
British Columbia ought to do better than that for
its tourists. She also pointed out that the couple
would have to cut their holiday short because of
large medical bills. Their insurance could not be
claimed until they returned to Germany.

B.C. Ferry officials were very sympathetic. Even
though according to the Corporation’s tariff a full
refund is made only with 30 days’ notice, they
agreed to bend this rule as long as they received
confirmation of the medical emergency. Be-
cause the refund had to go through the travel
agent the couple did not get their refund until
they were back home in Berlin. (CS 83-166)

Publisher taken for (ferry) ride

A small company which publishes a magazine
contracted to run four advertisements for B.C.
Ferry, one in each of its quarterly editions. The
first one was paid promptly when a statement of
the account was submitted.

The problem began with the second bill. For
several months the publisher just sent a monthly
statement. Six months went by, the third adver-
tisement had been published, but no payment
was received. The publisher began to add inter-
est to the amount owed. Eventually she received
a letter from the Corporation stating that no bill
could be paid on the basis of a statement. The
Corporation needed an invoice and would also
like a copy of the contract for the ads because it
could not find one in its own files.

The publisher provided the invoice and a copy of
the contract and got her money two months later,
but without interest for the nearly ten-month
delay. She continued the battle on her own for
nearly another year, before complaining to me.
She felt interest was due because there was no
rational explanation why the payment was late.
The debt was not disputed, nor was the quality of
the service she had provided. No one had told
Ker at the outset to submit an invoice, rather than
a statement.

On my recommendation the Corporation agreed

to pay the interest which came to $180.
(CS 83-167)
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Woman happy with compromise

A woman complained that 1.C.B.C. refused to
renew her insurance coverage unless she reim-
bursed the Corporation approximately $5,000,
the amount it had paid the other party to an
accident for which my complainant had been
responsible.

The woman said her insurance had expired at
midnight on the day before the accident, and
although she agreed that the accident had been
her fault, she felt that |.C.B.C. should extend
coverage for a few days after the expiry of her
policy. She pointed out that she had not received
her renewal notice, and that all other types of
insurance permit a period of grace from the pol-
icy expiry date unless a renewal notice has been
sent to the insured.

The Regulation, however, states that it is incum-
bent on an insured to renew his or her 1.C.B.C.
policy, even if no renewal notice has been
received.

On further investigation, we found that |.C.B.C.
had failed to notify the woman of the Corpora-
tion’s intention to recover the $5,000 from her, as
required by the Insurance (Motor Vehicle) Act.

Although 1.C.B.C. refused to waive the debt, |
was able to persuade the Corporation to accept
50 percent of the amount owing as full settle-
ment on the grounds that [.C.B.C. had erred in
not sending the statutory notice to my
complainant.

The woman was quite willing to agree to the
settlement and accepted the compromise.
(CS 83-183)

Look Ma, no licence

In 1981, a foolish young lad of 15 took his
father’s car without permission. The inex-
perienced, uninsured and unlicenced driver had
an accident, reducing the car to a total wreck.
I.C.B.C. paid the father’s claim but later tried to
recover the amount from the son.

More than two years later, the Motor Vehicle
Branch refused to replace the young man'’s lost
driver’s licence because |.C.B.C.s records

showed a large outstanding debt. This promptec
his complaint to the Ombudsman.

If 1.C.B.C. pays a claim which results from the
negligence of an uninsured driver, the Corpora-
tion is subrogated, that is, 1.C.B.C. is substituted
to the policy holder’s right to sue the negligent
person. This gives |.C.B.C. the right to take legal
action against the uninsured driver for recovery
of the money it has paid out.

In this case, an examination of the records
showed that the Corporation had failed to initiate
a legal action within the statutory time limit of
two years from the date of the accident. 1.C.B.C.
wrote off the entire amount. (CS 83-184)

Rights more clearly defined

| received a complaint concerning a statement in
1.C.B.C.s demand letter that the Corporation
could “deny any claim for loss or damages to a
vehicle insured under policies in your name.” |
reviewed the sections in the Insurance (Motor
Vehicle) Act Regulation and found that |.C.B.C.
is not authorized to deny claims of policy holders
where a debt is owing, but has the more limited
right to offset a debt against any claims settle-
ment payable to an insured.

In response to my enquiry, I.C.B.C. advised me
that the billing letter which was the subject of the
complaint was no longer being used, and had
been replaced with a billing notice which would
state that 1.C.B.C. could recover the amount of
the debt directly from a claims settlement. In
view of the proposed change, | considered the
complaint resolved and closed my investigation.

A few months later, | heard from another person
who had received the same letter that had trig-
gered the first complaint. This complainant
questioned 1.C.B.C/s authority to deny any fu-
ture claims which he might have, even though
the amount payable under a future claim may
exceed the amount of his debt.

Once again we contacted I.C.B.C. 1 was an-
noyed when | learned that my two complainants
had received letters from different departments
of the Corporation, and that, although the Cus-
tomer Service Department had changed its form
letter, the Collections Department had not.

After alerting 1.C.B.C. to the problem, | was
assured that the Collections Department form
letter would be altered in the same way, and |
considered the second complaint resolved as
well. (CS 83-185)

No authority to collect this debt

A young man complained that I.C.B.C. would
not allow him to renew his insurance, unless he
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first paid his debt of $397. That was the amount it
had cost to repair the damage to a car, which
I.C.B.C alleged, he and some friends had van-
dalized and the driver of which he had assaulted.

My complainant had been convicted of assault
in connection with the incident, and one of his
friends had been convicted of vandalism.

The young man stated that he had in no way been
responsible for the damage to the vehicle and felt
that 1.C.B.C. should not be billing him for the
damage. Although | was not very sympathetic
towards the complainant, | questioned 1.C.B.Cs
authority to take collection action on a debt
without first obtaining a judgment, particularly
since the complainant was not a policy holder at
the time of the accident.

After considering the issue for approximately
five months, the Corporation agreed that it did
not have the authority to collect this debt, and
the man was permitted to renew his insurance.
(CS 83-186)

Chance to dispute was denied

A complainant had been involved in an accident
in 1980, as a result of which he was charged and
convicted of an offence under the Criminal Code
of Canada. Under the Insurance (Motor Vehicle)
Act Regulation, the conviction amounted to an
automatic breach of his insurance contract and
the Corporation was empowered to seek recov-
ery of costs paid out for damages and injuries
resulting from the accident.

The Act states that when the Corporation has the
right to recover costs, it must notify the person by
registered mail, and that person then has the
opportunity to dispute the Corporation’s
position.

Because my complainant was related to an
I.C.B.C. employee, the Corporation had fol-
lowed its usual policy of placing the matter in the
hands of an independent adjuster. By the time
the complainant contacted me in 1983 about a
bill he had received from I.C.B.C. for several
thousand dollars, the independent adjuster’s file
had been destroyed.

When | discovered that the independent adjuster
had talked to my complainant but had not noti-
fied him in accordance with the Act, | found the
complaint substantiated. As there were no
grounds on which to dispute the man’s convic-
tion and breach, | did not make a recommenda-
tion in this regard.

Since too much time had passed, he had lost the
right to commence legal action. Thus my sub-
stantiation of the complaint served only to stress,
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once again, that the Corporation must follow
proper procedures. (CS 83-187)

With malice aforethought

A man complained to me after a motorist, who
was unknown to him, intentionally damaged his
fence by driving his vehicle into it, not once but
twice, fortunately failing to hit it on his third
attempt.

1.C.B.C. told my complainant on the telephone
that the Corporation could not accept his claim
because the damage had resulted from a crimi-
nal act, not an accident.

This information was wrong. Whether the
damage was deliberate or accidental, my com-
plainant suffered a loss as a result of the opera-
tion of a motor vehicle and was, therefore, pro-
tected under the Insurance (Motor Vehicle) Act.
When we pointed out the error, the claim centre
paid the claim promptly. (CS 83-188)

Pay up or we won't fix your car

| received two similar complaints almost simul-
taneously. In both cases, a Lower Mainland
Claim Centre had refused to process claims be-
cause in each instance a member of the claim-
ant’s family owed money to 1.C.B.C. This over-
zealous approach to debt-collecting was the re-
sult of a misinterpretation of Corporation policy.
The refusal to accept these claims was contrary
to law. I.C.B.C. is not authorized to collect from
policy holders money owed by other members of
the family. Relatives of policy holders are not
liable for I.C.B.C. debts of the policy holder,
except when a vehicle has been transferred from
one family member to another for the purpose of
evading the debt. Both complaints were resolved
within an hour or two, and the claims were
accepted. (CS 83-189)

You can’t do that

I received a complaint that |.C.B.C. had refused
to settle the claim of an insured vehicle owner
because at the time of the accident the vehicle
was being driven by her son who owed money to
I.C.B.C. for penalty point premiums.

| found that I.C.B.C. had no authority to collect
from the vehicle owner a debt owed by the
driver, unless ownership of the vehicle has been
transferred from the driver to the owner to avoid
the debt.

In this case the complainant’s son had never
owned the vehicle. |.C.B.C. agreed with me that
it was improper to collect the debt from the
owner and her claim was settled. (CS 83-190)



We do it all for you

A woman complained that an I.C.B.C. adjuster
treated her rudely after she gave him a brand new
calculator and $19 to take his children to a fast-
food restaurant,

My investigator contacted an |.C.B.C. manager
who promised to look into the situation. He
could establish no evidence of rudeness on the
part of the adjuster which | found hardly surpris-
ing, considering that his allegedly rude remarks
were made over the phone. The adjuster said he
had accepted the calculator and the money at
the woman’s insistance, adding that he had la-
belled and stored them in his desk for two years
with the intention of returning them to the
woman after her claim was settled. Unfor-
tunately, he forgot to return the gifts.

The Corporation’s policy forbids employees to
accept presents when this would give the ap-
pearance of impropriety, and the adjuster re-
turned the presents after his manager brought the
matter to light. Although the calculator was a
little worse for wear and the money was returned
in different denominations, my complainant did
not wish to press the matter further.

| discontinued my investigation but not before
informing the president of the Corporation of the
incident and suggesting that he clarify the Cor-
poration’s policy on the subject of accepting
gifts. (CS 83-191)

The difference between some and most

A woman complained to me when I.C.B.C. stop-
ped paying her housewife disability benefits de-
spite her continuing inability to perform her
household duties.

In terminating the woman's benefits the Corpora-
tion had relied on medical reports which stated
that she was able to do “some” of her house-
work. | pointed out to the Corporation that the
woman was entitled to receive benefits until she
could perform “most” of her household tasks.
The Corporation’s decision to terminate her ben-
efits was not based on adequate medical support
in my opinion.

I recommended that the Corporation request a
report from the woman’s doctor about her con-
dition. The Corporation contacted the doctor
who confirmed that the woman was still unable

to perform most of her work. On the strength of
this information, the Corporation continued pay-
ing the benefits. (CS 83-192)

More of the same

When another housewife also complained about
1.C.B.C/s decision to cut off her disability bene-
fits while she was still unable to do housework, 1
realized that the Corporation’s adjusters were
having difficulty interpreting the standard set by
the Regulation, namely that housewives be paid
benefits for as long as they are “substantially and
continuously disabled from performing regularly
most of (their) household tasks and duties”.

Although it did not look like I.C.B.C. had erred
in terminating this woman’s benefits based on
the available medical evidence, | nevertheless
recommended that 1.C.B.C. develop a policy
guaranteeing the consistent application of the
Regulation regarding housewife disability
benefits.

The Corporation accepted my recommendation
and will be distributing a bulletin instructing
adjusters to ask the attending physician for a
report addressing the standard specifically set
out in the Regulation. (CS 83-193)

Sloppy practices

When a vehicle is extensively damaged in an
accident, 1.C.B.C. must decide whether to write
it off or to repair it, selecting the least expensive
option after determining the pre-damage value
of the vehicle, the salvage price of the damaged
vehicle, and the cost of repairs.

If 1.C.B.C. decides to have the vehicle repaired,
the Corporation often stipulates that the body
shop do all repairs at a set contract price to
ensure that the cost of repairs does not exceed
the difference between the pre-damage value of
the vehicle and its salvage price. 1.C.B.C. ex-
pects all hidden as well as apparent accident-
related damage to be repaired for the contract
price.

The complainant in this case came to me after his
vehicle had been repaired for a contract price.
He was dissatisfied with the body work and the
mechanical repairs to his vehicle. .C.B.C. had
allowed a small increase in the contract price to
persuade the repair shop to improve the body
work but refused to further indemnify the com-
plainant for additional expenses he incurred in
an unsuccessful effort to make the vehicle driv-
eable. My complainant was told that he should
sue the repair shop because it had agreed to
repair all accident-related damage for the con-
tract price.
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I found that 1.C.B.C. did not use a special docu-
ment for contract price repairs. The contract
price was merely scrawled on the face of the
estimate. | questioned whether the complainant
could successfully sue the repair shop for unre-
paired hidden damage on the basis of an esti-
mate form which made no reference to hidden
damage. | recommended to I.C.B.C. that the
Corporation provide a supplementary estimate
to indemnify my complainant for the repairs
required to restore his vehicle to its pre-accident
condition. | also recommended that 1.C.B.C.
prepare a proper contract price document.

1.C.B.C. disagreed that a special contract docu-
ment was necessary. The Corporation did,
however, issue a bulletin instructing its field em-
ployees to explain fully the nature of the contract
price agreement to vehicle owners who were
having their vehicles repaired under such an
agreement.

Eventually, I.C.B.C. agreed to provide a supple-
mentary estimate to cover the cost of the addi-
tional and necessary repairs to my complainant’s
vehicle. (CS 83-194)

The white rabbit syndrome

With no prior warning to its customer, 1.C.B.C.
withdrew a finance contract instalment from my
complainant’s bank account. The withdrawal
was made many months after the scheduled
date, and reduced his balance to a few cents.

The finance contract does allow the Corporation
to make withdrawals after the scheduled date.
I.C.B.C. had, therefore, no way to undo the
damage but I was still concerned that excessively
late withdrawals, with no prior warning, could
cause hardship to many other customers and
tentatively recommended that 1.C.B.C. send a
written warning to customers when it planned
withdrawals more than three months after the
scheduled date.

The Corporation did not accept this recommen-
dation and instead proposed a new procedure
which would prevent any excessively late auto-
matic withdrawals. Billing statements would be
sent to customers whose payments had not been
withdrawn. This procedure is now in place. | will
monitor the situation by way of complaints re-
ceived, but it will affect a dwindling number of
customers, because the Corporation is not
providing financing of premiums in 1984.
(CS 83-195)
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They split the difference

I investigated two complaints about unreasona-
ble interest charges levied by I.C.B.C. against
motorists who had paid their insurance pre-
miums in instalments.

In each case, the complainant’s debt was caused
by the Corporation’s failure to withdraw the ap-
propriate instalment finance note from the com-
plainant’s bank account. The problem had arisen
because of the difficulties created by the 1981
strike.

It wasn’t until 1982 that the complainants were
informed of their debt and were billed for more
than a year’s interest. Both of them felt this was
unfair, and said they would have made arrange-
ments to pay the debt, had they been notified
earlier. Both complainants had moved, and the
notification had apparently been sent to the
wrong address.

One of the complainants had even given the
Corporation a change of address form and had
subsequently received other Corporation docu-
ments but, at the time, change of address infor-
mation was not transferred from one department
of the Corporation to another. That problem has
now been overcome by the installation of a new
computer system which provides the same data
base to all departments.

One complainant had been charged interest to-
talling $50, the other was charged $28. Since
both had collected interest on their money while
it remained in their bank accounts, | suggested a
compromise which was accepted by both com-
plainants and 1.C.B.C. The Corporation reduced
the bill for the interest charges to half.
(CS 83-196)

Reimbursed for high interest

| received a complaint from a man whose motor
cycle was damaged beyond repair by another
driver during the I.C.B.C. strike in 1981,

Unable to settle his claim with 1.C.B.C. at that
time, the man was forced to borrow money at an
interest rate of 22 percent to replace his motor-
cycle. Seven months later, the man received
compensation from |.C.B.C. for the value of his
motor cycle but the Corporation refused to reim-
burse him for the interest on the money he had to
borrow to replace his motor cycle.

We investigated his complaint and concluded
that1.C.B.C. could reasonably have foreseen the
effects of a prolonged strike on claims against its
policy holders. | concluded that the Corporation
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was acting oppressively in refusing to consider
the man’s claim for interest payments and in
insisting that his only recourse would be to sue
the driver of the vehicle responsible for the acci-
dent. | also considered it unreasonable that
I.C.B.C. had not set up a mechanism for hand-
ling claims of this type during the strike.

1.C.B.C. finally agreed to pay the complainant
the interest incurred during the strike.
(CS 83-197)

Effects of strike still lingered

A man complained to me that his car had been
vandalised shortly after the conclusion of the
I.C.B.C. strike in the fall of 1981. Although the
man immediately registered a claim at an
1.C.B.C. claim centre, he did not get an appoint-
ment until approximately one month later. Dur-
ing this time, the man’s car was undriveable and
his efforts to meet with an adjuster prior to his
appointment date were unsuccessful.

After investigating this complaint, | concluded
that 1.C.B.C. unreasonably delayed estimating
the damage to the complainant’s car. | was also
critical of 1.C.B.C. for not continuing its special
strike provisions for some time after the strike, in
view of the fact that a backlog should have been
anticipated and steps taken to give priority to
claims for undriveable vehicles.

Based on the fact that the man’s car was not in
use for approximately one month, | recom-
mended that I.C.B.C. give the man a rebate on
his third party liability coverage, equal to one
twelfth of his annual premium.

In spite of the small amount of money involved in
my recommendation, 1.C.B.C. at first refused to
co-operate and maintained that the Corporation
had done its best to process claims as quickly as
possible after the strike. Finally, 1.C.B.C. agreed
to refund $13 to the complainant, based on the
particular facts of his complaint, and on the
understanding that the decision would not be
cited as an example in the future. (CS 83-198)
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Getting their acts together

I received a complaint from a man who had been
involved in a car accident in which his daughter
suffered a spinal injury for which she required
regular chiropractic treatment for a month fol-
lowing the accident.

Unfortunately, the man had failed to apply for
no-fault benefits, which would have covered the
treatments not covered by medical insurance. By
the time he came to us, the one-year time limit
for applying for benefits on behalf of his daugh-
ter had expired.

Many limitation periods for commencing legal
actions are governed by the provisions of the
Limitation Act. This Act provides that the usual
time period for commencing an action does not
begin to run until the person who is entitled to
make the claim has reached the age of majority.
The provisions of this Act, however, did not ap-
ply to the girl’s situation because the Insurance
(Motor Vehicle) Act Regulation sets out a specific
limitation period which does not allow for the
suspension of the limitation period until an indi-
vidual attains majority.

Although it appeared that there was no legal
solution to the complainant’s problem, all was
not lost yet for the injured daughter. The Limita-
tion Act did apply to her right to sue the driver of
the vehicle responsible for the accident. | re-
ferred her case to the Public Trustee for follow-
up, and continued my investigation into the ab-
solute one-year limitation period for accident
benefits.

When | recommended that I.C.B.C. amend the
limitation period set out in its Regulation to con-
form to the Limitation Act, 1.C.B.C. responded
by increasing the limitation period from one year
to two years. Even though this change was an
improvement, it fell short of my recommenda-
tion concerning the suspension of the limitation
period for minors and other persons under legal
disability.

In the meantime, 1.C.B.C. has advised me that it
intends to seek an amendment to the Insurance
(Motor Vehicle) Act which will bring all limita-
tion periods into line with the Limitation Act. |
will continue to monitor the situation until these
recommendations have been implemented.
(CS 83-199)

Moving in the right direction

In my 1982 Annual Report, | discussed my con-
cern over I.C.B.C/’s use of a short-rate table in
calculating refunds to policy holders on can-
cellation of a motor vehicle policy.

I found at the time that |.C.B.C. retained approx-
imately 10 per cent of the total premium to cover
administrative costs, and, in addition, retained 4
percent of the premium for each 15 days or less
that the coverage was in effect before cancella-
tion. 1 also found that 1.C.B.C. would only re-
fund a maximum of 86 percent of a policy
holder’s premium, even if the cancellation took
place one day after the purchase of the policy.

I notified 1.C.B.C. of my intention to recommend
that the Corporation amend its regulation, aban-
don the short-rate cancellation table, and calcu-
late cancellation refunds on a daily basis, after
deducting the appropriate percentage of the pre-
mium for administrative costs. My proposed rec-
ommendations were based on my finding that
the system used by I.C.B.C. was improperly dis-
criminatory because it forced policy holders
who had cancelled their policies to subsidize the
Corporation.

I.C.B.C. has now advised me that, as of January
1, 1984, the 15 day rate periods have been re-
duced to four-day periods, thereby moving to-
wards my recommendation that refunds be cal-
culated on a daily basis. Previously, the
difference between rate periods was 4 percent.
This has now been reduced to one per cent. The
maximum 86 percent refund on cancellation has
now been increased to 89 per cent.

| am pleased that 1.C.B.C. is moving towards a
more equitable cancellation refund system.
(CS 83-200)

Disability benefits not indexed

The Ombudsman Act entitles me to conduct
investigations on my own initiative. Pursuant to
this authority, 1 decided to investigate the fact
that accident or “no fault” benefits paid to an
insured who is injured in a motor vehicle acci-
dent are not indexed in any way to provide for
the rising cost of living.

1 was particularly concerned about the fact that
individuals who were injured in motor vehicle
accidents prior to 1977 are still receiving only
$50 a week if they remain totally disabled, al-
though those disabled after January 1980 receive
$100 per week for the same level of disability.

in response to my enquiries, the Corporation
stated that the benefits reflect the premiums the
individuals had actually paid. In other words,
since premiums were much lower priorto 1977,



those injured at that time would be entitled to a
smaller weekly payment than those injured
when premiums were higher. | considered the
Corporation’s position but felt that, in the ab-
sence of an indexing system for accident bene-
fits, the purpose behind the creation of these
provisions was being eroded, particularly in
cases of long-term disability.

My proposed recommendation was that the Reg-
ulation be amended so that all total disability
benefits be brought to the current level for recent
disabilities. 1.C.B.C. reiterated its position that
the Corporation operates on the basis of funded
liability, and that indexing of benefits of future
payments to disabled individuals would not be
quantifiable at the time premiums were as-
sessed. The Corporation also offered to ask its
actuary to study the impact of indexing weekly
benefits. To facilitate a more informed dialogue
about the impact of revising the regulations, |
requested that this study be undertaken and that
1.C.B.C. notify me of the results.

Unfortunately I.C.B.C!s actuary left the Corpo-
ration shortly after my recommendation was
made, and the study was not undertaken.
I.C.B.C. stated that, in its view, the motoring
public would resist any move to index no fault
benefits as these payments are primarily made to
individuals who do not have the right to sue
another driver for the results of an accident.

The Corporation also pointed out that my recom-
mendation touched on the issue of no-fault com-
pensation versus the traditional tort system and
that this subject was currently being considered
by the Automobile Accident Compensation
Committee and by the Government. | decided to
accept the Corporation’s position that it would
not implement any policy changes to the acci-
dent benefits scheme, in view of possible
changes that might result from the Committee’s
report. | learned that the Committee report also
recommended an increase in accident benefit
payments. (CS 83-201)

I.C.B.C. smashes glass scheme

When |.C.B.C. and some glass repair shops were
engaged in their glass discount war, | was caught
in the cross fire.

By agreement with the glass shops, |.C.B.C. paid
a set tariff for windshield replacements. Under
the Autoplan scheme, vehicle owners paid a $50
deductible and 1.C.B.C. paid the balance of the
windshield tariff. To attract new customers, some
shops began offering discounts on the price of
windshield replacements but since reducing
|.C.B.C/s share of the cost would do nothing to
attract new clients, they offered discounts on the
customer’s deductible. Fearing that windshield
claims would escalate at great expense to the
Corporation, 1.C.B.C. reacted negatively to the
scheme and instituted a policy of decreasing
payments to glass shops in areas where dis-
counts were being offered. The reduction in pay-
ment to the glass shops was at least equal to the
discounts they offered.

When | received a complaint from a glass shop
that1.C.B.C/s practice was oppressive and unfair
to businesses attempting to engage in healthy
price competition, | initiated an investigation
into the matter.

The requirement that a policy holder must pay a
certain portion of a claim known as the deduct-
ible is a basic tenet of the insurance business.
I.C.B.C. is empowered by law to pay claims
subject to the deductible amounts. The purpose
of the deductible is to discourage claims by re-
quiring a contribution from the claimant.

|.C.B.C. argued that it was improper for the glass
shops to discount the deductible required by
law. | agreed with the Corporation and found the
complaint not substantiated. (CS 83-202)

System wrong, not 1.C.B.C.

I received a complaint from a man who had been
permanently crippled when he was run down by
an off duty taxi cab driver who had mistaken him
for someone else. The injured man’s claim was
settled in 1980 for approximately $57,500, of
which $24,000 was paid to lawyers and cred-
itors. The remaining amount was used by the
man to complete the construction of his partly
finished home, since he was no longer able to do
the work himself.

Three years later, the man was considered unem-
ployable as a result of his injuries. He had no
means to support his wife and four children.
Although he had worked for the Indian Band
Council prior to his injury, the job which he had
held was no longer available to him as his
qualifications were no longer considered
adequate.

My investigation concluded that I.C.B.C. was
not guilty of any wrongdoing in its handling of
the man’s claim. But | asked 1.C.B.C. President
Thomas Holmes to take a second look at the case
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with a view to providing retraining assistance to
my complainant.

In his response to me, Mr. Holmes cited the
report of the Automobile Accident Compensa-
tion Committee as identifying imperfections in
the system for compensating victims of motor
vehicle accidents. He stated that this man’s case
was an example of the imperfection of that
system.

Mr. Holmes advised me that it would not be
appropriate to substitute a “No Fault” system in
compensating my complainant merely because
the tort system had not provided adequate com-
pensation for him.

As there were no grounds for making a formal
recommendation to I.C.B.C., | took no further
steps in this case. (CS 83-203)

Corporation acted fairly

The owner of a fleet of motor vehicles incurred
debts of more than $13,000 when the company
he had leased the vehicles to defaulted in its
insurance premium payments to I.C.B.C. He
complained that he should not be held liable for
the debt of another company, one which was
completely unrelated to his own company. The
debt imposed on him by 1.C.B.C. threatened to
force him into bankruptcy.

I.C.B.C. pointed out that both the vehicle owner
and the fleet operator were responsible for fleet
insurance premiums under the Insurance (Motor
Vehicle) Act. The Corporation argued that this
provision was necessary to cope with un-
scrupulous fleet owners who could close down
the lease company and withdraw the vehicles,
leaving |.C.B.C. with an uncollectable insur-
ance account. My investigator then discovered
that the complainant had been a principal in the
lease company which had incurred the debt to
I.C.B.C. He had withdrawn himself and his vehi-
cles from the company when it encountered
financial difficulties.

In the circumstances, | concluded that I.C.B.C.
had acted fairly when it held both fleet operator
and vehicle owner responsible for the insurance
debt. The complaint was not substantiated.
(CS 83-204)

Tow goes wrong, driver is nailed

A motorist owned two motor vehicles, one of
which was not in working condition. He pur-
chased an operating permit and temporary insur-
ance for $12 from 1.C.B.C. in order to move the
inoperable vehicle. While he was towing the
vehicle, the tow bar on the automobile he drove
sheared and the vehicle he was towing went out
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of control and smashed into a road-side prop-
erty, causing some damage.

I.C.B.C. paid the property owner’s claim from
the insurance on the tow vehicle.

The motorist complained to me that the con-
sequent loss of his Safe Driver Vehicle Discount
on the functional vehicle was unfair because
.C.B.C. should have met the claim from the
insurance on the disabled vehicle. The loss of the
discount on that vehicle’s insurance would have
been minimal.

1.C.B.C. argued that the temporary insurance on
the disabled vehicle provided coverage only if
that vehicle caused damage while not attached
to another vehicle. If, for instance, the disabled
vehicle had been badly parked and rolled out of
control, its insurance coverage would have paid
for any resulting damages.

The Corporation cited the Regulation to the In-
surance (Motor Vehicle) Act as legislative au-
thority for satisfying the home owner’s claim
from the insurance on the vehicle which had
towed the other vehicle.

While | sympathized with the complainant for
the loss of his Safe Driving Vehicle Discount, |
was unable to conclude that I.C.B.C. had acted
unfairly. | found the complaint not substantiated.
(CS 83-205)

Hit it again, Sam

In 1981 a woman was involved in a heated dis-
pute with two other people. After she was phys-
ically assaulted, she left the premises, got into
her car and hit the vehicles of the two other
participants in the dispute.

The damage to the vehicles of the third parties
was covered but 1.C.B.C. refused to cover the
damage to the complainant’s vehicle. The reason
provided was that the complainant’s actions
were intentional. That meant the damage did not
result from an accident and was not covered by
her insurance policy.

The complainant denied that her actions were
intentional. She stated that she was emotionally
upset and not aware of what she was doing at the
time.

My investigator spoke to the Constable who was
invoived in the investigation of the case. He
stated that shortly after the accident he had had
discussion with the complainant who admitted
that she had been angry following the altercation
in the house. According to the police officer, she
stated that she initially hit one of the vehicles
accidentally. Because it felt so good, she ram-
med it a few more times.



She then saw the other person’s truck in the drive-
way and hit it several times. The Constable stated
that when he spoke to the complainant she ap-
peared regretful but was very straight-forward in
her recital of the facts. She did not appear to be
under the influence of drugs or alcohol and was
quite aware of what she was saying.

Although the complainant denied making any
such a statements to the police officer, there
appeared to be no reason to doubt the officer’s
credibility. 1 concluded that based on the avail-
able evidence, 1.C.B.C/s decision was reason-
able. | did not substantiate the complaint.
(CS 83-2006)

Camper theft not covered

A complainant operated a business selling trail-
ers. From March 1979 to 1980 the complainant
was insured under an I.C.B.C. comprehensive
garage policy. In 1979 a trailer he had sold was
stolen from his lot before the purchaser could
take possession of it. The trailer had been sitting
on jacks outside the main business premises.

The complainant relied on his coverage with
I.C.B.C. and gave the purchaser a replacement
camper. In March 1980, I.C.B.C. refused the
complainant’s claim for approximately $5,600.
The complainant commenced a law suit against
1.C.B.C. and his insurance agent. He settled with
his insurance agent for the sum of $2,800 and
did not proceed with his law suit against .C.B.C.

He anticipated recovering the balance of his loss
from the proceeds of a law suit the purchaser had
initiated against his insurance company. But the
purchaser lost his law suit and the complainant
was never compensated for his full loss. The
complainant felt he should have been compen-
sated by I.C.B.C. for the theft of the camper from
his trailer lot.

I concluded that the complainant’s comprehen-
sive garage policy did not extend to a loss which
resulted from the theft of a camper that was
detached from a motor vehicle and stood outside
the insured premises. The complainant had
coverage for customers’ motor vehicles but this
coverage did not extend to campers or canopies.
Since 1.C.B.Cs refusal to reimburse the com-
plainant for his loss was based on a proper inter-
pretation of his policy, | was not able to substanti-
ate the complaint. (CS 83-207)

This guy needs a haircut

While investigating a complaint against
I.C.B.C., one of my staff members noticed a
completed form on the complainant’s 1.C.B.C.
claim file in which the adjuster had rated him on
the basis of, among other things, his appearance,
dress, education, couth, and general attitude.

I immediately notified I.C.B.C. of my concern
about prejudicial and irrelevant information on a
claimant’s file and asked the Corporation to jus-
tify the use of this type of form.

Mr. Thomas Holmes, President of 1.C.B.C., re-
plied that the form was not used with the ap-
proval or knowledge of I.C.B.C., and that its use
would be discontinued forthwith. (CS 83-208)

Paint job not free

A woman was involved in a motor vehicle acci-
dent for which she was not to blame. When
I.C.B.C. charged her 25 percent of the cost of
repainting her vehicle because it was now that
much nicer than before the accident, she
brought her complaint to us. She also com-
plained that I.C.B.C. refused to pay for a number
of out-of-pocket expenses which she had incur-
red as a result of the accident.

| was able to convince I.C.B.C. to reduce its
charge for betterment to 15 percent. This was
viewed as a satisfactory resolution by the claim-
ant. 1 also succeeded in convincing the Corpora-
tion to compensate the woman for the out-of-
pocket expenses. (CS 83-209)

Ten cents on the dollar

This complainant had not had a driver’s licence
for some time but when he applied for a new
one, his application was rejected under a provi-
sion of the Motor Vehicle Act, according to
which the Superintendent may refuse to issue a
licence to a person who owes |.C.B.C. money.
The computer record showed a debt of $1,000
for Penalty Point Premiums.

Penalty Point Premiums are based on a person'’s
driving infractions as recorded by the Motor Ve-
hicle Branch, and the premiums are levied on
the premise that there is a correlation between a
driver’s convictions and a propensity to become
involved in motor vehicle accidents. The pre-
miums are payable to 1.C.B.C. if the driver has a
valid licence, and regardless of whether or not
he or she owns and insures a vehicle. Billings
extend over a three-year period, with three
points being deducted from each of the first two
years.

If, however, a driver’s licence has been sur-
rended voluntarily, premiums are not charged
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for the period of suspension or surrender. This
complainant’s licence had been surrendered for
almost three years, and when the billing was
prorated, his total debt was reduced to $100. He
paid 1.C.B.C and received his new licence.
(CS 83-210)

Premature disposal

A man’s vehicle had been badly damaged in an
accident, and he accepted [.C.B.C/s figure for
the total loss of the car. During discussions re-
garding the value of his car, he had signed a
salvage release form and was given written au-
thority to remove some personal belongings
from his car within a seven-day period.

When he went to the salvage yard, however, the
car had already been disposed of. 1.C.B.C. re-
fused to reimburse him for the value of his be-
longings, saying he had signed a release.

After my investigator pointed out that the con-
fusion appeared to originate with the Corpora-
tion, rather than with its customer, 1.C.B.C.
agreed to compensate him for his loss.
(CS 83-211)

Corporation honours agreement

A lawyer acting on behalf of an |I.C.B.C. policy
holder, who was suing the Corporation following
the denial of his vandalism claim, came to me
with a complaint.

The lawyer said she had discontinued her client’s
original action in County Court with the full
knowledge and consent of [.C.B.C/s lawyer and
recommenced the action in Small Claim Court
because the amount involved was under $2,000.
Much to her surprise, I.C.B.C. tried to defend the
action on the basis that the Small Claim Court
action was commenced more than two years
after the damage occurred and was, therefore,
statute barred.

1.C.B.C. told my investigator that the original
tawyer acting for the Corporation had indeed
agreed that the action be transferred to Small
Claim Court. There was, however, no record of a
discussion concerning the limitation date. In the
end, [.C.B.C. agreed to instruct its lawyer not to
use the limitation date as a defence to the action.

| passed along this undertaking to the lawyer and
she proceeded with her client’s case.
(CS 83-212)

Motorist keeps safe driving discount

A construction worker complained to me that he
lost his safe driver’s discount as a result of an
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accident caused by the negligence of a person
who had been driving his car without his
consent.

We researched the relevant law and found that, if
the owner did not know about or approve of the
use of his car by the driver responsible for the
accident, it would not be appropriate for
I.C.B.C. to revoke the owner’s safe driving
discount.

From the claim file it appeared that I.C.B.C. had
not fully investigated the issue of whether or not
the vehicle owner had authorized the driver to
use the car. The owner said he had lent his truck
to a friend, who had handed over the keys to
another person without his knowledge.

In view of the circumstances, | notified 1.C.B.C.
that the assessment of liability against the vehicle
owner may have been based on a mistake of law,
and that | was considering a recommendation
that his safe driving discount be refunded.

1.C.B.C. reconsidered its position and decided
to reinstate my complainant’s safe driving dis-
count. (CS 83-213)

Good guys don’t always finish last

Driving on the highway, a motorist saw that two
cars had just collided and both drivers were
badly injured.

He stopped to lend assistance and while doing
so his clothing sustained severe damage from
battery acid which was all over the ground as
well as in the hair of one of the injured persons.

When the good samaritan wanted |.C.B.C. to
reimburse him for his damaged clothing, the
Corporation took the position that damage to
property, such as buildings, land or shrubs,
would have been covered, but personal property
(clothing) was not.

In the course of investigating this complaint, |
came across the following description of a res-
cuer’s role:

“Danger invites rescue. The cry of distress is
the summons to relief. The law does not ignore
these reactions of the mind in tracing conduct
to its consequences. It recognizes them as
normal. It places their effects within the range
of the natural and probable. The wrong that
imperils life is a wrong to the imperilled vic-
tim; it is a wrong also to his rescuer . . . The
risk of rescue, if only it be not wanton, is born
of the occasion. The emergency begets the
man. The wrongdoer may not have foreseen
the comings of a deliverer. He is accountable
as if he had”. (Cardozo, J. in Wagner v. Interna-
tional R. Co. (1921), 232 N.Y. Rep.176)



(" BUT CON Y00 PROVE THE

DAMAGE TO JOUR JACKET
WAS CAUSED AT THE CAR
ACCIDENT®...

<
o

_

| asked the Corporation to consider thie motorist's
claim for the loss of his clothing in light of the
above principle. The Corporation subsequently
reimbursed the good samaritan for his losses.
(CS 83-214)

Snow plugs fan, engine seizes

A complainant who lives in Central B.C. was
driving home following a heavy snow storm
when a logging truck appeared on his side of the
road. To avoid being hit, he swerved off the road
and drove into a snow bank.

With the assistance of another motorist he was
able to pull his vehicle out of the snow bank. As
the vehicle appeared to be in good condition,
the man brushed off the snow and resumed his
journey. He had driven only a short distance
when his engine started to hesitate. When the oil
light flashed on, he stopped and checked the oil
level which appeared to be normal. He waited
for his engine to cool down and continued on his

way. A while later, the oil light flashed on again
and shortly thereafter his vehicle stopped mov-
ing. The driver discovered that the engine had
seized.

|.C.B.C. denied the complainant’s claim on the
grounds that the seizing of the motor was not the
result of the earlier collision. It was the Corpora-
tion’s opinion that the problem was caused be-
cause the complainant drove the vehicle while
the radiator fan was plugged with snow.

A letter from the Corporation’s mechanic,
however, stated that the fan did not operate prop-
erly because of a broken wire. This damage,
which caused the engine to overheat, could have
been caused by the vehicle’s impact with the
snow bank.

When my investigator presented this evidence to
}.C.B.C., the Claims Review Committee recon-
sidered the claim and decided that it should be
covered under the complainant’s collision
coverage. (CS 83-215)
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1983 repairs paid for at 1982 rates?

When a man’s vehicle was vandalized in Sep-
tember 1982, 1.C.B.C. estimated the cost of re-
pairs at approximately $900.

The complainant disagreed with the assessment
and negotiated with 1.C.B.C. for a better settle-
ment. In October 1982, he obtained estimates
from several repair shops, all of which set the
cost of repairs substantially higher than the fig-
ure calculated by I.C.B.C. In November 1982,
I.C.B.C. sent the complainant a letter suggesting
he pursue arbitration. But negotiation with the
complainant and his lawyer continued. In Febru-
ary 1983 the Corporation again suggested that
the complainant pursue his complaint through
arbitration. Then, on Feburary 23, 1983,
1.C.B.C. gave the complainant a new estimate
which calculated the cost of repairs at $1,400.

The car was repaired in March 1983 but 1.C.B.C.
paid for the repairs at 1982 rates. 1.C.B.C. justi-
fied this decision by stating that the delay in
effecting the repairs was caused by the complai-
nant. | recommended that the repairs be paid at
1983 rates. While it was true that the delay was
caused by the complainant, his reasons turned
outto be valid, as was substantiated by I.C.B.C'’s
second, substantially higher estimate.

Even though the Corporation felt that some of the
delay was the complainant’s fault, it agreed to
my recommendation and paid the complainant’s
labour costs at 1983 rates. (CS 83-216)

Husband takes car, wife gets billed

A woman who had been separated from her
husband for more than a year complained to me
that I.C.B.C. was billing her for a premium un-
derpayment of $79. She stated that her husband
had taken her car without her consent and had
forged her signature when he renewed the insur-
ance policy. The woman had already obtained
legal advice but was unable to sue her husband
to get the car back because she did not know
where he was and had no money for a lawyer.

The complainant had also tried to charge her
husband with the theft of the vehicle but the
R.C.M.P. had advised her that she could not do
so because she was still legally married.

When my investigator notified 1.C.B.C. of this
complaint, she was informed that the premium
underpayment would only be waived if either
theft charges had been laid or a separation agree-
ment been entered into by the parties under
which the car was to be the responsibility of the
husband.

Although no separation agreement had been en-
tered into, and theft charges had not been laid,
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I.C.B.C. discovered in the course of the inves-
tigation that the car in question was no longer
registered in the complainant’s name. Appar-
ently, her husband had sold the car to a third
party without her knowledge or consent, and
I.C.B.C. had failed to send her the refund owing
on the cancelled policy.

We proposed that the refund be applied against
the $79 underpayment, and that the difference
be sent to the complainant. This was done, and
the complainant’s debt to 1.C.B.C. was can-
celled. (CS 83-217)

Another compromise

A woman who was involved in a car accident in
March 1981, complained to me that I.C.B.C.
attempted to recover from her approximately
$5,000 which it had paid out for repairs to her
vehicle and to the other party involved in the
accident.

Although the woman had been charged with
offences under the Criminal Code which would
entitle the Corporation to collect its payments
from her, she was not informed by the Corpora-
tion that it intended to take this action until
approximately nine months after the accident.

By that time, the woman had been convicted of
failing to provide an adequate breath sample,
and her time to appeal the conviction had
passed. The woman told me her lawyer had
advised her that although she would likely be
successful on appeal, his legal fees would far
exceed the fine of $150 the Court had levied
against her. He apparently also advised her that
since the repairs to her car had been paid for by
1.C.B.C., there would be no adverse con-
sequences of the conviction with respect to her
insurance coverage.

In view of the fact that I.C.B.C. did not inform
the woman of the consequences of her Criminal
Code conviction, and of the Corporation’s inten-
tion to recover the money from her, | proposed
that I.C.B.C. accept partial payment of the debt,
and waive the remaining amount.

After some discussion, 1.C.B.C. agreed to my
proposal, and approximately half of the debt was
waived. (CS 83-218)

1.C.B.C. goes one better

| received several complaints from people who
had made claims to [.C.B.C. for paint damage to
their vehicles resulting from the sealcoating of
Lake Cowichan Highway in the summer of 1980.

When | investigated the complaints, | learned
that 1.C.B.C., at the time, had applied a “per



panel” deductible to these claims. For this rea-
son, some motorists who might have been en-
titled to compensation from 1.C.B.C. did not
pursue their claims.

| concluded that1.C.B.C!s procedure of applying
deductibles in this way was arbitrary and unfair
and recommended that the Corporation apply
only one deductible per claim. | also recom-
mended that 1.C.B.C. consider any claims for
paint damage which had been reported to either
the l.C.B.C. claim centre, the M.L.A s office, the
Ministry of Transportation and Highways, or my
office.

1.C.B.C. accepted my recommendation and
even agreed to consider claims from those who
had not previously reported their paint damage
to any of the above agencies, as long as they
could provide some evidence that the damage
was repaired before the end of 1980.

I notified all those who had contacted any of the
above agencies of my recommendation and di-
rected them to the Duncan claim centre for rec-
onsideration of their claims. | understand that of
the 28 claims presented, 27 were paid, and only
one denied. (CS 83-219)

The Corporation goofed

A woman’s pick-up truck was vandalized on Au-
gust 31, 1981. She reported the damage one
month later, and I.C.B.C. prepared an estimate.
Due to a delay in ordering parts and because the
complainant worked out of town, the repairs
were not completed until October 28, 1982.

When the repair shop submitted its invoice to
I.C.B.C. for payment, the Corporation denied
the claim because more than one year had
passed since the incident. Two weeks after the
repair shop had seized the truck to enforce its
mechanic’s lien, 1.C.B.C. reversed its decision
and paid the claim for the cost of repairs. The
Corporation, however, refused to reimburse my
complainant for $496.80 she had paid to a bailiff
for seizure and storage fees.

| found that I.C.B.C. was negligent when it in-
formed the repair shop that the claim was statute
barred. Section 9.57 of the Regulation to the
Insurance (Motor Vehicle) Act provides that no
action can be brought against 1.C.B.C. for in-
demnity more than one year after the policy
holder’s vehicle is damaged. This provision,
however, does not prevent the Corporation from
settling claims after one year, as was recognized
by I.C.B.C. when it settled the claim two weeks
after the initial denial. 1 recommended that
I.C.B.C. reimburse my complainant for the sei-
zure and storage costs. It did. (CS 83-220)

Small cause, big effect

Because his driver’s licence was under suspen-
sion at the time of the accident, 1.C.B.C. denied
a motorist’s claim for indemnity.

The complainant insisted he had not known that
his licence was suspended. He also complained
that 1.C.B.C. had only denied the claim after the
repairs had been completed. Because the com-
plainant could not afford to pay for the repairs
himseif, the body shop seized his truck and sold
it to satisfy the debt.

My investigation revealed that the complainant
received notification more than one year before
the accident that he owed a $25 driver record fee
to the Motor Vehicle Department because he
had accumulated more than ten penalty points
for driving infractions. Four months later the
Motor Vehicle Department informed him that his
licence would be suspended unless he paid the
fee.

The complainant believed that he then paid the
fee but the Motor Vehicle Department records
showed no such payment. In any event, the
complainant’s licence was suspended by the De-
partment. The complainant subsequently re-
newed his insurance and paid penalty point pre-
miums to 1.C.B.C. He was not told by I.C.B.C.,
nor did he receive any further notice from the
Motor Vehicle Department, that his licence had
been suspended.

Following his accident, the complainant filed his
claim with 1.C.B.C. which prepared an estimate
and submitted it with the vehicle to a repair
shop. Two weeks later, after the repairs had been
completed, 1.C.B.C. checked its records and
found that at the time the claim was made the
complainant’s licence was suspended, a fact the
Corporation had overlooked when it prepared
the damage estimate.

After my complainant’s claim was denied be-
cause he had breached the insurance regula-
tions, he found himself liable for the cost of
repairs which had been authorized by I.C.B.C.
or himself on the understanding that he was
insured.

The Regulation to the Insurance (Motor Vehicle)
Act stipulates that no person shall operate a
motor vehicle while not “qualified and author-
ized by law” to drive. My complainant was not
authorized to drive because his licence was sus-
pended. The breach by the policy holder of this
provision entitled I.C.B.C. to refuse to pay in-
demnity in the claim. The Act also provides,
however, that where the forfeiture of a claim
would appear inequitable, the Corporation may
relieve a person from the forfeiture of the insur-
ance money.
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exactly happened so long ago. Rather than ini-
tiating a formal investigation, | wrote to the Dep-
uty Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs
and informed her of the complainant’s problem.

The Ministry got in touch with the Superannua-
tion Commission and the two agencies quickly
found a way of helping my complainant. He has
now repaid the money he took out in 1965,
together with interest, and once he retires, his
pension will be based on all the years he served,
including those before his involuntary resigna-
tion. He no longer has to look towards his retire-
ment with apprehension. (CS 83-225)

Commission dragging its heels

A woman complained that she was unable to
retire as planned because the Superannuation

Commission would not tell her in time how high
a pension she could expect.

The woman who was covered by the municipal
pension plan wrote to the Commission in April,
requesting an estimate of the pension she could
expect if she retired in June. When she received
no reply, she tried to get the information by
telephone. On several occasions she was told
that for a number of reasons the information was
not yet available.

When she finally came to me in mid-jJune, it was
already too late for my complainant to hand in
her resignation as she had planned. My inves-
tigator phoned the Superannuation Branch
which promised to respond to the complainant
immediately. The Commission kept its promise.
(CS 83-226)
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apparently had not forwarded this information to
the Board. The Board'’s adjudicator informed the
worker that no further action could be taken until
he provided medical reports covering the period
from 1961 to 1976, linking his back problems to
the 1961 injury. In 1981, the Board received a
report that the worker was suffering from a se-
rious degenerative disc condition of his lumbar
spine and was in constant pain.

My investigator asked the worker’s physician
whether the degeneration of the complainant’s
back was a result of or related to his 1961 acci-
dent. The doctor replied that the severity of
trauma in 1961 would certainly accelerate the
degenerative process. | forwarded this new med-
ical evidence to the Board which agreed to refer
it to the claims adjudicator for further considera-
tion. The Board also agreed to have my complai-
nant examined by its orthopaedic consuftant to
determine whether the adjudicator’s earlier deci-
sion was correct.

The same worker suffered injuries in 1969 when
his right forearm and hand were crushed by a
load of lumber weighing approximately four and
a half tons. He subsequently received a pension
for the injury to his right arm at the elbow but his
claim for compensation based on problems with
his right shoulder was rejected for two reasons:
The Board said he did not mention any pain in
his shoulder until several months after the acci-
dent, and the Board’s physician said that al-
though the shoulder problems could be related
to the injury, there was no way to prove it. The
Board’s reasoning was partly based on a report
by the complainant’s doctor which mentioned
the shoulder problems and even gave dates of
when they were mentioned but did not specify
the year or who reported them, i.e. the doctor to
the Board or the patient to the doctor.

| clarified this statement with the doctor and
learned that the worker had, in fact, first men-
tioned his shoulder problems to him approx-
imately two weeks after the accident.

The Board’s position was, therefore, based on a
mistake of fact and | tentatively recommended
that it reconsider its decision not to accept the
worker’s 1969 claim for his shoulder condition. |
also pointed out that the Board had failed to
apply Section 99 of the Workers Compensation
Act. This section states that where the evidence
is evenly balanced, the decision shall be made in
favour of the worker. The Board agreed to
reconsider.

The same worker also injured his knee in 1971.
He complained that although he received wage
loss compensation for approximately eight
months, he did not receive a disability award.

| reviewed the file and noted that the rehabilita-
tion consultant for the Board had assisted the
worker in changing his occupation from logger
to bookkeeper. The basis for this assistance was
that the worker’s combination of injuries had
made it impossible for him to work as a logger. |
felt that this statement should have alerted the
Board to assess the worker for any residual dis-
ability, which it failed to do. | considered this
failure unjust and recommended that the Board
assess the worker for a disability pension in rela-
tion to his knee claim and/or a combination of
any of his compensable injuries, taking specifi-
cally into account his loss of earnings.

The Board agreed to refer the matter to a dis-
ability award officer for a permanent partial dis-
ability assessment, once the worker had been
examined by the Board’s orthopaedic consultant
for his opinion on whether his current com-
plaints are related to the 1971 injury.
(CS 83-232)

Nineteen years later, worker gets pay

A worker injured his right knee and lower back in
November, 1964, and an x-ray taken the day of
the accident showed pre-existing disc degenera-
tion in the lower back.

Initially the worker received full wage loss bene-
fits. In May, 1965, an operation was performed
on his knee. From July to September 1965, his
benefits were reduced by 50% and then stop-
ped. The claimant appealed to a Medical Review
Panel which examined him in March, 1966. The
Panel certified that he was not fit for work, and
that his poor condition was partly due to the
lower back disc degeneration and post-operative
weakness of the right knee.

The Panel was of the opinion that the Board had
discharged its responsibility as far as the disc
degeneration was concerned but also felt that the
claimant had received insufficient post-oper-
ative treatment for his knee operation and should
be granted a further six to 12 weeks rehabilita-
tion for his knee.

The Board, however, refused to pay him full
wage loss benefits for his knee disability from the
time he attempted unsuccessfully to return to
work in July, 1965, until the decision of the
Medical Review Panel in March, 1966. Neither
did the Board compensate the worker for any
permanent disability to his lower back as a result
of the disc degeneration.

In 1982, the Commissioners were asked by the
worker’s advocate to reconsider the Panel’s deci-
sion. This request was on the basis that the Board
had a duty to consider whether the injury had
aggravated, accelerated or activated a disease or
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condition existing prior to the injury, and to al-
low compensation for such proportion of the
disability as may reasonably be attributed to the
personal injury.

The Commissioners declined. Since the Medical
Review Panel had made a final determination
that the worker’s complaints were wholly the
result of his pre-existing condition (the disc de-
generation), the question of apportionment did
not arise and there were no grounds to recon-
sider the Medical Review Panel decision.

I found that by not answering the question of
whether the worker’s injury aggravated, acceler-
ated or activated his pre-existing condition, the
Medical Review Panel failed to address the main
issue. | also found that without resolving the
main issue, the Panel was wrong in stating that
the question of apportionment did not arise.

The Commissioners’ 1982 decision that there
were no grounds to reconsider the Medical Re-
view Panel’s findings was based on a mistake of
fact because it proceeded on the assumption that
the disability was unrelated to the injury. | rec-
ommended that the Board either consider the
question of whether the worker’s disc degenera-
tion was aggravated by his work accident in
1964, or that it refer this question to a Medical
Review Panel.

| also found that the Board made an unjust deci-
sion in refusing to pay the worker full wage loss
benefits for his knee disability for approximately
eight months preceding the Medical Review
Panel decision. His own doctor had stated that
he was disabled due to his back injury and knee
disability in the period between the termination
of his claim and its pre-acceptance by the Medi-
cal Review Panel. | recommended that the Board
pay the worker full wage loss benefits with inter-
est for the eight-month period, deducting any
partial payments made at the time.

The Commissioners agreed that a Medical Re-
view Panel be convened to determine whether
the 1964 injury had aggravated, accelerated or
activated the worker’s degenerative disc disease.
They also agreed to pay him wage loss benefits
for the eight-month period in question which
came to $1,872.83 plus $9,125 interest.

The Medical Review Panel later found that the
worker’s injury aggravated his pre-existing con-
dition and that he was disabled until January,
1969. (CS 83-233)

Board takes another look

In 1979 the complainant injured his arm, chest
and back. He attributed the injuries to a 10-foot
fall from a water tower on his logging truck. His
claim was denied on the basis that there was not

sufficient evidence that the medical attention he
sought at that time was the result of the alleged
accident. Prior to this accident, the complainant
had suffered a similar injury to the same arm,
which was considered compensable.

The Board disallowed the 1979 claim on the
grounds that the complainant’s account of the
accident was not credible. That decision was
based on several significant inconsistencies in
his story. | found that these inconsistencies were
justifiable. The complainant had very poor hear-
ing and some difficulty with the English
language.

There had been some confusion whether the
complainant fell from his logging truck or from a
water tank. | concluded from my investigation
that he fell from a water tower on his truck. The
complainant’s story was supported by the first-
aid assistant who said that the worker’s hand had
been swollen. A few days following the accident
the man had visited his doctor who observed
contusions on his chest and back and diagnosed
a sprained left wrist. In my opinion, all these
observations supported the complainant’s claim
and the few ambiguities in his evidence were not
significant enough to justify disallowing the
claim.

A second part of my recommendation related to
the possibility that the complainant’s 1979
symptoms were a continuation of the con-
sequences of his 1977 compensable accident.
According to medical reports, his condition had
never totally returned to normal, following the
1977 accident. The Commissioners also stated
in their decision on the 1979 claim that the
injury of 1977 had never totally resolved itself,
which left open the possibility that the complai-
nant’s continuing symptoms related to the 1977
injury. The Commissioners rejected my first rec-
ommendation, saying they had based their deci-
sion on the credibility of the complainant’s evi-
dence but they agreed to perform a permanent
partial disability assessment on the complainant
to determine the extent of his continuing dis-
ability and whether this disability was related to
the 1977 iniurv. (CS 83-234)

ltching for justice

A worker complained to me when the Board
refused to pay for medical aid and lost wages
which he related to a dermatitis condition he had
contracted in the course of his work involving
cement.



The Commissioners relied on a section of the
Workers Compensation Act which allows the
Board to reduce or suspend compensation when
a worker persists in unsanitary or injurious prac-
tices which tend to imperil or retard his recovery.
It was my opinion that this section allowed the
Board to suspend compensation if a claimant
wilfully prolongs his recovery in order to prolong
payment of compensation benefits.

1 did not agree that this section was intended to
apply to situations in which the particular dis-
ability creates a compulsion (such as itchiness)
which is relieved by injurious behaviour (such as
scratching). | pointed out that this worker
scratched to relieve his immediate symptoms. To
refrain from scratching would require a constant
exercise of his will. 1 did not consider it reason-
able for the Board to make the payment of medi-
cal aid contingent on the strength of a claimant’s
willpower when the claimant was suffering from
a legitimate work-related condition.

In response to recommendations from me, the
Board agreed to continue paying the worker
medical aid, and wage loss benefits during peri-
ods when his dermatitis became so severely ag-
gravated as to prevent him from working. As it
turned out medical evidence did not show the
claimant to have actually been disabled from
working by his dermatitis. However, medical aid
continues to be provided by the Board.
(CS 83-235)

The veteran’s affair

A worker complained to me when the Board
refused to award him a pension for his knee
disability because he was already receiving a
pension from the Department of Veterans’
Affairs.

The worker had received an injury to his knee in
the war, for which he was awarded a pension.
Years later when he fell down some stairs at work
and aggravated his knee disability, it became
necessary to fuse his knee. A Section of the
Workers Compensation Act obliges the Board to
award a pension based on the difference be-
tween a pre-existing disability and a disability
after a compensable injury. Although the Board
acknowledged that this worker’s disability had
increased as a result of his compensable injury, it
refused to award him a pension because when it
compared the Department of Veterans’ Affairs’
measure of the worker’s war-related disability
with its own measure of the worker’s post-injury
disability, it decided that no difference existed.

It was my opinion that the Board was making an
unauthorized delegation of its authority to assess
pre-existing disabilities and | recommended that

an independent assessment of workers’ pre-ex-
isting and post-injury disabilities be carried out
by the Board. It was not reasonable to compare
pre and post-injury disabilities by using different
standards of measurement. The Board agreed to
my recommendation and issued a new policy
instructing that pre-existing and post-injury dis-
abilities be calculated independently of other
agencies’ assessments. The worker was awarded
a pension by the Board in addition to the pension
he was already receiving from the Department of
Veterans' Affairs. (CS 83-236)

Decision not supported by evidence

A worker was injured when he fell from a lumber
stack. His condition was diagnosed as a sprain of
the cervical spine with hysterical right leg and
right arm paralysis.

The man returned to work a few months later but
was forced to quit because of dizziness and pain
in his neck. A second accident six months later
and continuing physical problems prevented
him from returning to work for several months. A
year after the first accident, the Board informed
the worker that his on-going symptoms were not
considered related to the initial accident. It was
the medical consensus that a main component of
the complainant’s continuing disability was an
emotional problem.

The issue | investigated was whether the com-
plainant’s continuing emotional disability was a
work-related problem. According to the man’s
family doctor, he had been in perfectly good
health prior to the accident. All the psychologi-
cal problems, the doctor stated, had developed
after the accident. A psychiatrist who examined
the complainant had little doubt that the man
suffered from depression but could not say with
certainty when the problem had started. Depres-
sion, the psychiatrist said, was usually a result of
an interaction between physiological, psycho-
logical and social factors.

After considering this and other evidence, the
Board concluded that the probable cause of the
complainant’s psychiatric problems were mat-
ters other than his work injury. It was my opinion
that this decision was not supported by the
weight of the evidence. | recommended that the
Board perform another psychological assess-
ment on the complainant to examine further the
connection between his psychological disability
and the first accident. The Board agreed to this
recommendation. The matter is now back before
the Commissioners for consideration.
(CS 83-237)
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Stick with the facts

A complainant had suffered a lower back injury
which resulted in the award of a pension. During
the course of the investigation, the Board had
prepared an industrial assessment of the worker.

Some comments in the assessment inferred that
the complainant was a lazy worker with certain
attitudinal problems who might benefit from
some visits to a psychiatrist. Another Board em-
ployee took these comments to mean that the
worker was unco-operative, manipulative and
lazy. Eventually the alleged attitudinal problems
boiled down to the pronouncement that “the
worker does have a psychological problem”.

When the worker became aware of the com-
ments, he complained to me. He said the com-
ments were completely unjustified and damag-
ing to his reputation and credibility. He pro-
duced several recommendations from former
employers which described him as a hard and
conscientious worker, reliable and well liked by
his fellow employees.

The Board agreed to allow the references to be
included in the complainant’s file. And although
the Board did not consider the comments in this
particular case irrelevant, it agreed to issue a
directive instructing staff to confine their com-
ments to personal observations, or matters rele-
vant to the claim for which there was supporting
evidence, and not to make general and spec-
ulative comments concerning a worker’s person-
alitv. (CS 83-240)

Recommendation rejected but problem
solved

A man was injured at work in 1978. He received
wage loss benefits for most of the time between
the date of his injury and August, 1982, when his
wage loss benefits were suspended by the ad-
judicator who suspected that the claimant might
have been working.

The suspension was to remain in effect until an
investigation into his entitlement to wage loss
benefits had been concluded. The suspension
was made in accordance with the Board’s usual
practice when a worker’s continuing eligibility is
questioned.

After receiving a complaint from the worker, |
informed him of his appeal rights concerning his
medical eligibility but | investigated the Board's
practice of suspending wage loss benefits until
an investigation is completed. | found that there
was no specific authority in the Workers Com-
pensation Act for the Board to suspend wage loss
benefits pending an investigation.

The Commissioners did not agree with my find-
ing. They felt that the real problem in this case
was not the Board’s legal authority to withhold
payments pending an investigation, but the fact
that the investigation had taken nine months.
The claims adjudicator reached a decision on
the claim two weeks after the Commissioners
responded to my tentative recommendation.
The decision was that the claimant had been
capable of working at his occupation from 1980
until his benefits were suspended.

Even though the claimant’s case had been de-
cided, | was of the opinion that the Board had no
authority to withhold benefits, between an orig-
inal decision thata claimant s eligible and a later
reversal of that decision. | recommended that the
Board reinstate the claimant’s wage loss for the
period under suspension, and change its pro-
cedure to conform with the Workers Compensa-
tion Act. This would require that the Board not
suspend or terminate any benefits until it has
redetermined or re-heard a case on its own
merits.

The Commissioners did not agree with my rea-
soning or conclusion. They obtained a legal
opinion, according to which the Act provides
that compensation is payable only as long as the
disability lasts; before making each payment,
the Board must determine if the disability exists.
If the Board is not satisfied that the disability
exists, no further payments are made. If the
Board suspects that a worker is no longer dis-
abled, it will have to adjudicate the claim before
he receives further payment.

The Commissioners do not consider this a sus-
pension of benefits but rather an adjudication-
related delay. They argue that this is a purely
administrative decision over which there is no
appeal.

Even though the Commissioners disagreed with
my analysis and recommendations, they felt |
had raised valid concerns which required a re-
medy. They decided to institute administrative
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Prevention is the best cure

A man who was badly burnt when a pressurized
tank exploded, complained to me that his em-
ployers had failed to provide him with adequate
protective equipment.

The Board informed me that it expects face pro-
tection equipment to be available at all times and
expects it to be worn during potentially dan-
gerous situations. On my suggestion, the Board
agreed to communicate its views regarding the
provision of face protection to the employer in
question, and have the investigating officer in-
struct the employer with respect to the proper
procedures for face protection. | considered this
an adequate resolution of the complaint.
(CS 83-245)

Chemical quandary

A worker complained about the Board's refusal
to compensate him for symptoms he believed
were the result of exposure to chlordane.

The man had worked on a roof which had beer
treated with a two percent solution of chlordane
two hours earlier. He experienced a number o
symptoms which he attributed to the exposure.
The Occupational Health Department of the
Board concluded that the worker’s symptom:
were not compatible with chlordane exposure.

As part of my investigation | consulted several
sources of information regarding the symptoms
that result from chlordane exposure. Although
some of the worker’s symptoms corresponded to
those listed by the sources | consulted, there was
not a sufficient coincidence of symptoms to let
me conclude that the Board had erred in reject-
ing the claim for compensation. | found the com-
plaint not substantiated. (CS 83-246)

Explosive situation

A worker complained about a number of prac-
tices for blasting and storing explosives used at
his place of work. He considered them unsafe
and was concerned about the Board’s lack of
response to the conditions.

¥
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The Board advised me that an industrial safety
officer had travelled to the worksite in question
to investigate the worker’s allegations. He found
that blasting operations had been temporarily
suspended and that the regular driller-blaster
was away from camp. The officer discussed the
worker’s allegations with the supervisor at the
site.

In my opinion, the Board’s investigation of the
worker’s allegations was inadequate. | felt the
officer should have taken the following steps:
1. Inspected the bunkhouse drying room
where wet explosives were allegedly being
stored;
2. Inspected the desk drawer in the camp of-
fice where caps, fuses, and detonating cord
were allegedly being stored;

3. Questioned workers on the site about the
alleged incident of unauthorized personnel
using explosives in the camp area to remove
a broken axle with no signs posted or other
warnings given to workers in the area;

4. Questioned the supervisor and any wit-
nesses regarding an incident in which the
supervisor, who is not a qualified blaster,
allegedly loaded a rock face and fired
charges without warning;

5. Questioned workers about the alleged prac-
tice of transporting powder and blasting
caps together in a plastic garbage bag to the
blasting site on a caterpillar tractor;

6. Questioned the mechanics, fallers, and
other workers in the area at the time a large
blast was allegedly ignited without posting
warning signs, blocking off the road, or giv-
ing audible warning signals;

7. Examined pick-up trucks on the site for un-
attended blasting caps and powder and also
questioned workers about this alleged
practice;

8. Questioned workers about the alleged ab-
sence of a lock on the main explosives mag-
azine for a 30-day period;

9. Questioned workers about the alleged prac-
tice of transporting powder and blasting
caps in the baggage compartment of the
company aircraft;

10. Revisited the premises if the above inves-
tigations could not be carried out on the day
of the first visit because of the suspended
operations.

In response, the Board maintained that a phys-
ical examination of the bunk house, camp of-
fices and vehicles had been carried out and that
they had been found free of explosive materials.
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In addition both workers and supervisors had
been questioned confidentially.

When the Board agreed to have the entire opera-
tion re-inspected once operations resumed, |
considered the complaint resolved. (CS 83-247)

If two doctors disagree, ask a third

| initiated an investigation into the information
given to miners by the Workers’ Compensation
Board and the Ministry of Energy, Mines and
Petroleum Resources once a miner has been
issued a Certificate of Fitness under the Mines
Act and the Workers Compensation Act.

1 initiated this investigation after a retired miner
complained to me that his disability award,
effective in 1980, should have been backdated
to 1970. He had recently learned that x-rays
taken in 1970 showed early signs of silicosis. He
had retired from mining in 1971 after having
mined for 41 years but had not learned until
1975 that he had silicosis.

After reviewing the complainant’s record | found
that the examining physician had reported to the
Board as early as 1956 that the miner had early
silicosis. These reports, which formed part of the
miner’s Certificate of Fitness, were sent to the
Board until 1971. The Board doctor (Silicosis
Referee) disagreed with the examining physi-
cian’s interpretation of the x-rays for all these
years.

Although the Board referee had been aware all
along of the difference between his interpreta-
tion of the x-rays and that of the examining physi-
cian, the miner was never informed of this dif-
ference of opinion. In fact, he did not learn until
after he had retired from mining that he had
silicosis.

| was concerned that a situation could arise
where a worker is not advised by either the
examining doctor or the Board physician of the
x-ray findings or any difference of opinion. Al-
though the Board would advise a worker if its
interpretation of the x-rays suggested early sil-
icosis, nothing would be done if the examining
doctor felt there was possibly early silicosis but
the Board doctor disagreed.

This of course could lead to the possibility of
miners, such as my complainant, working for
many, many years in the mines, having signs of
early silicosis or at least possible early silicosis
without being advised of this possibility by any
doctor.

According to Section 19(7) of the Mines Act,
administered by the Ministry of Energy, Mines
and Petroleum Resources, a medical practitioner
must give a person he examined a report of the



examination, if requested to do so. There is,
however, a strong possibility that a miner would
reasonably assume when given a Certificate of
Fitness that he is free from disease of the respira-
tory organs, and may not be aware of his right to
request and receive a report from the examining
physician.

| recommended that the Ministry develop a
mechanism for informing miners of their right to
such a report and seek an amendment of the
legislation that would require an examining phy-
sician to provide a copy of his report to each
miner examined. Failing that, the examining
physician should at least be required to ask the
miner whether he wants a copy of the report.

The Ministry has agreed to ask all mine managers
to inform workers in dust exposure occupations
of their right to a report from the examining
physician. That information is to be transmitted
to the workers whenever they are notified of a
periodical medical examination. The Ministry
will also write to the various labour unions
whose members include miners reminding them
of the workers’ right under Section 19(7) of the
Mines Act.

By failing to bring to a miner’s attention, either
directly or through his examining physician, that
a Certificate of Fitness does not necessarily mean
his respiratory organs are free from silicosis, the
Workers’ Compensation Board had been
negligent.

I recommended that in cases of disagreement
between the examining physician and the Board
doctor, the physician inform the miner of the
difference of opinion. | also recommended that
the Board doctor ask the examining physician to
refer the miner to a specialist for a third opinion.
The Board agreed with those recommendations.
(CS 83-248)

Panel takes another look

A worker twisted her back at work and the Board
accepted her application for compensation. The
woman received wage loss benefits for two
months, after which the claims adjudicator con-
sidered her fit to return to work.

When she subsequently attempted to reopen her
claim on the basis that the weakness in her leg
had caused her to fall and that she had a worsen-
ing back disability, the Board rejected her re-
quest because it did not consider her problem to
be the result of the injury. Nor did the Board
believe that her problem was interfering with her
work.

The woman appealed this decision to a Medical
Review Panel which certified that she did not
have a disability with respect to her back and
stated that the weakness of her leg might warrant
further medical investigation. The Panel was not
asked, however, nor did it say whether the claim-
ant was disabled as a result of her leg problems.

The Board agreed with my recommendation that
the Medical Review Panel be reconstituted to
specifically address the question of whether the
worker’s problems with her left leg were related
to her compensable injury and if she was unable
to work as a result of these problems.

The Panel found that the problems with her left
leg were not related to her injury. (CS 83-249)

Irrelevant questions unfair

A complainant who had driven a city bus for
more than two years, felt a sharp pain in his left

arm near the elbow one day, while releasing the
handbrake.

He reported the incident to his employer, but
since the pain did not interfere with his driving,
he continued to work. The problem started about
three months later. His bus did not have power
steering and the necessary exertion gradually
increased the pain in his arm, until he became
concerned about his ability to control the bus
and consulted his physician.

His own doctor and a specialist told him to stay
off work, and after six weeks of rest, his arm
healed. The Workers' Compensation Board re-
fused his claim for wage loss, arguing that the
amount of exertion required to release the hand
brake was not significant enough to account for
the strain. No assessment was made of the effort
needed to steer the bus. Getting nowhere with
the Board, he appealed to a Medical Review
Panel.

The Board’s solicitor provides the panel of physi-
cians with sets of questions that must be asked
and answered. In our complainant’s case, mest
of the questions were relevant to workers still
disabled at the time of the hearing. OnIY one
question specifically referred to his'condltlon:
Could the original handbrake incident have
caused the disability? The panel did not have an
opportunity to ask if steering the bus had aggra-
vated an initial, minor injury, which was the
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issue raised by our complainant. Once again, he
lost.

We found that the Panel should have been asked
whether or not there was a relationship between
the initial injury and the later disability. The
limitations of the questions precluded any dis-
cussion of the real issue. | found the decision of
the panel unfair and recommended that a new
set of questions without the original limitations
be formulated. | also recommended that the
complainant be allowed to appear before a new
Medical Review Panel for reconsideration of his
claim. The Workers’ Compensation Board
agreed to those recommendations.

A completely new Review Panel was convened
and the worker was awarded three months pay.
(CS 83-250)

Board adds to woman’s ordeal

In the summer of 1982, awoman was beaten and
sexually assaulted as she crossed the parking lot
of the hospital where she was due for work as a
nurse on the late shift. She sustained head inju-
ries and shock, and had to spend some time in
hospital but does not appear to have suffered
long-term complications. Her assailant was
never identified or caught.

On the advice of the British Columbia Nurses
Union, she immediately applied for Criminal
Injury Compensation, which is administered by
the Workers' Compensation Board. A few weeks
later, she was informed that her claim could not
be processed by the Criminal Injuries Section of
the Board because she was entitled to benefits
under the Workers Compensation Act.

The solicitor for the Criminal Injuries Section
and the woman’s union representative both felt
that she would be more appropriately compen-
sated under the Criminal Injuries Act. They were
concerned about her need to have the matter
resolved quickly and asked for a speedy deci-
sion, but the Board Adjudicator remained con-
vinced that it had been a work-related injury,
insisted that she re-apply for Workers’ Compen-
sation, and kept the file for Board investigation
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until three months after the incident had
occurred.

At this point he rejected her claim as not being
work related and advised her to re-apply to the
Criminal Injuries Section. She did so and was
ultimately awarded some $5,000. But it took five
months before she received any compensation
for her ordeal.

She and her union representative contacted my
office because they felt that the three-month de-
lay before the Board rejected her claim had been
both insensitive and unreasonable, not only pro-
longing the stress she was under, butadding to it.

In my opinion, the existing Board procedures
were inadequate. There was no mechanism for
speedy decisions regarding jurisdiction, and no
policy directives for distinguishing various work
and non-work situations. Therefore a very un-
reasonable practice developed in her case. 1 also
found the delay unnecessary and unreasonable.

The Commissioners agreed to take steps to en-
sure that claimants are made aware of their
rights, and to develop procedures to avoid un-
necessary delays in deciding for which form of
compensation claimants are eligible. The Com-
missioners have also instituted a system of inter-
nal referrals, so that claimants who have incor-
rectly applied to one of the agencies do not have
to spend additional time going through a second
application procedure. (CS 83-251)

The double standard of proof

When a citizen complained to me that the Crimi-
nal Injury Compensation Board denied his claim
that he was a victim of crime and did not com-
pensate him for his injuries, | initiated an inves-
tigation into the issue of standard of proof for
compensation of criminal injuries.

| found that the standard of proof requires the
Board to find on a balance of probabilities that a
crime occurred and that the applicant is a victim
of that crime. This standard of proof is of a higher
degree than that required by the Workers’ Com-
pensation Board, which is contained in Section
99 of the Workers Compensation Act and states
that where the disputed possibilities are evenly
balanced, the issue shall be resolved in favour of
the worker.

There is no specific reference in the Criminal
Injury Compensation Actto the standard of proof
required to determine whether the applicant is a
victim of crime. | believe that compensation for
criminal injuries is a scheme which has some
major features in common with workers’ com-
pensation. Each attempts to compensate the vic-
tim for his direct economic losses arising out of
an injury sustained in the performance of a vital



social role, either as a worker or as a citizen. In
each scheme, the victim faces the same difficulty
in proving the loss and its cause. The fact that in
British Columbia the Workers’ Compensation
Board administers both schemes is a strong in-
dicator of their similarities.

It seemed anomalous that the policy of the Board
regarding the burden of proof should differ be-
tween workers’ compensation and compensa-
tion for criminal injuries. In my opinion, the
Criminal Injury Compensation Board had
adopted an inappropriate standard of proof for
determining claims.

| recommended that the Criminal Injury Com-
pensation Board alter its practice of requiring a
standard of proof based on a balance of proba-
bilities, and instead adopt the standard used by
the Workers’ Compensation Board which gives
the worker the benefit of the doubt when the
possibilities are evenly balanced.

The Board disagreed, stating that there is no
provision in the Criminal Injury Compensation
Act that would authorize such a standard of
proof. Pursuant to Section 27(f) of the Act,
however, the Lieutenant Governor in Council is
empowered to pass regulations making any
provision of the Workers Compensation Act ap-
plicable to the Criminal Injury Compensation
Act. | recommended, therefore, that the Work-
ers’ Compensation Board request the Lieutenant
Governor in Council to make Section 99 of the
Workers Compensation Act applicable to ap-
plications under the Criminal Injury Compensa-
tion Act.

The Commissioners replied that the balance of
probabilities is the standard of proof under Crim-
inal Injuries Compensation legislation in all
other provinces of Canada and, as far as is
known, in all other countries. They also felt that
there were significant differences between the
two Acts which might entail a different standard
of proof.

In view of that information | decided not to pur-
sue my recommendation at the present.
(CS 83-252)

No medical evidence

A widow complained because she did not re-
ceive a widow’s pension. The woman believed
that her husband's death was related to his com-
pensable injury.

| found that the Board had never accepted o
rejected a claim for compensation from the
woman. In fact, she had never submitted ar
application form, nor supplied medical informa-
tion to support her claim.

| got in touch with the physician who had treated
the woman’s husband. He obtained a copy of the
autopsy report relating to the deceased and after
reviewing this report, as well as the details of the
claim, it was his opinion that the death was not
related to his previous compensable injury.

In the absence of any medical evidence to sup-
port my complainant’s contention that her hus-
band’s death was related to his compensable
injury, | was unable to substantiate the widow’s
complaint. (CS 83-253)

Review panel was right

A woman strained her lower back at work in
1948. An x-ray taken 12 days after the accident
showed minimal disc degeneration. By 1969,
there was further disc degeneration and the
woman underwent back surgery.

The Board did not accept the argument that this
operation was related to the woman’s 1948 in-
jury. In 1973 she again twisted her lower back at
work. The Board accepted the claim and paid
the woman wage loss benefits for 10 months. In
1974 she underwent a further back operation.
This time the Board did not accept it as related to
either the 1948 or 1973 injuries.

In 1975 the claimant appealed to a Medical
Review Panel. The Panel certified that she had a
back disability, but added that it was not caused
by the 1973 accident. The Panel also found that
the 1948 accident had aggravated the pre-exist-
ing disc degeneration, but that the aggravation
was minor and limited to the time loss granted.
The major cause of her disability, the panel
stated, was the pre-existing degenerative disc
disease.

The complainant obtained a letter from her doc-
tor stating that in March, 1946, an x-ray of her
lower back was taken and was interpreted as
normal. She felt this evidence should be consid-
ered by the Medical Review Panel.

As the 1948 x-ray showed disc degeneration, the
question now was whether the degeneration
shown in the x-ray 12 days after the injury would
likely have occurred after the injury or whether it
is more likely that the degeneration had de-
veloped over a longer period than 12 days. The
complainant’s doctor stated it was his opinion
that this type of degenerative change would not
likely occur in 12 days. It was more likely that the
degeneration developed following the 1946 x-
ray. Therefore, the probability was that this de-
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generation was pre-existing as interpreted by the
Medical Review Panel.

The letter from the woman’s doctor constituted
significant new evidence but it did not refute the
finding that the woman had degenerative disc
disease prior to her 1948 accident. The woman’s
complaint could not be substantiated.
(CS 83-254)

Decision based on evidence

A complainant injured his right hip in November
1977 when he slipped and fell on a walkway,
twisting his right leg. He received compensation
until August 1978.

The complainant was diagnosed as suffering
from low back pain with possible disc involve-
ment of a nerve root. The evening before his hip
injury, a foreman saw him limping as he walked
around his place of work. When questioned
about this, he stated that an old injury of
November 1976 was bothering him. The com-
plainant continued to to be off work from August
1978 until March 1979 but was refused compen-
sation for that period.

| investigated this decision and concluded that
the Board’s decision to terminate benefits in Au-
gust 1978 was correct. At this time the prepon-
derance of medical opinion established that the
complainant’s back condition was no longer dis-
abling. A neurological consultant stated there
were no hard signs of pathology and electro-
diagnostic studies were negative. It was his opin-
jon that there was no objective evidence of root
compression and that the major findings were
hysterical and histrionic.

The complainant’s personal physician stated
there was no evidence of scoliosis of any
etiology at the time. The Board’s medical advisor
observed:

“l do not feel that this man has any residual
disability inherent to the incident. There is no
evidence of any nerve root irritation and there is
evidence on examination that this man is likely
exaggerating his problem as evidenced by his
guarded movement and inability to forward flex
from the standing, but when caught off guard ina
lying position there is a good arc to his lumbar
back, reaching to about his ankles.”

I considered these opinions and concluded that
the Board’s decision was based on the prepon-
derance of evidence. | did not substantiate the
complaint. (CS 83-255)

Responsible decision

In August 1980 a complainant broke his right
arm in a work related accident. At that time he

did not earn an hourly rate but was paid on a
piece-work basis.

At the time of the injury, he had been working for
his employer for about four and a half hours. The
Board paid the complainant wage loss benefits
based on the Board minimum of $179.39 per
week, considerably less than what he was earn-
ing at the time of injury.

The reason given by the Board was that he had
worked at the job in which he was injured for
only four and a half hours. Before that he had
been unemployed for approximately ten
months. This resulted in his average earnings
being reduced to the minimum wage loss rate
then provided by the Board. The complainant
felt that his compensation should be based on his
rate of pay at the time of injury.

Section 33(3) of the Workers Compensation Act
states that if a worker is a new entrant into the
labour force, his wage rate may be calculated on
his rate of pay at the time of injury. But it was my
opinion that the complainant did not fall into this
category. Before his injury he worked for several
years. The fact that he had worked in several
provinces during this period and had just re-
cently entered the British Columbia work force
did not make him a new entrant into the labour
force in the sense referred to in Section 33(3).

This section also applies to workers who have
entered a new job or line of work but have not
established an earnings record at the time of
injury.

The complainant would have fallen into this cat-
egory, had he been able to prove that he had a
permanent job at the time of injury. The evidence
on file, however, showed that he was working on
a contract basis and that there had been no
guarantee of permanent employment.

It was the opinion of the Boards of Review that
“without strong evidence indicating that Mr.
——, would in all likelihood have received
steady employment as an insulator he could not
be given the benefit of his new earning rate after
approximately four hours on the job.”

To confirm whether the complainant’s employ-
ment had potentially been permanent, my inves-
tigator spoke to his former employer. He stated
that at the time of the accident he could not have
said with certainty how much longer he would
have employed the complainant. With the bene-
fit of hindsight it was his opinion that since the
company had an average amount of work in
1980, and since the complainant had very little
seniority with the company, he would not have
had much more work with the company in that
particular year.









Did you hear this one?

A man called to enlist our help in getting a free
hearing aid for an elderly lady friend who is hard
of hearing and lives in a Long Term Care home.

We phoned Human Resources and found that
free hearing aids are provided under special cir-
cumstances only. When someone is at risk, has
no funds, is unable to obtain work or cannot
safely care for children, the Ministry may
provide a hearing aid. None of these circum-
stances applied to the case at hand.

We were, however, able to refer the woman, via
her friend, to a nearby Hearing Clinic for an
assessment. The clinic would help her get the
best price for whatever hearing aid she needed.
We also suggested the possibility of paying in
instaiments. (CS 83-264)

Backhoe invasion threatened

Anything B.C. Hydro can do, a small private
utilities company can do better, judging from the
complaint of a man who had locked horns with
the firm that supplied his water.

The man’s trouble began when the company
refused to accept monthly or quarterly payments
from him, even though it had done so the pre-
vious year. To add insult to injury, the company
simply sent his instalment cheques back, ripped
in half, without any accompanying notice or
letter.

By the time we were brought into the picture, the
cold war between the man and his water supplier
was about to turn into an armed conflict. The
service had been disconnected, interest charges
on the annual fee were piling up and now the
company was threatening to invade the man’s
property with a backhoe and rip his water line
out. He was about to go on a trip and more than
just a little worried what he might find on his
return home.

We tried our best to cool tempers and pointed
out that the man had shown good faith by mak-
ing some form of payment which the company
had rejected without explanation. Eventually,
the company agreed to accept payment,
provided it was for a full year and to waive any
interest and reconnection fees. (CS 83-265)

Snake oil anyone?

A woman bought a health drink in a container at
a home-sales party, the kind where neighbours
and friends gather to listen to a sales pitch.

The woman realized that the product was expen-
sive but didn’t mind the cost, if she could be
assured of the validity of claims in the company’s

promotion material, which suggested that use of
the product would result in increased vitality,
purified blood, and help the body’s healing ca-
pacity. The liquid was manufactured in the
Southern United States and the word “Canada”
was printed on the front of the pamphlet.

The woman questioned some of the alleged ben-
efits and wanted us to find out more. A member
of my staff agreed to phone the Health Protection
Branch of Health and Welfare Canada, and re-
quest that a representative talk to her. The
woman was asked to send in all the relevant
information and was told it would be assessed
within the legislation which protects consumers
against exaggerated claims, particularly with re-
gard to health and safety.

In two other instances, we suggested that com-
plainants send the bottles they had purchased to
the Health Protection Branch for tests. In one
case, foreign matter was found in the liquid and
appropriate steps were taken to ensure it would
not happen again. With the other sample, the
Health Protection Branch could not determine
whether the mold in the bottle had formed be-
fore or after the product was purchased.
(CS 83-266)

Rubber cheques were not her fault

A woman who moved from the northern to the
southern part of Vancouver Island had arranged
for the transfer of her bank account and was told
that she could write cheques on her new ac-
count, only to find out that the cheques were
bouncing.

To add to her annoyance, the bank debited her
account with a service charge for each bounced
cheque. She cleared up the matter with the peo-
ple to whom the cheques had been made out
and received a promise from the bank that the
service charges would be cancelled.

But that was not to be the case. The charges
appeared on two subsequent bank statements.
Because she was handicapped, she had to have
someone drive her to the bank, so that she could
straighten out the mess. When she asked to see
the manager, the staff declined her request.

By the time the woman came to us, she was
exasperated and did not know what to do. One
of my investigators phoned the office of the
bank’s regional manager who got immediate re-
sults. The manager of the branch which had
caused the woman'’s problems showed up at her
home the very next day to get all the information
he needed to rectify the problem. And like
magic, the charges disappeared from the
woman’s next bank statement. (CS 83-267)
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The knot that was not tied

Modern times and their alleged permissiveness
nothwithstanding, a complainant was rather
shocked when she found out that, although she
and her “husband” had gone through a marriage
ceremony, they had never actually been
married.

The ceremony was performed in an Okanagan
city, where the couple lived for a few months.
Before moving to Alberta, the woman heard
rumours that the person who had performed the
ceremony was not at the time registered with
Vital Statistics and could not legally solemnize
marriages. Anyone performing a marriage cere-
mony must hold a valid licence issued by the
Province of British Columbia and this licence
must be renewed at specified times.

Eventually the love affair came to an end, the
couple separated and the woman returned to
British Columbia. She now wanted to find out

what her marital status was but did not know
where to go for the information.

My staff spoke to a representative of Vital Statis-
tics and found out that after the marriage cere-
mony, the papers had been sent to Vital Statistics
in Victoria where it became apparent that the
pastor’s licence had lapsed before he performed
the marriage ceremony. That meant the marriage
was not registered and, therefore, not legally
recognized.

We also learned that soon after the error was
discovered, the church, the pastor and the cou-
ple had been notified. Unfortunately, it was the
“husband” who was informed that the marriage
had to be solemnized a second time, and he
never passed the information on to his “wife.”

We referred all the information to the woman
and while it appeared that she had remained a
single person, we advised her to see a lawyer to
be absolutely sure of her status. (CS 83-268)



CHANGES IN
PRACTICES AND
PROCEDURES

MINISTRY OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

1.

The Ministry’s Court Services Division agreed
to apply a standard, uniform throughout the
province, for counting the seven day appeal
period on traffic ticket disputes.

. Court Services agreed to develop a policy for

sheriffs searching members of the public who
are attending trials where security is important.

. The Ministry agreed that before and after pris-

oners are escorted, the sheriff and the prisoner
will sign a form listing the possessions held at
both ends of the trip.

. The Attorney-General asked the Minister of

Consumer & Corporate Affairs to review the
legislation and procedures which allowed an
improper enforcement of a Rentalsman’s order
for possession.

. The Ministry issued new guidelines which re-

moved the confusion surrounding the enforce-
ment of Rentalsman orders for payment of
debts between landlords and tenants.

A Registry agreed to send copies of Rentalsman
orders to all people who appeared before the
Registrar without a lawyer.

. A Registry agreed to implement a system to

note changes of address in its court files.

8.

A Registry agreed to inform the public of the
normal time they could expect a sheriff to take
to serve court documents.

CORRECTIONS BRANCH

1.

The Lower Mainland Regional Correctional
Centre removed protective custody inmates
from the East Wing and provided a separate
unit for them which reduced harassment dur-
ing laundry change, food lineups, phone calls
and recreation periods.

. The East Wing of the L.M.R.C.C. increased the

amount of tobacco issued to inmates, thus re-
solving a complaint of unfair distribution to
qualifying inmates.

. The West Wing of the L.M.R.C.C. provided a

daily exercise period at noon-hqur for protec-
tive custody inmates awaiting trial.

The L.M.R.C.C. completed a feasibility study
for the distribution of medication to inmates by
medically qualified staff. A review by the Co!-
lege of Physicians and Surgeons also supported
aprovincial standard regarding the distribution
of medication which was submitted for the
approval of the Commissioner.

The L.M.R.C.C. clarified procedures to handle
the purchase of special diet foods for the
hospital.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

. A secure Correctional Centre reviewed and

revised the list of personal possessions which
an inmate may keep on his person while in
custody. The objective was to reduce theft and
inmate conflicts.

The Kamloops Regional Correctional Centre,
forced by overcrowding to utilize its segrega-
tion area for different types of inmates, de-
veloped a work program out of the segregation
unit.

. The Kamloops Regional Correctional Centre

reduced the number of complaints from the
segregation area that food was being adulter-
ated. Close supervision and local resolution of
complaints contributed to the reduction.

. The Prince George Regional Correctional Cen-

tre kept a promise to return sentenced inmates,
transferred from Prince George after the riot,
back to in Prince George after five or six weeks,
where they would be close to their families.

The Vancouver Pre-trial Service Centre agreed
to post a recreation schedule in each unit,
giving all inmates equal access to the recrea-
tion facilities.

The Vancouver Pre-Trial Service Centre re-
stored the practice of allowing all-night use of
a radio by an inmate in his cell.

The Corrections Branch’s program analysis and
evaluation section reviewed existing policies
and regulations concerning regular and family
visits as a first step towards developing consis-
tent guidelines and policies for family visits.

The Corrections Branch instituted a procedure
by which a prior written agreement would be
prepared stating the inmate’s costs of new
dentures.

The Branch developed standard policy and
procedures governing disbursement of funds
from inmate trust accounts and agreed to in-
corporate this policy in its Operations Manual.

The Corrections Branch included in the tempo-
rary absence program inmates who are in
custody as a result of civil contempt of court,
failing to comply with a civil court order, or
failure to pay maintenance under the Family
Relations Act.

MINISTRY OF CONSUMER AND
CORPORATE AFFAIRS

1.
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The Ministry agreed to reconsider conflicting
provisions in the Credit Reporting Act and in the
Regulations, pursuant to the Act, concerning the
requirement to notify a prospective borrower
that a credit report about him or her will be
obtained.

2.

The Ministry’s Liquor Distribution Branch
agreed to sell all liquor products at their sticker
price, even if the sticker price is lower than it
should be.

MINISTRY OF ENERGY, MINES AND
PETROLEUM RESOURCES.

1.

The Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum
Resources agreed to ask all mine managers,
whose employees are required to undergo med-
ical examinations, to inform their employees
that they have the legal right to a report of the
medical findings. The Ministry also agreed to
remind labour unions of workers’ right to such
reports.

MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT

1.

The Ministry clarified its policy concerning the
issuance of sustenance permits for hunting out
of season, so as to avoid the confusion which
had arisen the previous year.

. The Ministry agreed to change the regulatory

requirements for exporting wildlife carcasses, in
order to minimize problems for hunters who
detoured outside the province with game they
had killed in B.C.

. The Ministry agreed to review the legislation

and administrative guidelines pertaining to dis-
aster relief, so as to clarify citizens’ eligibility for
compensation.

MINISTRY OF FORESTS

1.

The Ministry, in cooperation with the Ministry of

Environment, agreed to develop a new system

whereby trappers, who might be adversely af-
fected by timber harvesting in the area of their
traplines, would be notified in advance.

MINISTRY OF HEALTH

. The Community Care Facilities Licensing

Board agreed to inform prospective licensees
that operating a day care centre in a family
home will result in a higher B.C. Hydro elec-
trical service rate.

. The Provincial Adult Care Facilities Licensing

Board agreed that, prior to cancelling a Long
Term Care facility licence, it will notify the
licensee of the impending hearing by letter,
followed by a telephone call. The Board will
also inform the licensee of his or her right to
legal counsel and will provide the licensee
with documents supporting the recommenda-
tion for cancellation.



10.

. The Forensic Psychiatric Institute agreed to

clarify its policy about visiting privileges, de-
tailing the grounds on which visiting privileges
can be suspended or modified.

. The Forensic Psychiatric Services Commission

agreed to establish a policy, in cases of alleged
sexual abuse of a resident of the Forensic Psy-
chiatric Institute by a staff member, requiring
that the patient be immediately examined by a
doctor and the police to be notified.

. The Chairman of the Review Panel, established

under the Mental Health Act to review the
committal of patients to Mental Health facili-
ties, agreed to receive patient applications for
hearings at his home address for the duration of
the 1983 provincial government labour
dispute.

. The Ministry of Health agreed that when trans-

ferring residents from Riverview Hospital to
Valleyview Hospital, it would not move a pa-
tient to an environment where the patient
would be less independent.

. The Ministry agreed to remind Medical Serv-

ices Plan staff that persons applying for pre-
mium assistance, who are over 65 years old
and who have not been in the workforce, need
not obtain Social Insurance Numbers.

. The Ministry finally implemented a previous

agreement (see my 1980 Annual Report, at
page 77 ) that Canadian citizens returning from
the United States would not be required to
surrender their U.S. Alien Registration Cards in
order to qualify for medical coverage here.

. The Division of Vital Statistics agreed to relax

its requirements of proof in order to amend a
birth registration in certain cases.

The Division of Vital Statistics agreed to permit
persons, whose name was spelled incorrectly
on their birth registration, to sign their marriage
licence using the correct spelling of their
name.

MINISTRY OF HUMAN RESOURCES

1.

The Ministry agreed to reword its policy ex-
plaining the eligibility requirements for adult
applicants residing with their parents but who
do not live in a “room & board situation”. The
rewritten policy dispelis the formerly mistaken
impression that such applicants were not en-
titled to shelter benefits.

. The Ministry agreed to discontinue its practice

of printing clients’ social insurance numbers
on income assistance cheques.

. The Ministry will no longer refuse to grant

shelter benefits to applicants, who are waiting
for unemployment insurance benefits, until

10.

11,

12.

13.

after an eviction notice has been served on the
applicant by his or her landlord.

. A District Office changed its intake procedures

to ensure that child abuse complaints, re-
ceived on the Help Line, are investigated
immediately.

A District Office agreed that a tribunal can only
rule on questions of current eligibility, except
in cases involving a current recapture of a past
“excess” payment.

. A Regional Office agreed to notify appellants

automatically when a Ministry representative
has been appointed to an appeal tribunal.

The Ministry agreed not to withhold a security
deposit because it disagrees with a client’s
choice of residence.

. A District Office agreed to make rent payments

directly to landlords on behalf of clients only
when the client has demonstrated an inability
to handle finances, and not simply because the
landlord finds it convenient (as had been their
practice).

. The Ministry agreed to establish a procedure

that will ensure appeal tribunal decisions are
implemented without unreasonable delay.

The Ministry agreed to develop policy to speci-
fically address the question of how shelter ben-
efits for co-op housing members are to be
calculated.

A District Office agreed to notify clients'when
benefits are terminated, rather than stop send-
ing the cheques and waiting for the client to ask
why benefits were not received.

The Ministry, which is responsible for billing
the federal government for the cost-sharable
portions of the Legal Services Society’s client
biflings, agreed to restrict its requests for infor-
mation to non-identifying data. Thus, solicitor-
client privilege is better protected.

The Ministry agreed to implement the follow-
ing guidelines governing internal requests for
information:

a. Confidentiality for clients and informants
must be maintained.

b. All letters alleging income assistance abuse
must be retained on file.

c. Information requested must be specific and
relevant to a case; the reason for the request
must be clearly stated.

d. All income assistance fraud investigations
must be reported to the Inspector.

e. Clients under investigation for income as-
sistance fraud must be informed of the in-
vestigation as soon as possible, be given the
opportunity to defend themselves, and be
informed of their rights.
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3. B.C. Hydro reworded its notice of disconnec-

tion to landlords whose tenants’ rent includes
the cost of electric and gas service so that the
remedies available to tenants under the Residen-
tial Tenancy Act are more clearly stated.

DISTRICT OF TUMBLER RIDGE

1.

The Commissioner of the District of Tumbler
Ridge agreed to withdraw the requirement that
only mobile homes less than five years old are
allowed in the new municipally owned mobile
home park.

. The terms of the proposed standard tenancy

agreement for the municipality’s mobile home
park were changed to conform to the provisions
of the Residential Tenancy Act and to eliminate
unfair or unreasonable requirements and
restrictions.

INSURANCE CORPORATION OF B.C.

1.

The Corporation agreed to send computer print-
outs of rehabilitation expenses to affected policy
holders on a regular basis.

. The Corporation agreed to distribute a bulletin

instructing its adjusters to frame their questions
to doctors, regarding the disablement of house-
wives, in terms of the specific wording of the
Regulation as it pertains to housewife disability
benefits.

. The Corporation agreed to allow policy holders

at least ten working days to consider offers of
settlement.

. The Corporation agreed to distribute a bulletin

instructing its adjusters not to record irrelevant
comments on file.

. The Corporation agreed to the following im-

provements in its procedure for terminating ac-
cident benefits:

a. When accident benefits are to be terminated,
I.C.B.C. will send written notice of the termi-
nation to the claimant one week in advance
of the termination.

b. The written notice will include one of two
reasons for termination (either medical evi-
dence indicates recovery; or medical infor-
mation is lacking).

c. A pamphlet outlining the appeal procedures
will be enclosed with each notice of
termination.

d. The name and phone number of the adjuster
to contact if further information is required
will also be included in the notice.

e. A copy of the notice will be sent to the claim-
ant’s lawyer if the Corporation knows that the
claimant is represented.

6. The Corporation agreed to remind its claim cen
tre staff that only the debt of the registered owne
of a vehicle involved in a claim may be set of
against a claim.

7. The Corporation agreed to implement a first stey
towards calculating cancellation refunds on :
daily basis. The short-rate table periods have
been reduced from 15 day periods to 3 or 4 day
periods, and the difference between the re
funded amounts for each period has been re
duced from 4 percent to 1 percent. The max
imum refundable percentage of a policy holder”
premium has been increased from 86 percent tc
89 percent.

8. The Corporation agreed to amend its Regulatior
concerning the limitation period for claiming
no-fault benefits. The limitation period has now
been extended from one year to two years fror
the date of the accident, or from the date
I.C.B.C. made the last benefit payment.

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

1. The Commission agreed to keep tape recording
of appeal hearings for at least three months ir
case questions about the hearing are raised later

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD

1. The Commissioners agreed to remind con:
sultants and the Board’s medical staff to con:
fine their remarks on claimants’ medical his.
tory strictly to medical matters or othe
information of medical relevance, and to pres:
ent all information fairly and courteously.

2. After reviewing a questionnaire placed before
Medical Review Panels, the Commissioner:
agreed to revise the questions because they dic
not address the possibility of “multi-factorial’
causation for claimants whose injuries are
healed by the time of the hearing.

3. Because of delays in the approval of claims
which could be covered by either the Workers'
Compensation Board or the Criminal Injury
Compensation Board, the Commissioners
agreed to a change in procedures. Claimants
now have access to better information and
there is a better mechanism to determine
which agency is responsible for a claim.

4. The Workers’ Compensation Board agreed to
cease the practice of asking the Employer’s
Adviser to suggest the specialist to be nomi-
nated to a Medical Review Panel when the
employer has ceased to carry on business or
the worker is a partner in or member of the firm
that is the employer. In such cases, the Board
will make the choice, as provided by the
legislation.
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The Board agreed to establish a new procedure
for claims, which had been accepted but
which subsequently became suspect, resulting
in a cessation of payments. In such cases, the
Claims Adjudicator must refer the file to his
Administrator if no decision on whether to con-
tinue payments has been made four weeks
after the last payment. If the Administrator does
not consider the reasons for not making pay-
ments valid, he will instruct the Claims Ad-
judicator to commence payments retroactive
to the date they were stopped.

. Asaresultof acomplaintand its resolution, the

Board agreed to the following: when the
Board’s doctor disagrees with the examining
physician’s opinion that a miner has signs of
silicosis, the examining physician will be
asked to inform the miner of the difference of
opinion. The Board doctor will also ask the
examining physician to refer the miner to a
specialist for a third opinion.

. The Commissioners agreed to publish a direc-

tive instructing all Board staff to confine their
comments regarding claims to relevant matters
which they have personally observed or for
which there is supporting evidence.

. The Board agreed to publish a pamphlet advis-

ing employers of equipment operators of their

10.

11.

12.

13.

responsibility to ensure the competency of op-
erators, and apprising them of Section 26.24 of
the Industrial Health and Safety Regulations
(Competency and Testing of Operators).

. The Board agreed to allow decisions regarding

rehabilitation to be appealed to the Boards of
Review.

The Board agreed to assess pre-existing and
post-injury disabilities independently of other
agencies for purposes of applying proportio-
nate entitlement.

The Board reversed its policy of refusing to
grant personal optional coverage to indepen-
dent operators who previously declared bank-
ruptcy while owing the Board money.

The Board agreed to prepare a pamphlet for
claimants who have a right of action against
some person other than an employer or worker
covered by the Workers Compensation Act.
The pamphlet would provide full information
on the implications of choosing either to sue
that party for damages or subrogating that right
to the Board and then claiming compensation.

The Board agreed to require Medical Review
Panels to also determine, in all cases coming
before the Panels, whether the worker’s injury
had aggravated, accelerated or activated his or
her pre-existing condition.



TALK BACK:

CORRESPONDENCE FROM
COMPLAINANTS AND

“We now wish to acknowledge your letter of Sep-
tember 8, 1982 and to thank you and Elaine Rivers
for the comprehensive investigation which was
done.

The ranchers’ problems with the Forest Service
probably have more to do with the provisions of the
Range Act itself than with personnel, though our
local range officers are apparently more difficult to
deal with than those in some other areas. At least,
ranchers in the Okanagan say they have good co-
operation with their Forest Service officers and can-
not understand why we have problems.

The struggle | have had to prove my point about the
range has cost me many wasted dollars and a great
deal of valuable time. If the Forest Service had
listened to the local range users in the first place and
had taken the trouble to verify our contentions as to
the standard of our range management, this whole
mess could have been avoided, and furthermore the
thousands of dollars spent on the appeal board
might not have been necessary. What worries me
the most is the fact that Forest Service people will
not listen.

The work done on this problem by yourself and by
Elaine Rivers is deeply appreciated. Our very good
wishes for a rewarding year in 1983

Midway
December 31, 1982

“We sincerely appreciate the expeditious manner in
which your office handled our grievance. Thank
you.

OTHERS

The difference in the tax classification halved our
assessment; a fact which will keep our marginal
business alive”

Sechelt
January 18, 1983

“Thank you for setting us straight on the matter of
Medical Services. It has troubled me for some time.
| do not wish to evade payments when they are
needed. Which in my case were not, as | think you
know now. I have no income besides my pension,
am in my 82nd birthday, and have so far not re-
quired medical services, except for a few
prescriptions.”

Burnaby
January 19, 1983

“We would like to thank you and your office for all
the help you have given to us in our problems with
the Workers” Compensation Board. | indicated in
the enclosed copy that your efforts were fruitful in
this matter. I will notify your office as to the outcome
of the findings at the hearing.”

Vancouver
January 23, 1983

Letter to “KINESIS”, Vancouver, B.C. — February
1983 Issue

“A victorious slash through B.C. government ‘red
tape” was achieved after | was represented by the
Office of the Ombudsman in a case involving the
Department of Vital Statistics.
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In May of 1982 as a single parent, | completed the
required birth registration for my daughter, not
questioning the statement on the form which told
me to complete within 30 days.

I felt rushed and concerned (for legal and personal
reasons) because my daughter’s father, at that time,
was not prepared to sign the Acknowledgement of
Paternity’. However, | rushed off the papers, minus
father’s particulars and paternity signature.

A month later, ‘father’ stated he was willing to ac-
knowledge paternity and have his particulars listed
on our daughter’s birth registration. What ensued
was an example of the bureaucratic stance taken by
the Department of Vital Statistics.

When | requested that paternity papers be added to
the birth registration, | was told that that was impos-
sible. Later, | spoke with an MHR social worker
who, after looking into the matter for a couple of
weeks, reported back to me, ‘Impossible’.

I was not prepared to accept this refusal and so
telephoned the Office of the Ombudsman, wrote a
letter outlining my situation and a month later re-
ceived a phone call from their Victoria office. They
would take on my case and deal with the Depart-
ment of Vital Statistics.

I don’t know all of what went on between these two
parties but | was frequently kept up to date by a
considerate and knowledgeable woman inves-
tigator from the Office of the Ombudsman.

Finally, in November, after having to send addi-
tional medical and personal information and a sec-
ond set of registration papers plus a paternity paper,
| received a welcome phone call telling me that the
additional paternity information had been noted on
the birth registry and witnessed by an Ombudsman
office staff.

‘It's over for you,” | recall the Ombudsman staff
saying, ‘but not for Vital Statistics” It seems that ours
was a test case and that the Department will have to
look at policy changes and perhaps, changes in the
provincial Act.

I have written the facts concerning this situation but,
as important, are the feelings | experienced
throughout. As I recall, anger and powerlessness are
what | most felt trying to deal in a system that deals
with paper and policies and forgets that there are
real people ‘out there’.

Perhaps there are other women ‘out there’ who are
up against similar bureaucracy. Let me encourage
you to make your anger and powerless feelings
work for you. Don't believe that your situation is
‘impossible’. Every dent in the ‘paper politics’
helps.”

Ms. Patricia Green
Vancouver
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“. . .lwouldlike to add, on behalf of my family and
myself, that the prompt and efficient action in-
stituted by your Department is most commendable.
You certainly have our sincerest gratitude for a job
well done.”

Vancouver
February 3, 1983

“Thank you for your letter of January 17, 1983
outlining our dealings with the Lands, Parks and
Housing.

We received copies of the lease last week which we
signed and returned at their request.

We settled for the last proposal of $5,500 being a
fair market value as we are sick and tired of the
whole thing, these people can’t seem to look at
things in a business-like manner and get quite of-
fended if anybody questions their decisions. Even
after settling on their last figure they did not bother
sending a copy of the lease until Ms. Williams got
back on the case.

However, we are more than satisfied with the efforts
put forth by your office on our behalf and feel that
without your help we would have gotten nowhere.

Thank you for all your time and trouble, we really
appreciate all you have done. It is good to know
your office is there to deal with matters of this kind.
We would appreciate receiving a copy of your 1982
Annual Report.”

Mackenzie
February 13, 1983

“In my personal opinion your refusal and/or failure
to appropriately address this complaint of miscar-
riage of justice or authority is an abominable mis-
treatment of your public position and a serious
disservice to all the people of this province.”

Saanichton
February 25, 1983

“We wish to express our gratitude to the Om-
budsman and staff for their efforts on our behalf

With reluctance we must agree with you, further
investigation would be quite useless, nevertheless
we feel a need to express our view, if for no other
reason than to get it off our chest.

1. The Minister did allow Mr. M. to subdivide with
no physical access.

2. Ministry has no idea what lies beyond our yard.
We did ask them to look.

To say the least, at taxpayer’s expense our politicians
are spending enormous dollars to shuffle the Crown
Corporations and maintenance back into private
sectors. Since there will be no added traffic, 40 ft.
strip will be left for their so-called future develop-



ment when this time comes and till then we main-
tain our own road.

We are well aware that the Ministry is towing us to
the line of the Land Title Act, but we are also aware
that they compromise to different situation.”

Nelson
March 11, 1983

“This letter is simply to express my thanks for your
efforts on my behalf in the above matter. Even
though the results were not exactly as | had hoped,
but still, hopefully had the effect of letting 1.C.B.C.
know that the ordinary citizen is interested in their
activities. Only yesterday | received a letter from
them acknowledging my earlier correspondence
with them. Again, thank you for your efforts on my
behalf, you represent the only vehicle by which the
average person can hope to receive satisfaction
from many government agencies.”

Port Alberni
March 27, 1983

“This is to acknowledge a letter from your office
dated March 18, and also to thank you for your
efforts on behalf of my brother, . . .

I’'m sure that your inquiries helped to speed [his]
transfer from the Forensic Institute to Riverview
Hospital. While there hasn’t been any startling im-
provement, [he] has settled into a routine and seems
much more stable emotionally as well as physically.

Once again, from my whole family, thank you for
your work.”

Vancouver
April 6, 1983

“In reference to your letter to me dated April 5,
1983 File No. 82 . . .., regarding my difference of
opinion with the Ministry of Highways: | wish to
thank you personally, and wish my thanks be made
known to Mr. Cooper and Mr. Tuokko for their
efforts on my behalf in this matter.

Even though you are not able to do anything definite
| feel that your efforts and particularly, the Public
Report #3 that you sent to me with your comments
will be a genuine help when the Ministry of High-
ways comes to me again, as they will have to do in
the future. It gives me some ideas on how to better
deal with the negotiator.

Thank you once more, | have not decided just what
to do but I intend to go over my file once more and
read your Public Report thoroughly. Then | must
decide if it is worth the effort to seek legal advice, |
rather think not.”

Golden
April 9, 1983

“As you will note from the enclosed letter we haw
accepted the terms offered by the B.C. Ferr
Corporation.

We are fortunate to be in a financial position tc
obtain a new bicycle despite the low sum offered
There seemed little point in prolonging the mattei
especially as my daughter does need a bicycle.

As | mentioned on the phone | am glad that the
Corporation has at least acknowledged that som:
gesture had to be made. It is important for youny
people that they not become cynical (too soon a
least) about the responsiveness of bureaucracy.

Thank you very much for routing us in the prope
direction and monitoring our experience. We are
most appreciative of your efforts.”

Vancouver
April 14, 1983

“It would appear that it is time for the provincia
government to evaluate the relationship betweer
the cost to the taxpayers of the Office of the Om
budsman, and its usefulness. My own impression i.
that it is just another means of providing incompe
tence with large salaries and pension funds.”

Clearwater
April 19, 1983

“First of all, thank you for your letter of March 16t}
regarding my problems with the S.A.F.E.R. program
Words can’t express my gratitude for the work done
by your office on my behalf.

This letter should have been written a long time ago
but health problems which were aggravated by the
SAFER incident have upset my life a great deal, and
am not yet quite back to normal. . . .

Thank you again for doing the work you are doing
not only for me, but for so many others. | have sen
some of your reports to friends and relatives ir
Sweden and will pick up some more the next time
I'm in the neighborhood of Bastion Square.”

Victoria
April 23, 1983

“Many thanks for your letter of April 22, 1983
advising the outcome of your investigation of my
complaint about the Ministry of Finance . . .

| am very appreciative of the efforts you have taker
in this regard and, naturally, very pleased with the
result. It does, indeed, make one realize that there
are times when justice will still prevail — ever
though one really has to persevere and fight for it. Ir
our democratic society this should not have to be
necessary but it seems that more and more ou
Governments are taking unfair advantage of the
people and if they are permitted to get away with it
shudder to think what the future holds.

Again, | thank you for your interest, co-operatior
and successful effort”

Salmon Arm
April 28, 1983
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“l am afraid | must apologize for not contacting you
sooner to express my appreciation personally, and
on behalf of the B.C. Association for the Mentally
Retarded for the practical and valuable assistance
which your office gave to us . . . At the time that |
contacted your office | was literally grasping at
straws and found two reasonable and practical ini-
tiatives to follow after talking with Ms. Libby Britneff
and Mr. Parfitt. . . .

“ British Columbia Association for

the Mentally Retarded, Vancouver
A.B. Etmanski, Executive Director
May 2, 1983

“I wish to thank you very much for your efforts on
my behalf which resulted in my getting back holi-
day pay that was owed me by the Department of
Education.

Perhaps to many the sum of two hundred plus does
not sound much, but for me it is very useful indeed,
although it was the principle that really mattered.

I hope the department of education will remember
the others whom they have overlooked on this
matter”

Victoria

May 8, 1983

“Thank you for your letter of May 2, 1983. We have
been very pleased with the manner in which your
office has dealt with our complaint. It is comforting
to know that there is this means to tackle injustice
without the complications of a court battle.”

Victoria
June 5, 1983

“We have received a reply from Dr. Friedmann
indicating that he has investigated quite thoroughly
our complaints. We have shared the letters with our
parents and naturally we are disappointed that such
out and out contraventions of several Acts are toler-
ated by government officials but | am sure this will
not ever really rectify itself. We will of course, re-
spect the fact that every effort was made by your
office to correct the situation and our appreciation
for all your efforts is shared by all of us here.

I wanted to end our correspondence with an inter-
esting story. . . . 5o in spite of all the letters and Dr.
Friedmann slapping the hands of these officials, the
problems remain, so | am just as convinced as ever
that these indiscretions will continue simply be-
cause they are permitted to do so. . . . You have
acted as middle man in this and we feel that your
efforts have been very commendable and all of us
here would like to express our'appreciation for that.
Your job is not an easy one but you have lent a
patient ear and that is more than we have received
from other sources.”

Coquitlam
June 8, 1983
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“I am writing in regards to your recent letter where
you outlined the outcome of your discussions with
the Ministry of Health. | cannot say | am entirely
surprised at the outcome of this affair.

I would like to personally thank you and your staff
for your obviously considerable efforts on our be-
half. I am glad to hear that this unfortunate situation
will not be repeated.

Once again, thank you very much.

P.S. Perhaps it is time | read Machiavelli’s ‘The
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Prince’.

Vancouver
June 9, 1983

“Enclosed is a copy of the letter received yesterday
regarding our medical coverage.

We want to thank you for understanding and caring
and are very grateful for all your assistance.”

Kelowna
June 20, 1983

“I would like to thank again, you and your staff
notably Bill Trott, for your kind assistance last sum-
mer in dealing with the Dental Care Program. | am
grateful that your office exists and actually provides
the service intended.”

Vancouver
June 26, 1983

“I want to thank you. You got I.C.B.C. moving and
we have settled with 1.C.B.C. Thank you for your
work in the matter. We could not get them to move.
Thank you again for a job well done.”

Clearbrook
July 6, 1983

“| appreciate the investigation you undertook on my
behalf last year and hope that the recent govern-
ment cutbacks do not seriously impair your work.”

Salmo
July 8, 1983

“I' am most appreciative and grateful that you have
the decency to reply to my ‘trying’ letters and you
do show action and a real concern in the public’s
problems. Thank you again for whatever action you
may deem necessary.”

Trail
July 12, 1983

“I would like to bring to your attention that your
office staff was unable to handle a simple straight-
forward complaint against I.C.B.C. with any results.
To compound matters, one has the distinct feeling
after reading your letter from May 10, 1983, that



your office and I.C.B.C. is working hand in hand. It
appears to be a waste of time and money for any
ordinary citizen of B.C. to think that help is forth-
coming from your department.”

New Westminster
July 15, 1983

“lust a note to thank you and to let you know that |
really appreciated all the assistance you gave me in
regards to B.C. Hydro. With Jill out of town, [ really
was in trouble, and | was convinced in my own
mind that the power should never have been cut off.
| related Friday’s events to Jill in great detail on
Monday morning. She loved it. Said something like
‘you started out a secretary, became an assistant and
now a paralegal’ What's in a name? It’s all the same
work, hey? But, | was pleased. She also mumbled
something like ‘go outta town for half a day and my
secretary takes on B.C. Hydro. However, | did tell
her that it was really you who brought about the
very favourable end result”

Prince George
August 9, 1983

“This is a very belated thank you for your letter
regarding the Ministry of Environment’s comments
and your qualifications re the above.

It has been our understanding that the milfoil has
not been the problem but we appreciate any effort
to control the flooding. It has appeared that part of
the problem was lack of communication between
those controlling the flow by computer and those
who could observe the actual lake. It is important
that residents be included in any plans and that they
be able to make suggestions. . . .

We personally feel your department was of benefit
to those of us along the shore of Vaseux Lake and we
do thank you for your assistance.

We also wish you well in general and sincerely trust
your department will be allowed to continue its
good works. You and the department are much
needed.”

North Vancouver
August 9, 1983

“| received your letter of August 2, 1983 and wish to
thank you for it. | also wish to thank you for all the
help that you have given me with regards to prop-
erty | own in the Coquihalla Pass. | especially wish
to thank you and your assistant Ms. Holly Williams
for the meeting that was arranged with Mr. W. of the
Ministry of Transportation and Highways in
Kamloops.

I would like to inform you that the meeting between
Mr. W., my lawyer and myself went well and that an
amicable settlement is being discussed. | have en-

closed a copy of the letter | received from the Hon-
ourable Alex V. Fraser, Minister of Transportation
and Highways.”

Vancouver
August 23, 1983

“Thank you very much for your letter regarding the
problem | had some time ago with the Human
Resources. | appreciated very much the help and
the courtesy | received from your staff, especially
Susan, after the embarrassment and humiliation |
had suffered at that time from the social worker
concerned.

The outcome of it all was rather tragic. The party to
whom | had been giving temporary shelter disap-
peared on the day that | told him that the social
worker had ordered me to have him out of my place
by the end of June. He was reported missing on June
2nd and his body was found seven weeks later in the
Vedder river!

Please convey my thanks to Susan for her help,
perhaps you can fill her in as to the outcome of it all.
When | presented myself for my annual review on
July 11, there was a marked change in the attitude of
the social worker towards me.

It is a great comfort to know that there is help and
advice available from people like you when one
feels that there has been an injustice”

Sardis
August 30, 1983

“On behalf of Mayor Douglas Pollock and the
Council of the Village of Lions Bay, | would like to
convey my thanks to you and your staff for the
concerned assistance you have given the Village of
Lions Bay over the past few months regarding the
release of the Thurber Report.”

Lions Bay
August 30, 1983

“I received your letter on the question of road 39F in
which you state that the Dept. of Highways have in
fact treated me and the situation before me reason-
able. In my opinion your investigation, after six
yearsofthebull. . ..you,S. . ..,P. . ..and Alex
Fraser has handed Mr. B . . .., Mr. V. . .. and
myself, if | was a man in your position and could do
no more | would be thoroughly ashamed of myself
in siding with a gov't. dept. against the common
man. | hope to God Bennett fires you and your
whole damned staff for you and your staff are
useless to the common man as tits on a boar. You
take the people’s money, sitin a nice office, have hot
and cold running secretarys and you along with all
your buddys and depts. don’t give one . . .. about
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me down here in the bush, the guy that helps pay
you . . .. wages. | shall take care of the problem
myself”

{three expletives deleted]

Wardner
August 30, 1983

“My husband and I wish to thank you for your help
and advice with our problems with Workers’ Com-
pensation. The knee operation was done by micro-
surgery, and David had the most wonderful care
and treatment by the doctors, specialists and also
the staff at Nanaimo Hospital. We trust that your
good deeds and caring will be returned to you and
wish you health and happiness.”

Lantzville
September 6, 1983

“On behalf of the Valley residents in the flood plain
of Tuc-el-Nuit Lake, | would like to sincerely thank
you for your efforts and cooperation in bringing a
difficult problem to an end.”

Oliver
September 15, 1983

“I have for acknowledgement your letter dated Sep-
tember 30th, 1983, and wish to state that | am very
gratified with the manner in which you have man-
aged to exert reasonable pressure on an otherwise
dogmatic government agency. . . .

In closing your file it is hoped that you will feel that
the dispute was worthy of your effort, if only to
acquaint the bureaucracy with the need to recogn-
ize reason and fair play.

Thank you again and | do hope that you will be able
to continue in your present capacity for many more
years of service to the people of British Columbia, in
particular a renewal of your term of office which
will expire all too soon.”

Castlegar
October 6, 1983

“We wish to express our thanks to you and your staff
in this instance Mr. Michael LaBrooy for his great
assistance in helping us to obtain second Water
Rights from government land adjacent to our
property.

You can well imagine our appreciation in obtaining
water, we are both senior citizens and have been
fighting for water since 1978.

Mr. LaBrooy did a thorough investigation and
brought before the Water Board, facts which they
had previously ignored, leading to a water measure-
ment which proved that there was sufficient water
for both parties.
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We wish you and your department continuing suc-
cess in helping those who believe that they are
being denied the justices to which they are entitled;
once more, thank you.”

Egmont
October 12, 1983

“I received a satisfactory pension thanks to your skill
and understanding on knowing what to do. May |
quickly say along with my wife Marian that the Lord
used you to help me as | really did deserve a settle-
ment of substance. You advised me and | took your
advice and things got going even though at times
things got rough.”

Burnaby
October 13, 1983

“Please accept this letter as an expression of our
sincere gratitude for your effortson R . . . s behalf.
We also wish to take this opportunity to recognize
and express our appreciation for the very capable
performance of your Vancouver Office staff, with
special thanks to Michelle Gelfand and Judy
Bronfman, who were a pleasure to deal with and
who, in their professional manner, represented your
office so well.

Although you were unsuccessful in your efforts to
assist in this matter, Mr. C . . .. is grateful for your
endeavours.”

Kamloops
October 13, 1983

“This is a quick note to thank you for your prompt
and courteous attention to my verbal complaint
imposed on you yesterday. Further, may | tell you,
that consistent with the medical department re-
sponses to you | saw the doctor this morning. The
doctor advised me that “he was glad | contacted
your office” as he felt some examinations of the
department handling of situations was healthy. He
also apologized to me for the erroneous course of
events, and took appropriate measures to ensure my
medication was given for an indeterminate period,
as well as weekly evaluations by him to be done.

I am most pleased with the end results of your
inquiry and am surprisingly pleased with the high
standards you exhibit as an individual as well as the
quality of the Ombudsman’s office in general.”

Vancouver
October 23, 1983

“This is just a short note to let you know how
efficient, and very helpful, are the staff you employ.
A bouquet for Angela Hamilton, Helen Hughes,
Susan Doyle, and Libby. Also our warm and sincere
thanks to all your people, who have helped me in
the many dealings, | have had with them.



There were two occasions that | would like to thank
you for. Laurence A.; for his driver’s licence has
been returned to him; Mrs. Florence C. for the help
we received with Human Resources; and for the
retroactive payment that was made to her.

Keep up the good work, as you have a very friendly,
helpful staff. Also thanks to you and your office.”

Chetwynd
November 1, 1983

“I am now (finally!) in possession of Province of
British Columbia cheque #53. . . . in the amount
of $594.36. After the length of time it took to obtain
it, you can be sure it was a welcome sight.

I simply want to thank you once again for your
invaluable aid in oiling the creeky wheels of bu-
reaucratic process and cutting the red tape involved
in obtaining this replacement of my stolen cheque.
It’s nice to know that the “little guy” can win once in
awhile, thanks to people like you.”

Vancouver
November 15, 1983

“Thank you for your letter of November 14th to-
gether with the authorization form which | have
duly signed and enclosed with this letter. | find
myself at a loss for words to properly express my
sincere gratitude and appreciation for the effort, the
amount of time and the patience you have shown
me on these trying matters. Thank you and God
bless. I hope and pray the Office of the Ombudsman
will survive the test of time and maintain the inde-
pendence from political interference. To thousands
of people as myself it is a pillar of strength and
hope”

Nanaimo
November 18, 1983

“I would like to express my appreciation for work
done by your staff on my behalf. Special thanks to
Mr. Rick Cooper who, after much discussion with

. .., myself. and I’'m sure many others, resolved
this matter in our favor.

I believe changes made in the truck hire list pro-
duced a fairer, more clear cut set of rules that every-
one can live by.

After numerous frustrating attempts at a local level
failed to change anything, I’'m grateful that there
was another avenue of complaint to pursue, namely
your office.

I sincerely hope that in the name of restraint, this
most valuable service is not going to be significantly
reduced. Thank you.”

Lumby
November 21, 1983

“I would like to say a big ‘thank you’ for your help
and encouragement in this matter, with the Work-
ers’ Compensation Board. Once the Board was ad-
vised of the correct information, Mr. Gunn was very
helpful. Also, a thank you, to the lady, that visited
Quesnel, Mrs. Holley, I believe. Naturally, | am very
pleased that this matter has been resolved at last. |
believe your office and your sincere personal inter-
est was a big factor in this case, as | was getting,
pretty well, fed up with their ill-founded threats, as |
saw it

Quesnel
November 24, 1983

“Please accept my gratitude for the efforts your
office did on my behalf in resolving my dispute with
the Surveyor of Taxes.

It is only when you have a situation where you seem
to be getting nowhere that you realize how valuable
your office’s function is.”

Coquitlam
December 3, 1983

“Guess what | got in the mail today! Yep it was a
letter from the Motor Vehicle Branch, and I've got a
copy enclosed, for you to read. As you see they've
given me back not only my class 2 driver’s rights, but
also increased it to my original class 1 again. Not
only that, but they‘ve deleted the stipulation that the
licence was to be good only for driving for Pacific
Coach Lines.

| can’t be happier at the way things turned out, and |
know I have you and your office of the Ombudsman
to thank for this unforgettable experience. | know |
couldn’t have gotten a better Christmas present than
this, to go back to my job and provide for my family
like all other people.

I thank you again, Rick and hope some day we’ll
meet in person so | can shake your hand, but for
now me and my family would most sincerely like to
wish you and yours, and your superiors, and staff,
the very best Christmas ever”

Merville
December 9, 1983

“I wish to thank you and your staff for your assis-
tance in dealing with my claim. | have received
payment for 75 percent of my claim and interest for
the period that had elapsed while dealing with my
claim. This has been a satisfactory settlement. | have
been most grateful for your help. Without the help of
you and your staff, | realize that this claim would
have remained unresolved.”

Kaslo
December 19, 1983
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“Just a note to thank you for taking time to effec-
tively deal with my complaint. | didn‘t feel that |
explained it well to you, but you obviously man-
aged to find out whatever you needed to know. . . .
I always felt that your service was an excellent idea,
but this was my first experience that it actually
works.”

Ganges
December 19, 1983

SOME “OFFICIAL” TALK BACK

“l have appreciated your fair minded approach to
the few Corporation issues which have reached
your office.”

B.C.B.C.
Peter Dolezal

“A note of thanks for sending me a copy of the
Annual Report. | shall be photo-copying the section
related to Ministry of Human Resources and dis-
tributing it to staff for review and discussion. A good
learning tool.

Some of the more optimistic news is that we still
have a photo-copier. This is somewhat over-shad-
owed by the Ombudsman Office’s continuing abil-
ity to turn out an interesting and informative Annual
Report. A rarity among reports that pound one into
boredom.”

Ministry of Human Resources
District Supervisor
July 21, 1983

Memo to Staff:

“The Ombudsman, Karl Friedmann, recently sub-
mitted his report for 1982 to the B.C. Legislature. It
is a rather lengthy report giving numerous examples
of how his department has assisted people with
complaints about government. Despite the fact he
had much to say about many ministries, there is
only one short paragraph on Page 49 about this
office, as follows:

‘l have always received the good co-operation of
the Superintendent of Brokers, Insurance, and
Real Estate, and | have not substantiated a com-
plaint against him in the past two years.

I consider this to be one of the highest compliments
the staff of this office has ever received. It indicates
we have served our public well despite the fact we
have faced such problems as staff and budget cuts,
reorganization, moving computerization, etc.

Keep up the good work!!!”

Rupert L. Bullock
Superintendent of Brokers,
Insurance and Real Estate
July 15, 1983

156

“l want to compliment you on the Annual Report
itself. It is not only informative but readable and
even entertaining.”

Labour Relations Board of British
Columbia

Stephen Kelleher, Chairman

July 15, 1983

“l wish to thank you and your staff for the prompt
attention given Mrs. Ts complaint, once ithad been
actioned.

| also wish to commend Ms. D. Hayward, Inves-
tigator, on her astute handling of the casework ma-
terial. Having had previous ownership, | was aware
of several complaint clarifying points. Ms. Hay-
ward shifted, sorted and independently identified
the same pertinent information.”

J.V. Cain, Director

Inspection & Standards Correc-
tions Branch

Ministry of Attorney General
September 22, 1983

“In two of my previous letters to you | have asked
that you advise if you are prepared to attach my
correspondence to you when you make a report to
the legislature. You have not replied one way or the
other. | raise this because | note in your previous
annual report you have never bothered to give to the
Legislature or the Lieutenant Governor in Council
the ‘other side of the story’ as required by Section
24. | would like an answer before you table your
next Annual Report in the Legislature so that if the
Boards of Review are going to be mentioned, | can
consider a response to the Legislature and the Lieu-
tenant Governor in Council or alternatively to ar-
range that my responses are tabled by a Member of
the Legislature.

| request your assurance that there will not be a
repetition of the cartoon, or anything similar to that
which appeared on Page 21 of your 1982 report.
Ridicule is the crudest form of humour and does not
belong in any publication printed under the aegis of
an Ombudsman. The group of people whom | ad-
minister are hard-working and conscientious.”

Gerald S. Levey
Administrative Chairman
Boards of Review

March 22, 1984
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BRITISH COLUMBIA REGIONAL DISTRICTS

Regional Districts

. Alberni-Clayoquot
. Bulkley-Nechako
. Capital Region

Cariboo
Central Fraser Valley

. Central Kootenay

. Central Okanagan
. Columbia-Shuswap
. Comox-Strathcona

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.

Cowichan Valley
Dewdney-Alouette
East Kootenay
Fraser-Cheam
Fraser-Fort George
GCreater Vancouver
Kitimat-Stikine
Kootenay Boundary
Mount Waddington
Nanaimo

. North Okanagan

. Central Coast

. Okanagan-Similkameen

. Peace River-Liard

. Powell River

. Skeena-Queen Charlotte

. Squamish-Lillooet

. Stikine Region (unincorporated)
. Sunshine Coast

. Thompson-Nicola



Percentage of Complaints
Closed by Regional District as of December 31, 1983

Percentage of Percentage of
Total B.C. Total Ombudsman
Popuiation Complaints Closed
Regional Districts (October 1980) (as of Dec. 31, 1983)
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N
-—
—_

Alberni-Clayoquot
Bulkley-Nechako
Capital Region

Cariboo

Central Fraser Valley
Central Kootenay
Central Okanagan
Columbia-Shuswap
Comox-Strathcona

10. Cowichan Valley

11. Dewdney-Alouette

12. East Kootenay

13. Fraser-Cheam

14. Fraser-Fort George

15. Greater Vancouver

16. Kitimat-Stikine

17. Kootenay Boundary

18. Mount Waddington
19. Nanaimo

20. North Okanagan

21. Central Coast

22. Okanagan-Similkameen
23. Peace River-Liard

24. Powell River

25. Skeena-Queen Charlotte
26. Squamish-Lillooet

27. Stikine Region (Unincorporated)
28. Sunshine Coast

29. Thompson-Nicola
Out-of-Province
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Disposition of Complaints (Proclaimed Authorities)
Closed Between January 1983 and December 1983

Substan-

Resolved: tiated:
Corrected Corrected Substan-
Declined during after tiated Not
Withdrawn Investi- Recommen- but Not Substan-
Discontinued gation dation Rectified tiated TOTAL
A. MINISTRIES

Agriculture and Food 3 3 0 0 4 10
Attorney General 154 138 18 0 118 428
Consumer and Corporate

Affairs 109 40 3 1 60 213
Education 13 12 1 0 9 35
Energy, Mines and

Petroleum Resources 8 3 1 0 1 13
Environment 21 38 5 1 47 112
Finance 13 41 1 0 48 103
Forests 19 13 2 2 14 50
Health 54 83 19 0 53 209
Human Resources 411 328 8 0 237 984
Industry and Small Business

Development 5 1 0 0 3 9
Labour 45 31 4 1 23 104
Lands, Parks and Housing 50 56 2 0 55 163
Municipal Affairs 17 7 0 1 16 41
Provincial Secretary 10 5 1 0 3 19
Transportation and

Highways 102 64 1 5 91 263
Tourism 1 0 1 0 0 2
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Substan-

Resolved: tiated:
Corrected Corrected Substan-
Declined during after tiated Not
Withdrawn Investi- Recommen- but Not Substan-
Discontinued gation dation Rectified tiated TOTAL
B. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, ETC.

Agricultural Land

Commission 6 1 0 0 10 17
B.C Assessment Authority 11 7 0 0 15 33
B.C. Board of Parole 2 2 0 0 4 8
B.C. Buildings Corporation 2 2 1 0 2 7
B.C. Ferry Corporation 7 8 1 0 3 19
B.C. Housing Management

Commission 3 9 0 0 17 29
B.C. Hydro and Power

Authority 51 85 0 0 23 159
B.C. Railway 6 0 0 0 2 8
B.C. Transit 4 2 0 0 1 7
Criminal Injuries

Compensation 8 1 1 0 0 10
Environmental Appeal

Board 3 0 0 0 2 5
Insurance Corporation of

B.C. 310 325 24 4 147 810
Labour Relations Board 14 5 0 0 10 29
Medical Services

Commission 1 2 0 0 2 5
Motor Carrier Commission 6 2 0 0 3 11
Municipal Police Boards 23 3 0 0 4 30
Public Service Commission 1 3 2 0 4 20
Superannuation Commission 1 7 1 1 6 16
Tumbler Ridge 2 3 0 0 1 6
Workers’ Compensation

Board 319 66 32 2 63 482
WCB Boards of Review 35 3 7 1 5 51
OTHERS 47 18 3 1 17 86
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Extent of Service

Complaints Against Unproclaimed Authorities
(Sections 3—11 Schedule of the Ombudsman Act)
Closed between January 1983 and December 1983

Extent of Service

Information Inquiries
No assistance provided/ made and
necessary or Referral resolution
possible arranged facilitated TOTAL
Municipalities (Section 4) 8 175 29 212
Regional Districts (Section 5) 1 65 14 80
Public Schools (Section 7) 1 41 19 61
Universities (Section 8) 0 2 0 2
Colleges and Provincial Institutes (Section 9) 0 0 3 3
Hospital Boards (Section 10) 2 31 6 39
Professional and Occupational Associations
(Section 11) 1 8 4 13
Extent of Service
Non-Jurisdictional Complaints
Closed between January 1983 and December 1983
Extent of Service
Information Inquiries
No assistance provided/ made and
necessary or Referral resolution
possible arranged facilitated TOTAL
Federal, other provincial, territorial and
foreign governments 28 764 169 961
Marketplace matters — requests for personal
assistance 70 2,268 456 2,794
Professionals’ actions 8 234 37 279
Legal and Court matters 23 316 58 397
Police matters 1 86 31 118
Miscellaneous 5 145 47 197
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